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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In 2023, the PRC government issued a series of measures to
encourage real estate purchase, including lowering the required down
payment and mortgage interest rates and reduction in transaction
related taxes. However, the real estate industry in China remained in
a depressed state due to poor buyer sentiment and slower economic
growth. This had led to many leading developers reporting sharp
decreases in sales volume in 2023 compared to 2022. Many of them
continued to face serious liquidity constraints. The Group's operations
were negatively affected by this continued and unprecedented
industry downturn, resulting in a 11.7% year-on-year decrease in
total sales revenue. Revenues from real estate agency services in the
primary market decreased by 62.6%. Revenues from real estate data
and consulting services decreased by 20.7%. Revenues from real
estate brokerage network services decreased by 4.2%; and revenues
from digital marketing services decreased by 1.6%.

Amid this challenging environment, the Group continued to focus
on cost reduction and cash flow, and achieved a 69.3% year-on-year
reduction in total net loss and a 60.2% year-on-year decrease in net
cash used in operating activities.

During 2023, the Company continued to work closely with its
creditors and advisors on the restructuring of its offshore debt (the
“Restructuring”). However, as a result of the circumstances separately
disclosed in the Company's Announcements dated 13 March 2024
and 28 March 2024 in relation to the Restructuring, the Company
has concluded that the Restructuring will not come into effect. As of
28 March 2024 (being the date of the annual results announcement)
Company was actively working with its financial adviser on an
alternative restructuring proposal and would provide an update to its
creditors as soon as possible and, in any event, by the end of April
2024.

Looking ahead at 2024, the Group expects China’s macroeconomic
conditions and real estate industry outlook to remain challenging.
Although the PRC government has announced a series of measures
aimed at stimulating the economy and encouraging real estate
purchases and is expected to announce more positive measures, the
timing and extent of a recovery of the real estate market sentiment
and transaction activities remain uncertain. The Group expects to
continue to face a difficult operating environment. Given this, the
Group will remain focused on cost control and cash flow to maintain
sustainable operation. With effective cost control and the eventual
successful debt restructuring, the Group believes it is well positioned
to take advantage of the market recovery when it occurs.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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Total revenue amounted to RMB4,446.4 million for the
Reporting Period.

The total gross transaction value ("GTV") of real estate agency
services was RMB26.3 billion for the Reporting Period.

The total GTV of real estate brokerage network services
amounted to RMB43.4 billion for the Reporting Period.

Loss for the year amounted to RMB1,524.8 million, and total
comprehensive expense for the year amounted to RMB1,523.5
million for the Reporting Period.

Real estate data and consulting services segment had a profit
of RMB16.9 million for the Reporting Period after adding back
depreciation and amortisation expenses and impairment losses
recognized on non-current assets.



EEEBNARED W

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WA

PR AN2022FHARYS,033.368
TTHA11.7% 22023F N ARE4,446.45
B ZRLFEHR—FERERBEE
KA B AP SR -

—FEAREBRBEENBAN2022FHAR
5865 A BTN 62.6% E2023FEMAR
219688  TERREHEMSER
AR MERGTV FEFTE

5 H BE AR 40 AR AR S BE AR IR A £ 2022 FF 1Y
ARMEN1,576.6 BB TR 4.2%E2023FH
ARB1 510488 - 2L EEERE
HE M ISR ERMERGTV N ©

B H EE BB AR RS E A IR A 2022 F
HARMES59. 8B E LA 20.7%E20234F
MARMBL4439BETT - B EZHMNA
S K B RS LA R BUR AR A5 W AR A BT B ©

HFrLHERBEENRAN2022E0ARE
2,310.4 BB TTH A 1.6% £ 2023FH AR
2225EAET  FEAREFRBERLEE
EREHUIA T ERATE ©

ETHRA

KB TRAN2022FEHAREE1,967.3
BETHALA4. 4% F2023FNARE
1,093.2 B 8T » B TRAE WA LA
2022F#939.1% M P E2023F124.6% -
FTEAREERRIZRAT -

EERERMAX

BN EEREERAXE2022F0ARK
2,374.6 BB LKA 16.3% £2023FHAR
#1986 9B - EFREERXIER
REERNEBEROHEER ERRTE
HEAS o D EEHRAR R KA TREH
B o

Revenue

Our revenue decreased by 11.7% from RMB5,033.3 million in 2022
to RMB4,446.4 million in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to
decrease of revenue derived from real estate agency services in the
primary market.

Revenue derived from real estate agency services in the primary
market decreased by 62.6% from RMB586.5 million in 2022 to
RMB219.6 million in 2023, primarily due to decline of GTV caused by
the overall downturn in the real estate market.

Revenue derived from real estate brokerage network services
decreased by 4.2% from RMB1,576.6 million in 2022 to RMB1,510.4
million in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to decline of GTV
caused by the overall downturn in the real estate market.

Revenue derived from real estate data and consulting services
decreased by 20.7% from RMB559.8 million in 2022 to RMB443.9
million in 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in
revenue from our rating and ranking services and data services.

Revenue derived from digital marketing services decreased by 1.6%
from RMB2,310.4 million in 2022 to RMB2,272.5 million in 2023
primarily due to decrease in revenues from e-commerce services and
online advertising services.

Staff costs

Our staff costs decreased by 44.4% from RMB1,967.3 million in 2022
to RMB1,093.2 million in 2023. Staff costs as a percentage of our
revenue decreased from 39.1% in 2022 to 24.6% in 2023, primarily
due to improved operational efficiency.

Advertising and promotion expenses

Our advertising and promotion expenses decreased by 16.3% from
RMB2,374.6 million in 2022 to RMB1,986.9 million in 2023. The
advertising and promotion expenses primarily consist of targeted
online and offline marketing costs for business expansion from Leju.
The decrease was primarily due to Company’s reduction of cost.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Rental expenses for short-term leases and low-value
assets leases

We recorded rental expenses for short-term leases and low-value
assets leases of RMB49.7 million in 2023, and RMB103.5 million in
2022. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease of rental area
relating to short-term leases.

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Our depreciation and amortisation expenses decreased by 46.8% from
RMB537.5 million in 2022 to RMB285.8 million in 2023, primarily
due to the decrease in amortization of intangible assets arising from
acquisition.

Loss allowance on financial assets subject to expected
credit loss (“ECL"), net of reversal

Our loss allowance on financial assets subject to ECL, net of reversal
decreased by 93.4% from RMB996.0 million in 2022 to RMB65.5
million in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in accounts receivables
and bills receivables.

Loss on derecognition of receivables at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

Loss on derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI was nil in the 2023,
and RMB38.0 thousand in 2022. The loss incurred was primarily
from the disposal of receivables at FVTOCI through certain factoring
arrangement.

Impairment losses recognised on non-current assets

We recorded impairment losses recognised on non-current assets of
RMB40.8 million in 2023, and RMB1,034.8 million in 2022. The cost
in 2023 incurred was primarily from the loss recognised on investment
properties.
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Consultancy expenses

Our consultancy expenses decreased by 56.9% from RMB462.0 million
in 2022 to RMB198.9 million in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in
project consultation in line with the decrease in our revenue.

Distribution expenses

Our distribution expenses decreased by 2.3% from RMB1,465.9
million in 2022 to RMB1,432.6 million in 2023, primarily due to
decrease in revenue derived from real estate brokerage network
services.

Other operating costs

Our other operating costs decreased by 21.3% from RMB459.0 million
in 2022 to RMB361.1 million in 2023, primarily due to company’s
reduction of cost.

Other income

Our other income decreased by 52.2% from RMB150.8 million in
2022 to RMB72.1 million in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in
bank and other interest income.

Other gains and losses

We recorded net other losses of RMB316.9 million in 2022 and net
other losses of RMB96.2 million in 2023. Our net other losses in the
year ended 31 December 2023 were primarily attributable to the
foreign exchange losses.

Other expenses

Our other expenses increase from RMB5.2 million in 2022 to
approximately RMB9.6 million in 2023, primarily attributable to the
expenses related to termination of leasing agreements in advance.
Share of result of associates

We recorded share of profits of associates of RMB2.8 million in
2022 and share of profits of associates of RMB2.0 million in 2023.

The share of profits in 2023 was primarily attributable to a company
provided boutique financial service.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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Finance costs

Our finance costs decreased by 6.1% from RMB471.8 million in 2022
to RMB443.1 million in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in the
weighted average balances of interest bearing loans.

Income tax credit

Our income tax credit decreased by 53.5% from RMB39.0 million in
2022 to RMB18.1 million in 2023, primarily due to the loss before
taxation.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year amounted to
RMB1,524.8 million in 2023, compared to loss for the year of
RMB4,968.5 million in 2022.

Total comprehensive expense for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our total comprehensive expense for the
year amounted to RMB1,523.5 million in 2023, compared to total
comprehensive expense for the year of RMB4,974.6 million in 2022.

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement our condensed consolidated financial information
which is presented in accordance with IFRS, we also use (i) operating
loss and operating loss margin and (ii) EBITDA loss as additional
measures for illustrative purposes only. We believe that these
measures provide useful information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our condensed consolidated financial
results in the same manner as our management. The calculation of
operating loss and operating loss margin and EBITDA loss are not
in accordance with IFRS and may not be directly comparable with
similarly named financial measures of other companies. The use of
these measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider them in isolation from other measures as reported in
accordance with IFRS.
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We define our operating loss as revenue net of operating costs,
which consist of staff costs, advertising and promotion expenses,
rental expenses for short-term leases and low-value assets leases,
depreciation and amortisation expenses, loss allowance on financial
assets subject to ECL, net of reversal, loss on derecognition of
financial assets measured at amortised cost (RMBO for the Reporting
Period), loss on derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI (RMBO for the
Reporting Period), consultancy expenses, distribution expenses, and
other operating costs. We define operating loss margin as operating
loss divided by revenue for the year.

Our operating loss amounted to RMB1,027.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 compared to an operating loss of
RMB3,332.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Our
operating loss margin was 23.1% for the year ended 31 December
2023, as compared to 66.2% for the year ended 31 December 2022,
primarily due to the decrease of operating loss.

We define EBITDA loss as (i) loss for the period, adjusted to add back
(i) finance costs (iii) depreciation and amortisation expenses and (iv)
income tax expense. We use EBITDA loss to emphasise operating
results and it more nearly approximates cash flows.

Our EBITDA loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB814.1 million, representing a decrease of 79.6% as compared
with RMB3,998.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we funded our cash
requirements principally from cash generated from our operations
and external borrowings. We had cash and cash equivalents of
RMB1,246.6 million and RMB638.8 million as of 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2023, respectively. We generally deposit our excess
cash in interest bearing bank accounts and current accounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, our principal uses of cash
were for the funding of required working capital and other recurring
expenses to support the expansion of our operations. Going forward,
we believe our liquidity requirements will be satisfied by using funds
from a combination of internally generated cash, external borrowings
and other funds raised from the capital markets from time to time.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
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Our capital expenditures primarily related to purchases of property,
equipment and capitalised prepayment. Leasehold improvements,
mainly including capitalised decoration and maintenance costs,
account for the majority of property and equipment purchases.

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments and Arrangements

As of 31 December 2023, we had not entered into any off-balance
sheet transactions.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is
calculated by dividing total debt (all bank and other borrowings)
by total assets as at the end of the Reporting Period was 145.8%,
representing an increase of 45.2 percentage points as compared with
100.6% as at 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily due to
the decrease of total assets.

Significant Investments Held

As at 31 December 2023, we did not hold any significant investments
in the equity interests of any other companies (including any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets as at 31 December 2023).
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Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

As of 31 December 2023, we did not have plans for material
investments and capital assets.

Material Acquisitions and/or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, consolidated affiliated entities,
associated companies or joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

Employee and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2023, we had 3,158 full-time employees, most
of whom were based in China. Our employees are based in our
headquarters in Shanghai and various other cities in China according
to our business strategies.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate
qualified personnel. As part of our retention strategy, we offer
employees performance-based cash bonuses and other incentives in
addition to base salaries. The total remuneration expenses, including
share-based compensation expense, for the year ended 31 December
2023 were RMB1,093.2 million, as compared with RMB1,967.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 44.4%.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our functional currency is Renminbi, but certain of our cash and cash
equivalent, USD-denominated senior notes and conditional investment
fund received are denominated in foreign currency and are exposed
to foreign currency risk. We currently do not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. We will continue to monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will take actions when necessary.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank borrowings of RMB779.8
million were secured by the Wanju Property (carrying amount of
RMB504.0 million), the Tangchao Grand Hotel (carrying amount of
RMB490.8 million) and 2 units in the Hangzhou PinglLan business
center (carrying amount of RMB16.4 million).

For further details of the Wanju Property and the Tangchao Grand
Hotel, please refer to the sections headed “Discloseable Transaction —
Acquisition of Shanghai Wanju” and “Discloseable Transaction —
Acquisition of Shanghai Juanpeng”, respectively, in the announcement
of the Company dated 22 March 2020.

Contingent Liabilities

As of 31 December 2023, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2022: nil).
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Name Age Position Date of appointment as Director
2lipidad 56 HITEE IFFRERATE 20102 A22H
Mr. Zhou Xin Executive Director, Chairman and chief 22 February 2010
executive officer
BRELE 66 HITEZRETE 201711 R9H
Mr. Huang Canhao Executive Director and Vice Chairman 9 November 2017
RAREL 59 HWITEEREFRVBE 201843 A 16H
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan Executive Director and chief financial officer 16 March 2018
THERBL 50  WITEF 201843 A 16H
Dr. Ding Zuyu Executive Director 16 March 2018
Bmat 40 FRTEF 202247 A5H
Ms. Jiang Shanshan Non-executive Director 5 July 2022
SEBL 51 FHMITESR 2022647818
Dr. Yang Yong Non-executive Director 1 April 2022
RRESFE 52 JEHTTE= 2023%3A31H
Mr. Song Jiajun Non-executive Director 31 March 2023
BRRFEE 41 FHMITESR 202349 A4H
Mr. Chen Daiping Non-executive Director 4 September 2023
REEKLE 55  BUFNTES 20184 7H10H
Mr. Zhang Bang Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018
AHEBEE 64  BUFMITES 20184 7H10H
Mr. Zhu Hongchao Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018
IHEEE 70 BUFMITES 20184 7H10H
Mr. Wang Liqun Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018
FHRE 57 BUFNTES 2018 7H10H
Mr. Li Jin Independent non-executive Director 10 July 2018
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Xin (F17), aged 56, is a founder of E-House’s business,
an executive Director, chairman of the Nomination Committee, and
chairman of the Group. He is primarily responsible for formulating
the overall development strategies and business plans of the Group.
Mr. Zhou received his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical design and
manufacturing from the Shanghai University (_E/&AX2) in 1990.

Mr. Zhou has over 25 years of experience in China’s real estate
industry. He served as deputy general manager of Shanghai Jinfeng
Investments Co., Ltd. (E/8&ZI&ERMHER AT, a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600606. He has
held many roles in E-House (China) Holdings, formerly listed on the
NYSE with stock code EJ, including as its chairman since 2005 and
chief executive officer from 2003 to 2009 and again since 2012. Mr.
Zhou has served in various Group companies, including (i) as director
of E-House Enterprise (China) Group Co., Ltd. since July 2006 and (ii)
as executive chairman and director of Leju, since its inception and its
listing in April 2014, respectively. He was also the co-chairman and
chief executive officer of CRE Corp, between 2003 and 2012, during
the time it was listed on NASDAQ until it was privatised by E-House
(China) Holdings.
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Mr. Zhou currently serves as vice-chairman of China Real Estate
Association, director of The Nature Conservancy China, vice-chairman
of China Real Estate Developers and Investors Associations, and
chairman of Real Estate Service Committee of China Real Estate
Association. He is also chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Broker
Industry Association, and rotating chairman of Shanghai Entrepreneur
Association.

Mr. Zhou is also a director of certain of our substantial Shareholders
and their subsidiaries and associates, as detailed in the section headed
“Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Huang Canhao (E&%), aged 66, is an executive Director and
vice chairman of our Group. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
the management and strategic development of our Group. Mr. Huang
received his diploma in economics management from the International
Business School of Shanghai University in 1998.

In 2000, he joined our business, serving at E-House Management
from 2000 to 2007 as vice president and serving at E-House (China)
Holdings from 2007 to 2009 as head of operations. He has also held
various roles in PRC Holdco, including vice president of the real estate
agency services business division in the primary market from 2009 to
2015, and a director and vice chairman since 2016.

Mr. Huang has been a director of Leju since its listing in April 2014.
Mr. Huang was a director of our substantial Shareholder, CRE Corp,
from its listing in October 2009 to May 2012 when it was delisted.
Additionally, Mr. Huang was previously a director of E-House (China)
Holdings, a company listed on NYSE with stock code EJ, from its
listing in August 2007 to August 2016 when it was delisted.

Mr. Huang was re-appointed as a director of E-House (China) Holdings
Limited with effect from March 2017.
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Dr. Cheng Li-Lan (37 #), aged 59, is currently an executive director
of the Company. In addition, he has been acting as chief financial
officer of the Company since 19 February 2023, acting chief financial
officer of Leju from 2017 to 2023, and was its executive director from
2014 to 2017. Dr. Cheng served as the chief operating officer of
E-House (China) Holdings Limited (formerly NYSE: EJ), an affiliate of
the Company, from 2012 to 2018 and its chief financial officer from
2006 to 2012.

Prior to joining E-House, Dr. Cheng served as the chief financial officer
of SouFun Holdings Limited, an online real estate service company in
China, from 2005 to 2006. From 2002 to 2004, Dr. Cheng served as
an executive director and the chief financial officer of SOHO China
Limited, a real estate developer in Beijing. Dr. Cheng was an assistant
director and the head of the Asian transportation sector investment
banking group of ABN AMRO Asia from 1997 to 2002. From 1995
to 1997, Dr. Cheng was a senior analyst at the National Economic
Research Associates, Inc., an economic and financial consulting firm
in New York. From 1989 to 1991, he was an investment trainee and
analyst at the Prudential Investment Corporation, the institutional
investment subsidiary of the Prudential Insurance Company of America
based in Newark, NJ.

Dr. Cheng is an independent director and audit committee chairman
of Yunji Inc. (NASDAQ: YJ), a Nasdag-listed social e-commerce
platform in China. He also served as an independent director and on
the audit committee of 51job, Inc. (formerly NASDAQ: JOBS), LAIX Inc.
(formerly NYSE: LAIX), Country Style Cooking Restaurant Chain Co.,
Ltd. (formerly NYSE: CCSC), and Le GAGA Holdings Limited (formerly
NASDAQ: GAGA).

Dr. Cheng received a bachelor’s degree in Economics from
Swarthmore College and a Ph.D. degree in Economics from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Dr. Cheng is a chartered
financial analyst (CFA).
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Dr. Ding Zuyu (T #£), aged 50, is an executive Director. Dr. Ding
is primarily responsible for overseeing the management and strategic
development of our Group. He received his bachelor’s degree in
real estate business management in July 1998 and his doctorate in
economics in December 2013, both from East China Normal University

(EREHBALR).

Between September 2000 and November 2001, he served as
manager of the research and development department of E-House
Management, after which he served as vice president and technology
director of E-House Management until January 2008. He also served
as co-president of CRE Corp from September 2009 to September
2011 and as director from March 2011 to April 2012. Dr. Ding was
the co-president of E-House (China) Holdings from April 2012 to
August 2016. He has been the president of real estate data and
consulting services division of PRC Holdco since July 2006 and chief
executive officer of PRC Holdco since August 2016.

He serves as a vice principal of the E-House Research and Training
Institute (BEMZEFL). He is also an executive member of the China
Real Estate Association (FBIFEHEZFE) and served as an adviser
on the real estate market for the China’s Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development (BXRFEMMAMEBRIFEHE). He was
named as “Shanghai Outstanding Young Merchant” (E&#HH
&) in 2012 and was named one of the “Top Ten Shanghai Young
Economics Figures” (B8 +ARERTELBEAY) for 2011 to 2012.
Dr. Ding currently also serves as the general manager Beijing CREA

Technology Services Ltd. (At R EHBHHEMARE B R A F]).

Dr. Ding was an independent director of Sanxiang Impression Co.,
Ltd (ZMENEBRMDABERAR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange with stock code 00863 from January 2012 until his
resignation in January 2018. Dr. Ding has also been an independent
non-executive director of Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code
1238, since December 2014. Dr. Ding was also an independent
director of Shanghai Chengtou Holdings Co., Ltd. (/&A%
AR AT, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with
stock code 600649, from July 2011 to March 2017.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Jiang Shanshan (¥ Ht#t), aged 40, is a non-executive Director.
Ms. Jiang currently serves as investment director at Alibaba Group
Holding Ltd. From 2016 to 2018, Ms. Jiang was an investment
director at Permira Advisers (China) Limited. Between 2010 and 2015,
Ms. Jiang served as vice president at Unitas Capital. She was a senior
associate of strategic consulting at PricewaterhouseCoopers from
2008 to 2010. Ms. Jiang received a master's degree in operational
research and control sciences from Fudan University in 2008.

Dr. Yang Yong (#E), aged 51, is a non-executive Director. Dr. Yang
holds the professional title of senior economist. Dr. Yang graduated
with a bachelor's degree in economics from Guanghua School of
Management of Peking University (1t R AENEEEET) in 1995.
He received a DBA Doctorate of Business Administration degree from
NEOMA Business School in 2023. Since 1995, Dr. Yang has served in
several senior positions at Shanghai Star (Group) Co., Ltd. (-/§#F 2
(BB AR, including as a general manager in the investment
management department and a deputy chief economist. Between
2014 and 2019, Dr. Yang served as a general manager in the strategic
investment department of the Shanghai Land (Group) Co., Ltd.. He
was a general manager of Shen Shou Run Investment Management
Co., Ltd. from 2019 to 2021. Since 2021, Dr. Yang has served as
a general manager in the investment and development facilitation
centre of China Vanke Co., Ltd. (BRI{PERNDBR AR LEREKE
MBERBER D).

Mr. Song Jiajun (RZK), aged 52, is a non-executive Director.
Mr. Song currently serves as a deputy general manager of Shenzhen
Overseas Chinese Town Capital Investment Management Company
Limited (RYIEBHREAREEEEFRAF) ("Shenzhen OCT"),
a deputy general manager of Hong Kong Overseas Chinese Town
Company Limited (BBZEGHABMRAF]) and a director of several
subsidiaries of the OCT group. Mr. Song joined Shenzhen OCT in
2017. Previously, he had worked in investment banking and merger
and acquisitions at CITIC Securities Company Limited (FR{Z3E515D
BRRAF]), and served as a senior executive at Languang Investment
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (BE}IEEIEREE). Mr. Song received
his bachelor's degree in Arts and bachelor's degree in Laws, both
from Wuhan University (F/ZAX£) in 1995. Since 31 March 2023,
Mr. Song has been a non-executive director of Yuzhou Group
Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(HKEX:1628).

Mr. Chen Daiping (BR1XF), aged 41, is a non-executive Director.
Mr. Chen currently serves as a manager of finance of a Hong Kong
subsidiary of China Evergrande Group. Mr. Chen joined China
Evergrande Group in July 2008 and has more than 15 years of
working experience in financial management positions. Mr. Chen
received his bachelor’'s degree in Management from Nankai University
(FIFIAZ) in June 2008.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Bang (5R%§), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee
with effect from 10 July 2018. He is our Director with appropriate
professional accounting or related financial management experience
for the purpose of Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules through his
experiences described below. Additionally, Mr. Zhang is both a
fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and
a chartered global management accountant of the Association of
International Certified Professional Accountants.

Mr. Zhang received his master’s degree in business administration in
June 2001 from Jinan University in China.

Mr. Zhang is currently the chief corporate officer of Octave (Shanghai)
Enterprise Management Company Limited (B S2(L8)EEER
R 7)), having held that position since April 2018. Previously, Mr.
Zhang served as the chief financial officer of DG Group (Z&EEZ%
%£@) and Golden Jaguar Group (£#8HEEE). He was also the
chief financial officer of MecoxLane Co. Ltd. (ZZ M EE), a company
previously listed on the NASDAQ with stock code MCOX, from July
2009 to December 2013. Between April 1994 and June 2009, Mr.
Zhang was the chief financial officer of McDonald’s (China) Company
Limited (X E S (FBE)BERAT]).

Currently, Mr. Zhang holds directorships in the following listed
companies:

o independent non-executive director of Arrail Group Limited, a

company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 6639
since November 2021.
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Mr. Zhu Hongchao (%k#i#8), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the remuneration
committee, and a member of the nomination committee with effect
from 10 July 2018. Mr. Zhu received his bachelor’'s degree in law
from Fudan University (fE B KX2) in 1983 and his master’s degree in
foreign legal studies from Fudan University (8 B AE) in July 1996.
In 1993, he obtained a Qualification Certificate for the Securities Law
Consulting Business (FEIEHEEERZESGNERFEAEEBER)
by the CSRC.

Mr. Zhu serves as the head of office and senior partner at Shanghai
United Law Firm, having held that position since 1986. He has
previously served as the vice president and chief supervisor of the
Shanghai Lawyers Association. Mr. Zhu also served as the vice
president of the All-China Lawyers’ Association, and between 2008
and 2018 Mr. Zhu served as a representative member of the 13th
and 14th Shanghai Municipal People’s Congress. Mr. Zhu is also
an arbitrator at both the Shanghai Arbitration Commission and the
Shanghai International Arbitration Centre since September 2008 and
May 2015, respectively, and is an accredited mediator of the Shanghai
Commercial Mediation Centre. He has been a part-time professor at
the Lawyer Academy of East China University of Political Science and
Law since September 2012, and part-time supervisor of postgraduates
at Shanghai International Studies University since October 2015.

Currently, Mr. Zhu holds directorships in the following listed
companies:

o independent director of Leju since March 2017,

o independent director of Shanghai Research Institute of Building
Sciences Group Co., Ltd. ( E)BERHEE D AR A F]) (Shanghai
Stock Exchange stock code: 603153) since November 2020;

e independent director of Shanghai Bailian Group Co., Ltd. (_E/#&
BB EERD AR AT (Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code:
600827) since June 2021;

. independent director of Bright Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (¥R
EiEEERMD AR AR (Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code:
600708) since August 2021; and
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Mr. Zhu was also an independent non-executive director of E-House
Holdings Limited from 2007 to 2017, an independent non-executive
director of PRC Holdco since 2017.

Mr. Wang Liqun (EH#), aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee,
with effect from 10 July 2018. He received his diploma in economic
management from the University of Shanghai Urban Construction
College in July 1987, and received his bachelor’s degree in economics
in December 1993 from Correspondence Institute of the Party School
of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (#F B &
EhAL ESERKKER). Mr. Wang obtained the senior economist
certificate issued by the Working Group for the National Reform of
the Professional Ranking System of Shanghai (/8 EBfEMNE T {E%E
#/\#H) in December 1992.

Mr. Wang is the chairman and founder of Stone Capital Co., Ltd., a
private equity fund management company based in China, which he
founded in September 2008. Prior to that, he was the chief executive
officer of Shanghai Bus Corporation from 1992 to 2007, president
of the Shanghai Urban Construction and Investment Corporation
from 1999 to 2001, chairman of the Shanghai Public Transportation
Card Corporation from 1999 to 2004 and chairman of the Shanghai
Modern Rail Transit Corporation from 2000 to 2007.

Mr. Li Jin (Z%0), aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the audit committee with effect
from 10 July 2018. Mr. Li received his juris doctor degree in law from
Columbia University in May 1994.

Mr. Li served as the chief financial officer of Inke Limited from March
2018 until February 2019. He also served as the chief financial officer
of Baby Space Corporation from December 2015 to December 2016,
chief financial officer of Sungy Mobile from July 2013 to August 2014
and executive director of China Linong International Limited from
2006 to 2013.

Mr. Li is an independent director of Leju since April 2014. He is
also an independent non-executive director of Kingbo Strike Ltd., a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1421, since
June 2017. He also served as a director of Le GAGA Holdings Ltd., an
agricultural products producer company formerly listed on NASDAQ
with stock code GAGA, from 2006 until it was delisted in 2014.
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SREEE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

AEBSHEEEBAIENTAL The senior management team of our Group comprises the following
persons:

HE Fie BB RESREERKH BB

Date of appointment as

Name Age Position senior manager

BT kL 56 HBEEHTE 20244 A28

Mr. Zhou Xin Chief executive officer 2 April 2024

RIREL 59 BEEMBE 2023%F2R19H

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan Chief financial officer 19 February 2023

WKL 45 MEEIRE 2023%F2R19H

Mr. Xie Jun Deputy chief financial officer 19 February 2023

REAE 51 —FRERERBERER 20183 H16H

Mr. Zong Lei President of the real estate agency service in 16 March 2018

the primary market

sREL L 50 FEHbEBIER M ARG EBER 201843 H16H
Ms. Zhang Yan President of real estate data and consulting 16 March 2018

services division
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Mr. Zhou Xin (F17) is our chief executive officer. Please see his
biography in the part headed “Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan (f23Z3&) is our chief financial officer. Please see his
biography in the part headed “Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.
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Mr. Xie Jun (#18%), aged 45, is a member of the China Democratic
National Construction Association. He graduated from the
University of Hertfordshire, UK, with a master's degree in business
administration. He has been the chief executive officer of CRIC
Securities Company Limited since January 2019. In addition, Mr. Xie
has been the chairman of Leading Securities Company Limited of
Japan since June 2019, and has been the chairman of Snow Park
Resort Japan Company Limited since June 2021. Since September
2022, Mr. Xie has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of Zhenro Properties Group Limited (stock
code: 6158). Mr. Xie had held senior management positions in
Western Securities, BNP Paribas and Credit Suisse AG.

Mr. Zong Lei (’R#), aged 51, was appointed as the president of the
real estate agency service in the primary market of the Group on 27
March 2019 and is responsible for overseeing the Group's real estate
agency services in the primary market. Mr. Zong received an executive
master's degree in business administration from the University of
Toronto in May 2007.

Since joining our business in September 2000, Mr. Zong has served in
numerous positions in our Group including as:

o planning manager of E-House Management from September
2000 to February 2003;

o planning and project director of E-House Management from
February 2003 to January 2007;

o general manager of E-House Management (Shanghai Branch)
from January 2007 to February 2010;

o vice president and general manager of E-House Management
(Wuhan and Changsha Branch) from February 2010 to December
2013;

o vice president and general manager of E-House Management
(Hubei Branch) from January 2014 to December 2014,

o chief executive officer of E-House Management from January
2015 to July 2016; and

o chief operating officer of PRC Holdco from August 2016 to 27
March 2019.
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Ms. Zhang Yan (3&#), aged 50, is the president of the real estate
data and consulting services division and is responsible for overseeing
real estate data and consulting services division of the Group. She
received her master’s degree in law majoring in scientific socialism (%}
B @ FFE) from the Sichuan Academy of Social Sciences (P9I %t
ERIEFR) in July 1999 and her executive master's degree in business
administration from China Europe International Business School (F X
EEBT) in August 2017.

Ms. Zhang has over 17 years of experience in the real estate industry,
beginning in September 1999 as senior real estate editor for Shenzhen
Special Zone Newspaper RIIFFR M) FEEERFE), a position
she remained in until September 2001. From May 2001 to January
2005, she was executive deputy editor of the Pioneer Weekly (4t§5e
BT at Chengdu Economic Daily €Ak &Bg4R)).

She joined our business in February 2006, she served as director of
the promotion centre from February 2006 to December 2010, with
responsibility for the integration and promotion of our operations
and brand. She also served as the general manager, vice president
and president of our Northern-China division for real estate data and
consulting services business from 2008 to 2016. Ms. Zhang has been
an executive president of PRC Holdco since August 2016, primarily
responsible for the real estate data and consulting services business.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit (#72#t) was appointed on 12 June 2018.
Mr. Cheng is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services provider
specialising in corporate services, and has over 11 years of experience
in corporate secretarial field. He is an associate member of both
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. In addition, he holds
a bachelor of commerce degree in finance from the University of
Queensland, Australia and a master of laws degree in Chinese law
from the University of Hong Kong.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of the Directors are set out below:

1. Ms. Xie Mei resigned as a non-executive Director effective from
31 March 2023.

2. Mr. Song Jiajun was appointed as a non-executive Director
effective from 31 March 2023.

3. Mr. Lv Peimei resigned as a non-executive Director effective from
5 May 2023.

4. Mr. Chen Daiping was appointed as a non-executive Director
effective from 4 September 2023.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, there has been
no change to the information of the Directors which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board of the Company is pleased to present this Report of the
Directors’ with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 February
2010 as an exempted limited liability company under the Companies
Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies
Law"”). The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 20 July 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal business of the Company’s subsidiaries is providing real
estate transaction services in China, including real estate agency
services in the primary market, real estate brokerage network services
and real estate data and consulting services.

The analysis of the Group's revenues and contribution to results by
business segments and the Group’s revenues by geographical area
of operations are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance,
an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
and the Group's key relationships with its stakeholders who have
a significant impact on the Group and on which the Group's
success depends, is set out in the Business Review and Outlook and
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 14 of this annual
report. All the review, discussions and analysis mentioned above
form part of this Directors’ report. Events affecting the Company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year is set out under
“Important Events after Reporting Period” in this Directors’ report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant
laws and regulations and relationships with employees are also
discussed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 154 to page 155 of this annual
report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and financial positions of the
Group is set out on page 156 to page 157 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Customers

Our customers are mainly real estate developers in China, from whom
we have historically derived a significant majority of our revenue.
Our customers also include banks, investors and government that
use our real estate data and consulting services, as well as real estate
brokerage firms and their customers that use our services provided at
the E-House Real Estate Transaction Service Centres.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we generated revenue
of RMB744.8 million (2022: RMB454.9 million) from our single
largest customer, Vanke (2022: Country Garden Holdings Company
Limited), representing 16.8% (2022: 9.0%) of our total revenue
during the Reporting Period. During the same period, we generated
revenue of RMB261.5 million, RMB261.3 million, RMB195.4 million
and RMB166.9 million, respectively, from our second to fifth largest
customers, representing 5.9%, 5.9%, 4.4% and 3.8% of our total
revenue. All of our top five customers during the year ended 31
December 2023 are real estate developers in China.
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Some of our major customers are our Shareholders. Other than
Vanke, which is our Shareholder holding approximately 9.82% of our
Shares, none of our Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholder who, to the knowledge of our Directors, own more than
5% of our issued capital, had any interest in any of our five largest
customers during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2023 our largest suppliers were
labour dispatch agencies as some of our PRC subsidiaries historically
used a significant number of dispatched employees for their principal
business activities.

Apart from labour dispatch agencies, our suppliers also include,
among others, office space providers, renovation service providers,
advertising companies, as well as real estate brokerage firms that
assist us in the selling of real estate units in the primary market.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the purchases we made
from the single largest supplier was RMB159.8 million (2022:
RMB259.8 million), representing 3.14% (2022: 3.71%) of our total
purchases in each corresponding period. During the same period, the
purchases we made from the second to fifth largest suppliers was
RMB97.9 million, RMB22.3 million, RMB17.2 million and RMB15.8
million, representing 1.92%, 0.44%, 0.34% and 0.31% of our total
purchases. During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of our
suppliers was also our major customer.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares or had any interest in
the Group's five largest suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to maintaining a good relationship with
stakeholders that have a significant impact on the Company and on
which the Company’s success depends. Further details are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environment and
giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth. Details
of such are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of
the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our business involves certain risks as set out in the section headed
"Risk Factors” in the Prospectus and the risk factors as set out under
the section headed “Leju Contractual Arrangements” in this Report of
the Directors. The following list is a summary of certain principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are beyond its
control.

o Our business is susceptible to fluctuations in the real estate
market of China, which may materially and adversely affect our
revenues and results of operations.

o Our business may be materially and adversely affected by
government measures aimed at China’s real estate industry.

o We generate a substantial portion of revenue from a
concentrated number of real estate developers.

o Our real estate brokerage network services have a limited
operating history and are provided under a new business model.

o If we cannot manage our growth effectively and efficiently, our
results of operations or profitability could be adversely affected.

o We may lose our competitive advantage if we fail to obtain and
maintain accurate, comprehensive and reliable data in our CRIC
Systems or prevent disruptions or failure in the performance of
our CRIC Systems.
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We have significant balances of trade receivables and customer
deposits, which increase our credit risks and could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations.

Certain of our subsidiaries are held through Contractual
Arrangements, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership and has other legal and operational risks.

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our advertising services business
and real estate online business in China do not comply with
PRC governmental restrictions on foreign investment in the
advertising industry or the internet information service industry,
we could be subject to severe penalties.

We rely on contractual arrangements with Beijing Leju, Leju Hao
Fang and Beijing lJiajujiu and their respective shareholders for
a portion of our operations, which may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing operational control.

The shareholders of our consolidated variable interest entities
may have potential conflicts of interest with us, and if any such
conflicts of interest are not resolved in our favor, our business
may be materially and adversely affected.

Our ability to enforce the equity pledge agreements between us
and the shareholders of Beijing Leju, Leju Hao Fang or Beijing
Jiajujiu may be subject to limitations based on PRC laws and
regulations.

Contractual arrangements we have entered into with Beijing
Leju, Leju Hao Fang and Beijing Jiajujiu may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and a finding that we, Beijing
Leju, Leju Hao Fang or Beijing Jiajujiu owe additional taxes could
reduce our net income and the value of your investment.

Substantial uncertainties exist with the PRC foreign investment
legal regime and may have a significant impact on our corporate
structure and business operations.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Use of Proceeds from Subscription

On 31 July 2020, the Company entered into the share
subscription agreement with Taobao China Holding Limited
("Taobao China”), pursuant to which Taobao China
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total of 118,300,000
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$7.00
per subscription share for a total subscription amount of
HK$828,100,000.

The gross proceeds from the subscription amount to
HK$828,100,000. During the Reporting Period, the Group
had used the remaining HK$51,100,000 for general corporate
purposes and as at 31 December 2023, the gross proceeds from
the subscription had been fully utilized.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 July 2020.

Use of Proceeds from Issuance of Convertible Note

On 31 July 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited (the “Alibaba
Noteholder”), pursuant to which the Alibaba Noteholder
conditionally agreed to subscribe for the convertible note in the
principal amount of HK$1,031,900,000.

The gross proceeds from the note issuance amounted to
HK$1,031,900,000. As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had used HK$1,005,600,000 for general corporate purposes.
During the Reporting Period, the Group had used the remaining
HK$26,300,000 for general corporate purposes and as at 31
December 2023, the gross proceeds from the subscription had
been fully utilized.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 July 2020.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Company was not involved in any
material litigation or arbitration. Nor were the Directors of the
Company aware of any material litigation or claims that were pending
or threatened against the Company.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to nil (2022: Nil).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 158 to 159 and
in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made charitable
donations of nil (2022: RMB100,000.00).

DEBENTURE ISSUED DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting Period.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Updates on the Restructuring and Events after the Reporting
Period” in this Report of the Directors, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31
December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The list of Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Xin (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Canhao

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan

Dr. Ding Zuyu

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Jiang Shanshan

Dr. Yang Yong

Ms. Xie Mei (resigned on 31 March 2023) ("

Mr. Song Jiajun (appointed on 31 March 2023)

Mr. Lv Peimei (resigned on 5 May 2023)

Mr. Chen Daiping (appointed on 4 September 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Bang
Mr. Zhu Hongchao
Mr. Wang Liqun
Mr. Li Jin

Notes:
(1) Ms. Xie Mei resigned as a non-executive Director due to retirement.

(2)  Mr. Lv Peimei resigned as a non-executive Director due to health and
family reasons.
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In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association, at
every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Direction shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he
retires and shall be eligible for re-election there at.

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company are set out in the circular to
the Shareholders dispatched on the same date as this annual report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
each of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their
duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force during the
Reporting Period. The Company has taken out liability insurance to
provide appropriate coverage for the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a period of three years, subject to renewal
after the expiry of the then current term.

Each of the non-executive Directions has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a period of three years, subject to
renewal after the expiry of the then current term.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a period of three years, subject
to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
members of the Group that is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions”
of this Report of the Directors, none of the Directors nor any entity
connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at
the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance or
contract of significance for the provision of services has been entered
into among the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their
spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate,
or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
BUSINESS

IN COMPETING

Save and except for the interests of our Controlling Shareholders in
our Company and its subsidiaries, during the year ended 31 December
2023, neither our Controlling Shareholders nor any of our Directors
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of our Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
our business, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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BRERED EREAA 9,600,000(L) 0.549%
Mr. Huang Canhao® Beneficial owner
THERES® EREAA 9,600,000(L) 0.549%
Mr. Ding Zuyu® Beneficial owner
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The calculation is based on the total number of 1,749,059,530 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023.

413,073,499 Shares are held as to 228,920,000 Shares by CRE Corp,
146,918,440 Shares by E-House (China) Holdings, 20,000,000 Shares
by On Chance and 2,775,059 Shares by Regal Ace, respectively, and
including 14,460,000 Shares to be issued upon exercise of options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. CRE Corp is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of E-House (China) Holdings, itself a wholly-owned
subsidiary of E-House Holdings. E-House Holdings is held as to 33.13%
by On Chance, 14.65% by Jun Heng, and 52.22% by Mr. Zhou. Jun
Heng is wholly-owned by On Chance, which is in turn wholly-owned by
Mr. Zhou. Regal Ace is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou. In addition, Mr. Zhou
irrevocably undertook to procure the subscriptions for 478,336,198
rights Shares and, as the underwriter, agreed to underwrite up to
1,620,535,237 rights Shares pursuant to the Rights Issue announced
by the Company on 19 June 2023. The approximate percentage of
holding is calculated by reference to the enlarged number of Shares
after the rights issue (3,847,930,966 Shares). Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 June 2023 for further details.
Since the end of the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhou exercised his right to
terminate the underwriting agreement entered into between him and
the Company in relation to the aforementioned Rights Issue and his
undertaking to procure subscriptions for 478,336,198 rights Shares and
his agreement to underwrite up to 1,620,535,237 rights Shares have
lapsed accordingly. Please refer to the section headed “Updates on the
Restructuring and Events after the Reporting Period” of this report, the
disclosure of interests notice submitted by Mr. Zhou on 29 February
2024 and the announcement of the Company dated 1 March 2024 for
further details.

These Shares represent the Shares to be issued upon exercise of options
granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in the Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company has any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model
Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the persons other than the Directors and
chief executives, whose interests have been disclosed in this annual
report, had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as
follows:

(i) Interest in our Company

B/ EEkE BHE#E FREBHAFIHLO

Approximate

Number percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares holding™
FEEEEREE? ERFERA 228,920,000(L) 13.088%
CRE Corp® Beneficial owner
ZE (PE)ER? XEHEERE  BalEE A 375,838,440(L) 21.488%
E-House (China) Holdings® Interest of controlled

corporations/Beneficial owner

PEERS RGN EE S 375,838,440(L) 21.488%
E-House Holdings® Interest of controlled corporations
ff 2 B E AR @ RGN EEES 245,096,197(L) 14.013%
Alibaba Holding® Interest of controlled corporations
BERREZERERAR ERBEBA 145,588,000(L) 8.324%
Taobao China Holding Limited® Beneficial owner
Taobao Holding Limited® SEESEBEDS 145,588,000(L) 8.324%

Taobao Holding Limited®

SE(TE)C¥ERERAT —E-EERS

Interest of controlled corporations
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Approximate

Number percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares holding™
FECERERRARY ERBEBA 99,508,197(L) 5.689%
Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited®“ Beneficial owner
Alibaba Investment Holding Limited® XA E R 99,508,197(L) 5.689%
Alibaba Investment Holding Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
FECESBARARY REthERER 99,508,197(L) 5.689%
Alibaba.com Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
EEBRERLQAY ERBEBA 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Jovial Idea Developments Limited® Beneficial owner
RERKBRAFO REHEEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Central Sino Global Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
REZRERAFS REthERER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Tianji Holding Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
BAMEEBERRAR REthEBER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Hengda Real Estate Group Company Limited  Interest of controlled corporations
BMNMEEERARAR REHEEE R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Guangzhou Kailong Real Estate Company Interest of controlled corporations

Limited

BNTHBEEXARAR REHEEE R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited Interest of controlled corporations
LZEBVIFRAT REtERER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Anji (BVI) Limited Interest of controlled corporations
(EPNZ REtEBER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Evergrande® Interest of controlled corporations
Xin Xin (BVI) Limited® REthEBER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%

Xin Xin (BVI) Limited®

Interest of controlled corporations
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Approximate

Number percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares holding™
ARENEES REthERER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Mr. Hui Ka Yan® Interest of controlled corporations
Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited® XA E R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
Climax Fame (BVI) Limited® REthERER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Climax Fame (BVI) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
BHlem (F8)BRARO REHEEE R 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Vanke Finance (Hong Kong) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
BHEX (FB)BRARO REHEEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Vanke Property (Hong Kong) Limited® Interest of controlled corporations
FEENMERARAR REthEEER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Shanghai Vanke Real Estate Company Limited Interest of controlled corporations
FEERMREERERAA REthERER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Shanghai Vanke Investment and Management Interest of controlled corporations

Company Limited

BRe REthERER 171,690,000(L) 9.816%
Vanke® Interest of controlled corporations
Bifat - Notes:
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(1

2)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,749,059,530
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

CRE Corp is a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-House (China)
Holdings, itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-House Holdings.
E-House Holdings is held as to 33.13% by On Chance, 14.65% by
Jun Heng, and 52.22% by Mr. Zhou. Jun Heng is wholly-owned by
On Chance which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou.

375,838,440 Shares are held as to 228,920,000 Shares by CRE
Corp and 146,918,440 Shares by E-House (China) Holdings. CRE
Corp is a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-House (China) Holdings,
itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-House Holdings. E-House
Holdings is held as to 33.13% by On Chance, 14.65% by Jun
Heng, and 52.22% by Mr. Zhou. Jun Heng is wholly-owned by On
Chance which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou.
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145,588,000 Shares are held by Taobao China Holding Limited
and 99,508,197 underlying Shares pursuant to the Convertible
Notes are held by Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited. Taobao China
Holding Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Taobao Holding
Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alibaba Holding.
Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited is wholly-owned by Alibaba.com
Investment Holding Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Alibaba.com Limited. Alibaba.com Limited is 80.02% held by
Alibaba Holding.

Jovial Idea Developments Limited is wholly-owned by Central
Sino Global Limited (FEEIRIRERAF]), which is in turn wholly-
owned by Tianji Holding Limited (REZERBRAF]). Tianji
Holding Limited is wholly-owned by Hengda Real Estate Group
Company Limited (ERMESEABRAF), which is owned as
to 63.46% by Guangzhou Kailong Real Estate Company Limited
(EMWEEEEABMRAF]), which is in turn wholly-owned by
Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited (B/MNHiBLE %A
[R A 7]). Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited is wholly-
owned by Anji (BVI) Limited (%% BVI B[R 2 7)), which is wholly-
owned by Evergrande. Evergrande is held as to 70.30% by Xin Xin
(BVI) Limited, itself is wholly-owned by Mr. Hui Ka Yan. Hence,
Central Sino Global Limited, Tianji Holding Limited, Hengda Real
Estate Group Company Limited, Guangzhou Kailong Real Estate
Company Limited, Guangzhou Chaofeng Land Company Limited,
Anji (BVI) Limited, Evergrande, Xin Xin (BVI) Limited and Mr. Hui
Ka Yan are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jovial
Idea Developments Limited.

Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited is wholly-owned by Climax Fame
(BVI) Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Vanke Finance
(Hong Kong) Limited. Vanke Finance (Hong Kong) Limited is
wholly-owned by Vanke Property (Hong Kong) Company Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Shanghai Vanke Enterprise
Company Limited (L&EERHPEBRAF). Shanghai Vanke
Enterprise Company Limited is wholly-owned by Shanghai Vanke
Investment and Management Company Limited (E/&&RHIEE
B AFPRAA]), which is in turn wholly-owned by Vanke. Hence,
Climax Fame (BVI) Limited, Vanke Finance (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, Vanke Property (Hong Kong) Company Limited, Shanghai
Vanke Enterprise Company Limited, Shanghai Vanke Investment
and Management Company Limited and Vanke are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Captain Valley (Cayman) Limited.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position (as defined
under Part XV of the SFO) in the Shares.
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Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2023, no person, other
than the Directors and chief executives whose interests are set out in
this annual report, had any interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with the CG Code, the Company has established the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) to formulate remuneration policies. The remuneration
is determined and recommended based on each Director’s and senior
management personnel’s qualification, position and seniority. As
for the independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration
is determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. The Directors and the senior management
personnel are eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, details of which are set out in
the Prospectus and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and
the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 13A and note 13B,
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has two existing share schemes, namely the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
The Company has complied, and will continue to comply, with the
Chapter 17 (which became effective on 1 January 2023) to the extent
required by the transitional arrangements for existing share schemes.
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As there were no grants under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period, 0
new Shares, representing approximately 0% of the weighted average
number of Shares for the Reporting Period, may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted during the Reporting Period to eligible
participants pursuant to all of the share schemes. The details of each
share scheme are set out below and further details are set out note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

1. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
Purpose

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
selected participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in our Company and to encourage the selected
participants to work towards enhancing the value of our
Company and our Shares for the benefit of our Company and
our Shareholders as a whole. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
will provide our Company with a flexible means of retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to the selected participants.

Eligible Participants

Any individual, being an employee, Director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor,
contractor, customer, supplier, agent, business partner, joint
venture business partner or service provider of any member
of the Group or any affiliate who the Board or its delegate(s)
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will
contribute to the Group, may be granted options to subscribe
for Shares.
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Maximum Number of Shares Available for Grant and
Issue

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any
time shall not exceed 91,568,000 Shares. Given that no further
options could be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme after the Listing, the outstanding number of options
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme would be equivalent
to the number of Shares available for issue under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
there outstanding options with 65,189,600 underlying Shares
(representing approximately 3.73% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date) were granted
to eligible participants pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

Under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, there is no specific
limit on the maximum number of options which may be granted
to a single eligible participant.

Term and Remaining Life of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was in force from 20 April
2018, the date on which the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted, until 1 July 2018, both dates inclusive. Accordingly,
there is no remaining life under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

Consideration

A nominal consideration of RMB1.00 is payable upon acceptance
of the grant of an option.

Exercise Period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by our Directors to each grantee, which
shall end not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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Vesting Period

The terms on which the options is to be granted, which may
include, but are not limited to, any minimum period(s) for which
an option must be held before the option can be exercised in
whole or in part, shall be determined by the Board.

Exercise Price

The subscription price in relation to each option shall be such
price as may be determined by the Board, provided that it shall
not be less than the nominal value of a Share.

Outstanding Options under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme

Details of the movements of the options granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2023 are as follows and in note 32 to the financial statements:

ROBE EREHR 2035
BRESEA 1818 HEHE  REDE  BREE® AR
%%/ 85l BH RiiAH liid RS iy HATE B XA i HAOR
Number
of options
Outstanding  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled Outstanding
asat during the during the during the as at
Name/category of Vesting  Exercise ~ 1January Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 December
option holders Position Date of grant  Exercise period period price 2023 Period Period Period 2023
I)RES
Directors of the Company
52 BTEERIR W18F4ANA ETRHLI0E 1235 1037ET 14,460,000 - - - 14,460,000
Mr. Zhou Xin Executive Director & 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant  1-3years ~ HK$10.37
Chairman
BARE JTEERILE WI8F4ANE  ETRHLI0E 135 1037EL 9,600,000 - - - 9,600,000
Mr. Huang Canhao  Executive Director & Vice 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant  1-3 years  HK$1037
Chairman
THERL #17ES 018F4ANE  ETEHRI0F 123F 1037 9,600,000 - - - 9,600,000
Dr. Ding Zuyu Executive Director 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant  1-3years  HK$10.37
RuUREL HnEs 018F4RNE  KTAHRI0E 1238 10378T 1,446,000 - - - 1,446,000
Dr. Cheng Li-lan ~ Executive Director 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant  1-3years  HK$10.37
EE2EAL 018F4RE  ETRERI05F 1235 10378 41,965,600 - 4,673,200 - 37,292,400
Employee participants 21 April 2018 10 years from the date of grant  1-3years  HK$10.37
@it 71,071,600 - 4,673,200 - 72,398,400
Total
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to the
written resolutions of the Shareholders passed on 4 July 2018.

Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide
eligible persons to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in our Company and
to encourage the eligible person to work towards enhancing
the value of our Company and our Shares for the benefit
of our Company and Shareholders as a whole. The Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme will provide our Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to eligible persons.

Eligible Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director, officer, consultant,
advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent,
business partner, joint venture business partner or service
provider of any member of our Group or any of our Group's
affiliates whom the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to our
Group is entitled to be offered and granted options.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Grant and
Issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company is
146,743,600, being no more than 10% of the Shares in issue on
the Listing Date (the “Option Scheme Mandate Limit").
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The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any
time subject to prior approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time. However, the Option Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed cannot exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of such approval. Options previously granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those
outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with its terms or
exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the refreshed Option Scheme Mandate Limit.

No options have been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme. Accordingly, 146,743,600 Shares were available for
grant under the Option Scheme Mandate Limit as at 1 January
2023 and 31 December 2023, respectively, and 146,743,600
Shares, representing 8.39% of the issued Shares as at the
Latest Practicable Date, were available to issue as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

Remaining Life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for the period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date
(after which no further options shall be offered or granted).
The remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is
approximately 4.5 years.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
and to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of our Company to
each eligible person (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.
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Consideration

A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable within 20 business days
from the date of grant of an option.

Exercise and Vesting Period

An option may, subject to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the terms and conditions upon which such option is
granted, vested, be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee
giving notice in writing to our Company in such form as our
Board may from time to time determine stating that the option
is thereby exercised and the number of Shares in respect of
which it is exercised.

Exercise Price

The price per Share at which a grantee may subscribe for Shares
on the exercise of an option shall be such price determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion and shall be no less than the
higher of: (i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the daily
guotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged in certain
transactions with the following persons that constituted connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.

1. Mr. Zhou is considered a “connected person” under the
Listing Rules by virtue of him being an executive Director and
a substantial shareholder. Pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the
Listing Rules, any transactions between the Company and Mr.
Zhou are considered as connected transactions.

2. Leju is considered a “connected person” under the Listing Rules
by virtue of it being an associate of E-House (China) Holdings,
one of our substantial shareholders. Pursuant to Rule 14A.04(1)
of the Listing Rules, any transactions between the Company
and Leju are considered as connected transactions. Following
completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements, Leju became a
subsidiary of the Company in November 2020.



3. HARAKEAEMAP-—BIXIERERH 3. TED is considered a “connected person” under the Listing

BEEEEEEZEEA AKX Rules by virtue of it being an associate of CRE Corp, one of
EHEACEMRADIBETHFEEA our substantial Shareholders. Pursuant to Rule 14A.04(1) of the
T 1o RBEBCEMHAIDE14A.04(1) Listing Rules, any transactions between the Company and TED
B RRFEKEZ FETHEMRR are considered as connected transactions.
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4. BE(ETHRADE14A.07() G - TR 4. SINA and Tencent are each a “connected person” at the

kEASEARMBARIEm [ BHE subsidiary level according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.
Axle
BERERS Continuing Connected Transactions

TERAFARNEERREAFANFERER Set out below is a table in relation to continuing connected
o A
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transactions of the Group during the Reporting Period and are

BB A EE o required under the Listing Rules to be disclosed in the annual report
and consolidated financial statements of the Company.

035RZFELR  203FBERRZLE

(AR¥EER) (AR%EER)

Proposed Actual

Annual Cap Transaction

in 2023 Amount in 2023

BEBERS Continuing Connected Transactions (RMB'Million) (RMB’Million)

AEZBREERGE TED Event Services Framework Agreement 15 =

AEREBERFAAERR TED and its associates to provide the Group with event and
HEE LR ERE exhibition services

REFREERERS Leju-SINA Continuing Connected Transactions @R 1
NA®

MREOBEEFEHERE Advertising Inventory Sale Agency with SINA T@Ao 1
NA®

HORMEA AR Domain Name and Content License with SINA TNERO -
NA

MRMBERRF Trademark License with SINA TEAO -
NA®

FORBVEEET A R #5RT Software Licence and Support Services with SINA @R -
NA®

MRETE SINA Registration Rights Ti@Ao -
NA®
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(AR¥EER) (AR%BEER)
Proposed Actual
Annual Cap Transaction
in 2023 Amount in 2023
BEBRERS Continuing Connected Transactions (RMB’Million) (RMB'Million)
LERTSERERS Leju-Tencent Continuing Connected Transactions Ti@Ao 85
NA®
BRNESRE Advertising Agency with Tencent RO 85
NA®
EAREERES Tencent Investor Rights T@AO -
NA
LEZEERSENERS  Leju-E-House Holdings Continuing Connected NERM -
Transactions
NA®
R HxWE Master Transaction Agreement @AM TiEH
. NA® NA
BIMBIE RIS hik Offshore Transitional Services Agreement NERO -
NA
BRBR R S Onshore Transitional Services Agreement TEAO -
NAD
BERILHE Non-competition Agreement @R TER
NA®D NA
SRR Leju Contractual Arrangements T@AO -
NA
Mt Note:
HE2023F12831BILEE @ ZWHaTE There is no annual cap for these agreements for the year ended 31 December
FELIR - ZEBZBE TR SKBAIEEE 2023. Transactions under these agreements are collectively referred to as
FRMBERERS | o “Continuing Connected Transactions with no Annual Cap”.
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We set out below a summary of the continuing connected transactions for our
Group, which are subject to the reporting, annual review and announcements
but are exempt from independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

1. TED event services
The TED Event Services Framework Agreement

TED is a company established in the PRC on 9 February 2007
and listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations with
stock code 837383. TED is principally engaged in the business of
providing public relations services to real estate developers and
organising publicity events for real estate development projects.

On 4 July 2018, our Company (for ourselves and on behalf of
our associates) and TED (for itself and on behalf of its associates)
entered into a framework event services agreement (the “"TED
Event Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
TED and its associates will provide us with event and exhibition
services. We procure these event and exhibition services in
relation to promotional activities relating to our real estate
agency services in the primary market, publicity of our rating
and ranking services, and for internal operating purposes. These
event and exhibition services may include provision of exhibition
booths and ancillary services at TED organised real estate
exhibitions and provision of audio-visual equipment and ancillary
services for events organised by our Group. On 29 December
2020, the Company and TED renewed the above agreement by
entering into a new agreement renewed (the “2021 TED Event
Services Framework Agreement”) for a term of three years
commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December
2023.

Reasons for the transactions

We have extensive business operations and proprietary real
estate databases covering many provinces, municipalities and
autonomous regions across China, all of which are engaged in
the real estate industry. It is therefore in our interest to procure
the services of TED, one of China’s leading public relations
and communications firms. In particular, TED has extensive
experience in real estate-related public relations and has a pan-
China presence.
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Pricing policy

The equipment rental and labour fees and exhibition space
rental and service fees under the TED Event Services Framework
Agreement and the 2021 TED Event Services Framework
Agreement are determined either based on the prevailing market
rate or as agreed by the parties’ arm’s length negotiations,
with reference to the quantity or duration of equipment, space
or services contracted by us and the price for comparable
equipment, space or services charged by Independent Third
Parties.

The annual cap for the 2021 TED Event Services Framework
Agreement for each of the years ended 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023 is RMB15 million, RMB15 million and RMB15
million, respectively.

Further details of the TED Event Services Framework Agreement
and the 2021 TED Event Services Framework Agreement are set
out in the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company
dated 29 December 2020, respectively.

Leju Continuing Connected Transactions

Effective from completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements,
certain existing transactions engaged in by Leju as described in
the section headed “Appendix Il — Financial Information of Leju
— Related Party Balances and Transactions” in the Circular have
become connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, if the Group
continues to conduct such transaction, the Company is only
required to comply with the annual review and disclosure
requirements. When any such agreements are renewed or their
terms are varied, the Company will comply with the applicable
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

See "Appendix Il — Financial Information of Leju — Related Party
Balances and Transactions” in the circular of the Company dated
14 October 2020 for details of the historical amounts for each
of these transactions.
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Transactions with SINA and Tencent

Advertising Inventory Sale Agency. On 7 March 2014, SINA
and Leju entered into the advertising inventory sale agency
agreement for a term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March 2024.
Under the advertising inventory sale agency agreement, Leju
will have the exclusive right to sell advertising to real estate,
home furnishing and construction materials advertisers on all
SINA non-real estate websites. Leju is required to pay SINA fees
of approximately 15% of the revenues generated from sales of
advertising on SINA non-real estate websites, subject to certain
limitations on the amount of advertising that Leju may sell and
fees payable by Leju to SINA based on the amount of advertising
sold. In addition, Leju authorizes SINA as its exclusive agent to
sell non-real estate-related advertising on its directly operated
websites. Leju is entitled to receive approximately 85% of the
revenues generated from these sales.

Domain Name and Content License. On 7 March 2014, Beijing
SINA Internet Information Service Co., Ltd. (3t ¥R B B#E B R
%AMRAFA]) (“Licensor”) and Beijing Yisheng Leju Information
Services Co., Ltd. (“Licensee”) entered into the amended and
restated domain name and content license agreement for a
term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March 2024. Under the amended
and restated domain name and content license agreement,
Licensor, granted to Licensee an exclusive license to use its
five domain names, namely, house.sina.com.cn, jiaju.sina.com.
cn, construction.sina.com.cn, dichan.sina.com.cn, and esf.sina.
com.cn in connection with Leju’s real estate internet operations
in China. In addition, the Licensor also granted to Licensee
an exclusive license to use all contents, whose copyrights are
owned by the Licensor or owned by a third-party provider but
is sub-licensable by the Licensor without requiring payment
of any additional fees and without violating the terms of any
agreement with such third party provider, in connection with
websites associated with the domain names licensed to Licensee.
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Trademark License. On 7 March 2014, the Licensor and
Licensee entered into the amended and restated trademark
license agreement for a term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March
2024. Under the amended and restated trademark license
agreement, the Licensor granted to Licensee a non-exclusive
license to use three SINA trademarks and an exclusive license to
use four SINA related trademarks in connection with Leju’s real
estate online operations in China through websites located at
leju.com and the websites located at house.sina.com.cn, jiaju.
sina.com.cn, construction.sina.com.cn, dichan.sina.com.cn and
esf.sina.com.cn.

Software License and Support Services. On 7 March 2014,
SINA.com Technology (China) Co. Ltd. (FURBRM(FE)AE
[R’AA]) (the “Software Licensor”) and Shanghai SINA Leju
Information Technology Co. Ltd. (E/B¥FRLEEZERFARA
a]) (the “Software Licensee”) entered into the amended and
restated software license and support services agreement for a
term from 7 March 2014 to 7 March 2024. Under the amended
and restated software license and support services agreement,
the Software Licensor granted to the Software Licensee a non-
exclusive license to use (i) the proprietary software used for,
among other things, internet content publishing, advertising
publishing, sales management, procurement reimbursement,
financial management flow, statistics, monitoring and censoring;
(i) certain current software products and interfaces necessary to
facilitate Leju’s use of such current software products; (iii) the
databases; (iv) certain improvements to the licensed software;
and (v) related documentation and hardware, in each case to
the extent such items (other than licensor improvements) exist
and have been delivered to us under the software license and
support service agreement executed in 2009. The Software
Licensor also provided to Leju infrastructure necessary to
operate Leju’s websites and facilitate Leju’s use of the licensed
software. In addition, the Licensor also provided support
services, including routine maintenance, technical support and
hardware support. The licenses are free of any fees (subject to
certain exceptions). However, to the extent that there are any
reasonable, incremental costs for use of the licensed software or
the infrastructure, or provision of the support services, due to a
change in the business needs, we are required to reimburse the
licensor for all such costs.
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Registration Rights. On 21 March 2017, SINA and Leju entered
into the registration rights agreement for a term from 21 March
2017 until the earliest of (i) SINA, and any affiliate transferee
of SINA and their affiliates ceasing to own any Equity Securities
(as defined therein), or (ii) termination by the parties in writing.
The investor rights agreement granted SINA, among other
things, certain registration rights with respect to Leju’s ordinary
shares owned by it, including demand registration rights, shelf
registration rights, and piggyback registration rights in relation
to securities laws of the United States.

Advertising Agency. In January 2019, Leju entered into a
series of exclusive advertising agency agreements with Tencent.
Pursuant to the exclusive advertising agency agreements, Leju
are the exclusive real property advertising agent of Tencent for
selling advertising to real estate advertisers in certain areas of
China, including, Tianjin and Sichuan, Anhui, Shanxi, Guangxi
and Fujian provinces. In March 2019, Leju entered into an
advertising agency agreement with Tencent, pursuant to which
Leju is the real property advertising agent of Tencent in certain
other areas of China. In January 2020, Leju renewed and entered
into advertising agency agreements with Tencent, pursuant to
which we are the real property advertising agent of Tencent
in many areas of China. Pursuant to the exclusive advertising
agency agreements signed in April 2020, such areas of China
were Heilongjiang, Shanxi, Tianjin, Fujian, Guangxi, Guizhou,
Chongging, Sichuan and some cities in Jiangsu Province.

Investor Rights. On 31 March 2014, E-House Holdings, THL O
Limited and Leju entered into the investor rights agreement for
a term from 31 March 2014 until the earliest of (i) Tencent, and
any affiliate transferee of Tencent and their affiliates ceasing to
own any Equity Securities (as defined therein), or (ii) termination
by the parties in writing. The investor rights agreement granted
Tencent, among other things, certain registration rights with
respect to Leju’s ordinary shares owned by it, including demand
registration rights, shelf registration rights, and piggyback
registration rights in relation to securities laws of the United
States.

View of Directors and Listing Rule implications. The
Board, including the independent non-executive directors, have
reviewed and approved such transactions, have determined that
these transactions are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms or better and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole (including to facilitate the continuation
of business by Leju without interruption).
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As all such transactions were entered into prior to completion
of the Equity Transfer Agreements, pursuant to Rule 14A.60
of the Listing Rules, the Company is only required to comply
with the annual review and disclosure requirements. SINA and
Tencent are each a connected person at the subsidiary level
according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, it
is anticipated that at the time of any future renewal or variation
of the terms of such transactions, the exemption under Rule
14A.101 of the Listing Rules for transactions between the Group
and persons connected at the subsidiary level would apply,
such that the renewal or variation would be exempt from the
circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, provided
that (i) the Board approves the relevant renewal or variation and
(ii) the independent non-executive Directors are of the opinion
that the terms of the transaction are fair and reasonable and the
transactions are on normal commercial terms or better and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Transactions with E-House Holdings

Master Transaction Agreement. On 10 March 2014,
E-House Holdings and Leju entered into the master transaction
agreement for a term from 10 March 2014 until the date that
is five (5) years after the first date upon which members of the
E-House Group (as defined therein) no longer collectively own
at least twenty percent (20%) of the voting power of the then
outstanding securities of Leju. The master transaction agreement
contains provisions relating to Leju’s carve-out from E-House.
The master transaction agreement provides for cross-indemnities
that generally will place the financial responsibility on Leju
for all liabilities associated with the current and historical real
estate online services business and operations that have been
conducted by or transferred to Leju, and generally will place
on E-House Holdings the financial responsibility for liabilities
associated with all of E-House Holding's other current and
historical businesses and operations, in each case regardless of
the time those liabilities arise. The master transaction agreement
also contains indemnification provisions under which Leju and
E-House Holdings will indemnify each other with respect to
breaches of the master transaction agreement or any related
agreement.
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Offshore Transitional Services Agreement. On 10 March
2014, as amended on 4 November 2020, E-House Holdings
and Leju entered into the offshore transitional services
agreement for a term until 31 December 2025. Under the
offshore transitional services agreement, E-House Holdings
agrees that, during the service period, E-House Holdings will
provide Leju with various corporate support services, including:
accounting support; administrative support; marketing support;
internal control support; customer service support; and legal
support. The price to be paid for the services provided under
the offshore transitional service agreement shall be the actual
direct costs and indirect costs of providing such services. Direct
costs include compensation and travel expenses attributable to
employees, temporary workers, and contractors directly engaged
in performing the services as well as materials and supplies
consumed in performing the services. Indirect costs include
occupancy, information technology supervision and other
overhead costs of the department incurring the direct costs of
providing the service.

Onshore Transitional Services Agreement. On 10 March
2014, as amended on 4 November 2020, Shanghai Real Estate
Sales (Group) Co., Ltd. ("E-House Shanghai”), Shanghai SINA
Leju Information Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Yisheng Leju
Information Services Co., Ltd., Shanghai Yi Yue Information
Technology Co., Ltd., Shanghai Leju Hao Fang Information
Service Co., Ltd., Beijing Maiteng Fengshun Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Jiajujiu E-Commerce Co., Ltd.,
and Rehouse Real Estate Broker (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Leju
Subsidiaries”), entered into the onshore transitional services
agreement for a term until 31 December 2025. The onshore
transitional services agreement adopts terms and conditions
similar to those of the offshore transitional services agreement.
Under the onshore transitional services agreement, E-House
Shanghai, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of E-House
Holdings, agrees, during the applicable service period, to
provide the Leju Subsidiaries or the Leju PRC Entities (as defined
therein), and/or their designated PRC affiliates, with various
corporate support services, including accounting support,
administrative support, internal control and internal audit
support, marketing support, customer service support and legal
support. The price to be paid for the services provided under
the onshore transitional services agreement shall be the actual
direct costs and indirect costs of providing such services. Direct
costs include compensation and travel expenses attributable to
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employees, temporary workers, and contractors directly engaged
in performing the services as well as materials and supplies
consumed in performing the services. Indirect costs include
occupancy, information technology supervision and other
overhead costs of the department incurring the direct costs of
providing the service.

Non-competition Agreement. On 10 March 2014, E-House
Holdings and Leju entered into the non-competition agreement
for a term from 10 March 2014 until the later of (i) three years
after the first date when E-House Holdings ceases to own in
aggregate at least 20% of the voting power of Leju’s then
outstanding securities and (ii) five years after the date that
the registration statement on Form F-1 for Leju’s initial public
offering is first publicly filed with the SEC. E-House Holdings
agreed not to compete with Leju during the non-competition
period in the business of providing real estate e-commerce,
online advertising and listing services, anywhere in the world.
Leju agreed not to compete with E — House Holdings during the
non-competition period in any business conducted by E-House
Holdings as described in its periodic filings with the SEC, other
than the businesses Leju are engaged in as described in the
prospectus for Leju’s initial public offering. The non-competition
agreement also provides for a mutual non-solicitation obligation.

View of Directors and Listing Rule implications. The
Board, including the independent non-executive directors, have
reviewed and approved such transactions, have determined that
these transactions are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms or better and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole (including to facilitate the continuation
of business by Leju without interruption).

As all such transactions were entered into prior to completion
of the Equity Transfer Agreements, pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of
the Listing Rules, the Company is only required to comply with
the annual review and disclosure requirements. When any such
agreements are renewed or their terms are varied, the Company
will comply with the applicable requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

We set out below a summary of the continuing connected
transactions for our Group, which are subject to the reporting,
annual review and announcements and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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3. Leju Contractual Arrangements

Upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements, Leju
became a subsidiary of the Company and its financial results are
consolidated into those of the Group. Due to PRC restrictions
on foreign investment in the internet industry, Leju conducts
part of its business through the Contractual Arrangements with
its affiliated PRC entities, the details of which were described in
the section headed “Appendix Il — Financial Information of Leju
— VIE Arrangements” in the circular of the Company dated 14
October 2020. On 4 November 2020, prior to completion of the
Equity Transfer Agreements, Leju entered into the Contractual
Arrangements, which were updated to comply with the
applicable requirements of HKEX Guidance Letter GL77-14.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 4 November 2020.

REASONS FOR USE OF CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Leju is a leading online-to-offline real estate services provider in
China, offering real estate e-commerce, online advertising, and online
listing services through its online platform. Leju integrates its online
platform with complementary offline services to facilitate residential
property transactions.

Leju’s e-commerce business with respect to new residential properties
is operated through its contractual arrangements with Leju Hao Fang
and its shareholders. Leju’s e-commerce business with respect to
home furnishing is operated through its contractual arrangements
with Beijing lJiajujiu and its shareholders. Leju’s online advertising
business for new residential properties websites and its secondary
listings business are operated through its contractual arrangements
with Beijing Leju and its shareholders.

PRC laws and regulations or their implementation by relevant
government authorities, generally prohibit or restrict foreign
ownership in the businesses conducted through the Contractual
Arrangements. As a result of such restrictions, Leju is unable to own
or hold any direct equity interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and has adopted the Contractual Arrangements to exercise control
of, and enjoy the economic benefits of, the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities.
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PRC laws and regulations

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for
Foreign Investment Access (2022 Edition) (JMEIIREFEANESRIEEE
(B M5 E) (2022)) (the “Negative List”), provision of value-added
telecommunications services falls within the ‘restricted’ category. As
such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor in companies
engaged in value-added telecommunications services shall not
exceed 50%. Moreover, pursuant to the Administrative Measures on
Internet Information Services (BB 48 (= B RIS E IR L), a commercial
provider of internet information services (namely services involving
the provision of information or website-design services through
the internet to internet-users for a fee) is required to obtain an ICP
license.

Since Leju’s e-commerce business, online advertising business and
secondary listings business involve the operation of commercial
internet information services, which is a sub-category of valued-added
telecommunications business, for which an ICP licence is required,
Leju’s e-commerce business, online advertising business and secondary
listings business are subject to foreign ownership restrictions.

Currently, PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign ownership of
value-added telecommunications service providers (in addition to
the qualification requirements still imposed on foreign owners in
the practice of reviewing value-added telecommunications operating
licenses for foreign-invested enterprises).

Qualification Requirements under FITE Regulations

On December 11, 2001, the State Council promulgated
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (INERE B EEEIRIETE)(the
"FITE Regulations”), which were amended on September 10, 2008,
February 6, 2016 and May 1, 2022, respectively. According to the
FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than
50% of the equity interests of a company engaged in VATS Business,
unless otherwise provided by relevant laws and regulations. For our
Relevant Business which falls under the scope of Internet information
services, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of
the equity interests. In addition, a foreign-invested enterprise must
be approved by the MIIT to engage in VATS Business, which retain
discretion in granting such approvals.
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Although the qualification requirements for the foreign investors
of foreign-invested telecommunications enterprises operating
value-added telecommunications services have been cancelled, the
application for obtaining ICP License through foreign investment
company is still subject to substantive examination; there are
substantial uncertainties as to whether ICP Licenses can be obtained
through any foreign investment company by us.

We will actively manage the operations of Leju and procure it to
continue carrying out steps (including leveraging its and our offshore
operations) after closing for the purpose of being qualified, as early
as possible, to acquire the entire shareholding in our Onshore Holdcos
when the relevant PRC laws and regulations and authorities allow
foreign investors to invest and hold interest in enterprises which
engage in the restricted businesses.
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Circumstances in which we will unwind the Contractual
Arrangements

We will unwind and terminate the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
practicable, to the extent permissible, and we will directly hold the maximum
percentage of ownership interest permissible under the relevant PRC laws
and regulations if the relevant government authority grants ICP licences
to the Sino-foreign entities currently held and to be established by our
Company. In this event, each WFOE will exercise its rights under the relevant
Exclusive Option Agreement to unwind and terminate the Contractual
Arrangements to the extent permissible and we will directly operate the
underlying businesses without using the Contractual Arrangements.

OVERVIEW OF
ARRANGEMENTS

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group under
the Contractual Arrangements:
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Notes:

(1) Beijing Leju is currently 80% owned by Mr. Xudong Zhu and 20%
owned by Mr. Yinyu He. Leju Hao Fang and Beijing Jiajujiu are each
currently 70% owned by Mr. Yinyu He and 30% owned by Mr. Weijie
Ma. Mr. Xudong Zhu is an employee of E-House Holdings. Mr. Yinyu He
is the chief executive officer of Leju. Mr. Weijie Ma is an employee of
the Company.
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(2) "—>" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity
interest.

(3) "--->" denotes contractual relationship.

(4) "——" denotes the control by WFOEs over the Registered Shareholders

and the Onshore Holdcos through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all
shareholders’ rights in the Onshore Holdcos, (ii) exclusive options to
acquire all or part of the equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos and (iii)
equity pledges over the equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue contribution of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities accounted for 29.9% of the Group’s
total revenue (2022: 28.7%) and the total assets of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities as of 31 December 2023 accounted for
approximately 49.8% of the total assets of the Group (2022: 45.3%).

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Under the exclusive business cooperation agreements dated 4
November 2020, between the Onshore Holdcos and the WFOEs (the
“Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant to
which, in exchange for a monthly service fee, the Onshore Holdcos
agreed to engage the WFOEs as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation and other services, including the following
services:

(i)  the use of any relevant software legally owned by the WFOEs;
(i)  development, maintenance and updating of software in respect

of the Onshore Holdcos’ business;

(iii) design, installation, daily management, maintenance and
updating of network systems, hardware and database design;

(iv) providing technical support and staff training services to relevant
employers of the Onshore Holdcos;

(v)  providing assistance in consultancy, collection and research of
technology and market information (excluding market research
business that wholly foreign owned enterprises are prohibited
from conducting under the laws of China);

(vi) providing business management consultation;

(vii) providing marketing and promotional services;

(viii) providing customer order management and customer services;

(ix) transfer, leasing and disposal of equipment or properties; and

(x)  other relevant services requested by the Onshore Holdcos from
time to time to the extent permitted under the laws of China.
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Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the service
fee shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit of the
Onshore Holdcos, after the deduction of any accumulated deficit
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in respect of the preceding
financial year(s), operating costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contributions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the WFOEs may adjust
the scope and amount of services fees according to China tax law and
tax practices, and the Onshore Holdcos will accept such adjustments.
The WFOEs shall calculate the service fee on a monthly basis and issue
a corresponding invoice to the Onshore Holdcos. Notwithstanding
the payment arrangements in the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, the WFOEs may adjust the payment time and payment
method, and the Onshore Holdcos will accept any such adjustment.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of the WFOEs, during
the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, with
respect to the services subject to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements and other matters, the Onshore Holdcos shall not directly
or indirectly accept the same or any similar services provided by any
third party and shall not establish cooperation relationships similar
to that formed by the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
with any third party. The WFOEs may appoint other parties, who may
enter into certain agreements with the Onshore Holdcos, to provide
the Onshore Holdcos with the services under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreements.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements also provide that
the WFOEs have the exclusive proprietary rights to and interests in
any and all intellectual property rights developed or created by the
Onshore Holdcos during the performance of the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements shall remain effective
unless terminated (a) in accordance with the provisions of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements; (b) in writing by the
WFOEs; or (c) renewal of the expired business period of either the
WFQOEs or the Onshore Holdcos is denied by relevant government
authorities, at which time the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements will terminate upon termination of that business period.
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Under the exclusive option agreements dated 4 November 2020,
among the Onshore Holdcos, the WFOEs and the Registered
Shareholders (the “Exclusive Option Agreements”), the WFOEs
have the rights to require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any
or all their equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos to the WFOEs and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and
from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the respectively
outstanding loans owed to the Registered Shareholders (or part of the
loan amounts in proportion to the equity interests being transferred)
or, if applicable, for a nominal price, unless the relevant government
authorities or the China laws request that another amount be used
as the purchase price, in which case the purchase price shall be the
lowest amount under such request.

The Onshore Holdcos and the Registered Shareholders, among other
things, have covenanted that:

(i)  without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the constitutional
documents of the Onshore Holdcos, increase or decrease their
registered capital, or change the structure of their registered
capital in other manner;

(ii)  they shall maintain the Onshore Holdcos' corporate existence
in accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices, obtain and maintain all necessary government licenses
and permits by prudently and effectively operating their business
and handling their affairs;

(iii) without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall
not at any time following the signing of the Exclusive Option
Agreements sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner
any material assets of the Onshore Holdcos or legal or beneficial
interest in the material business or revenues of the Onshore
Holdcos of more than RMB1,000,000, or allow the encumbrance
thereon of any security interest;

(iv) without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, the Onshore
Holdcos shall not incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt,
except for debts incurred in the ordinary course of business
other than payables incurred by a loan;

(v)  the Onshore Holdcos shall always operate all of their businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain their asset
value and refrain from any action/omission that may adversely
affect the Onshore Holdcos' operating status and asset value;
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without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
cause the Onshore Holdcos to execute any material contract with
a value above RMB1,000,000, except the contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
cause the Onshore Holdcos to provide any person with any loan
or credit;

they shall provide the WFOEs with information on the Onshore
Holdcos' business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOEs;

if requested by the WFOEs, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of the Onshore Holdcos’ assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE, at an amount
and type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not
cause or permit the Onshore Holdcos to merge, consolidate
with, acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOEs of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to the Onshore Holdcos’ assets, business or
revenue;

to maintain the ownership by the Onshore Holdcos of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate documents,
take all necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary
or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defenses against all claims;

without the prior written consent of the WFOEs, the Onshore
Holdcos shall not in any manner distribute dividends to their
shareholders, provided that upon the written request of the
WFOEs, the Onshore Holdcos shall immediately distribute all
distributable profits to their shareholders;

at the request of the WFOEs, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOEs as the directors and/or senior
management of the Onshore Holdcos; and

unless otherwise mandatorily required by China laws, the
Onshore Holdcos shall not be dissolved or liquidated without
prior written consent by the WFOEs.
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In addition, the Registered Shareholders, among other things, have
covenanted that:

(i)  without the written consent of the WFOEs, they shall not sell,
transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the legal
or beneficial interest in the Onshore Holdcos, or allow the
encumbrance thereon of any security interest, except for the
Equity Pledge Agreements and the interests prescribed in the
Powers of Attorney, and procure the shareholders’ meeting and
the board of directors of the Onshore Holdcos not to approve
such matters;

(i)  for each exercise of the equity purchase option, to cause the
shareholders’ meeting of the Onshore Holdcos to vote on the
approval of the transfer of equity interests and any other action
requested by the WFOEs;

(iiiy they shall relinquish the pre-emptive right (if any) he/she is
entitled to in relation to the transfer of equity interest by any
other shareholders to the Onshore Holdcos and give consent to
the execution by each other shareholder of the Onshore Holdcos
with the WFOEs and the Onshore Holdcos exclusive option
agreements, equity interest pledge agreements and powers of
attorney similar to the Exclusive Option Agreements, the Equity
Pledge Agreements and the Powers of Attorney, and accept not
to take any action in conflict with such documents executed by
the other shareholders (if any); and

(iv) each of the Registered Shareholders will transfer to the WFOEs
or its appointee(s) by way of gift any profit or dividend in
accordance with the China law.

The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to
the relevant laws and regulations, they will return to the WFOEs any
consideration they receive in the event that the WFOEs exercise the
options under the Exclusive Option Agreements to acquire the equity
interests in the Onshore Holdcos.

The Exclusive Option Agreements shall remain effective unless
terminated in the event that the entire equity interests held by the
Registered Shareholders in the Onshore Holdcos have been transferred
to the WFOEs or their appointee(s).
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Equity Pledge Agreements

Under the equity pledge agreements dated 4 November 2020, entered
into between the WFOEs, the Registered Shareholders and the
Onshore Holdcos (the “"Equity Pledge Agreements”), the Registered
Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in
the Onshore Holdcos that they own, including any interest or dividend
paid for the shares, to the WFOEs as a security interest to guarantee
the performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts.

The pledge in respect of the Onshore Holdcos takes effect upon
the completion of registration with the relevant administration for
industry and commerce and shall remain valid until after all the
contractual obligations of the Registered Shareholders and the
Onshore Holdcos under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have
been fully performed and all the outstanding debts of the Registered
Shareholders and the Onshore Holdcos under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully paid.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Equity Pledge Agreements), the WFOEs shall
have the right to require the Onshore Holdcos' shareholders (i.e. the
Registered Shareholders) to immediately pay any amount payable
by the Onshore Holdcos under the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, repay any loans and pay any other due payments,
and the WFOEs shall have the right to exercise all such rights as a
secured party under any applicable China law and the Equity Pledge
Agreements, including without limitations, being paid in priority
with the equity interests based on the monetary valuation that such
equity interests are converted into or from the proceeds from auction
or sale of the equity interest upon written notice to the Registered
Shareholders.

The registration of the Equity Pledge Agreements as required by
the relevant laws and regulations will be completed in accordance
with the terms of the Equity Pledge Agreements and China laws and
regulations.
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Powers of Attorney

The Registered Shareholders have executed powers of attorney dated
4 November 2020, (the “Powers of Attorney”). Under the Powers
of Attorney, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably appointed the
WFOEs and their designated persons (including but not limited to
Directors and their successors and liquidators replacing the Directors
but excluding those non-independent or who may give rise to conflict
of interests) as their attorneys-in-fact to exercise on their behalf, and
agreed and undertook not to exercise without such attorneys-in-
fact’s prior written consent, any and all right that they have in respect
of their equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos, including without
limitation:

(i)  to convene and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Onshore
Holdcos;

(ii)  to file documents with the relevant companies registry;

(iii) to exercise all shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s voting
rights in accordance with law and the constitutional documents
of the Onshore Holdcos, including but not limited to the sale,
transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all of the equity interests
in the Onshore Holdcos;

(iv) to execute any and all written resolutions and meeting minutes
and to approve the amendments to the articles of associations in
the name and on behalf of such shareholder; and

(v)  to nominate or appoint the legal representatives, directors,
supervisors, general manager and other senior management of
the Onshore Holdcos.

Further, the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for so long as
each shareholder holds equity interest in the Onshore Holdcos.

Loan Agreements

Under the loan agreements entered into between the WFOEs and the
relevant Registered Shareholders dated 4 November 2020, (the “Loan
Agreements”), pursuant to which the WFOEs agreed to provide loans
to the Registered Shareholders, to be used exclusively as investment
in the relevant Onshore Holdcos. The loans must not be used for any
other purposes without the relevant lender’s prior written consent.
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The term of each loan commences from the date of the agreement
and ends on the date the lender exercises its exclusive call option
under the relevant Exclusive Option Agreement, or when certain
defined termination events occur, such as if the lender sends a written
notice demanding repayment to the borrower, or upon the default of
the borrower, whichever is earlier.

After the lender exercises his exclusive call option, the borrower may
repay the loan by transferring all of its equity interest in the relevant
Onshore Holdco to the lender, or a person or entity nominated by
the lender, and use the proceeds of such transfer as repayment of
the loan. If the proceeds of such transfer is equal to or less than the
principal of the loan under the relevant Loan Agreement, the loan
is considered interest-free. If the proceeds of such transfer is higher
than the principal of the loan under the relevant Loan Agreement,
any surplus is considered interest for the loan under the relevant Loan
Agreement.

RISK FACTORS

A summary of the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements
was set out in the section headed “Appendix Il — Financial Information
of Leju — Risks in relation to the VIE structure” in the circular of the
Company dated 14 October 2020 and detailed in Leju’s annual report
on Form 20-F filed with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission on 18 April 2023. Set out below are the key risks
associated with the Contractual Arrangements:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our advertising services business
and real estate online business in China do not comply with
PRC governmental restrictions on foreign investment in the
advertising industry or the internet information service industry,
we could be subject to severe penalties.

o We rely on contractual arrangements with Beijing Leju, Leju Hao
Fang and Beijing lJiajujiu and their respective shareholders for
a portion of our operations, which may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing operational control.

° The shareholders of our consolidated variable interest entities
may have potential conflicts of interest with us, and if any such
conflicts of interest are not resolved in our favor, our business
may be materially and adversely affected.

o Our ability to enforce the equity pledge agreements between us
and the shareholders of Beijing Leju, Leju Hao Fang or Beijing
Jiajujiu may be subject to limitations based on PRC laws and
regulations.
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o Contractual arrangements we have entered into with Beijing
Leju, Leju Hao Fang and Beijing Jiajujiu may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and a finding that we, Beijing
Leju, Leju Hao Fang or Beijing Jiajujiu owe additional taxes could
reduce our net income and the value of your investment.

o Substantial uncertainties exist with the PRC foreign investment
legal regime and may have a significant impact on our corporate
structure and business operations.

WAIVER FROM STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH
THE LISTING RULES

Reasons for the transaction and the waiver application

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the Contractual Arrangements and the transactions
contemplated therein are fundamental to our legal structure and
business operations following the acquisition of a controlling interest
in Leju. Our Directors also believe that our structure, whereby
the financial results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will
be consolidated into our financial statements as if they were our
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and all the economic benefits
of their business flows to our Group, places our Group in a special
position in relation to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly,
notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements and any new transactions, contracts
and agreements or renewal of existing transactions, contracts and
agreements to be entered into, among others, by our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group from time to time
(including Consolidated Affiliated Entities) (the “"New Intergroup
Agreements”) technically constitute continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors
consider that it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable,
and would add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company,
for all such transactions to be subject to strict compliance with
the requirements set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
including, among other things, the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements.

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that: (i) the Contractual Arrangements have been
entered into in our ordinary and usual course of business on normal
commercial terms or better, on terms that are fair and reasonable, and
in the interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole; and
(ii) it is normal business practice for the Contractual Arrangements to
be of a term greater than three years.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive Directors

All the above continuing connected transactions for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the independent non-
executive Directors. The independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have been
entered into:

(a)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

in accordance with the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Auditor

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions entered into in the year ended 31
December 2023:

(a)

nothing has come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;

nothing has come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions;

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the disclosed
continuing connected transactions (excluding the Continuing
Connected Transactions with no Annual Cap), nothing has come
to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company; and
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(e) with respect to the Exclusive Option Agreements under the
Leju Contractual Arrangements with Leju entered into among
Beijing Yisheng Leju Information Services Co., Ltd, Shanghai
Leju Hao Fang Information Service Co., Ltd., and Beijing Jiajujiu
E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (collectively the “Onshore Holdcos"),
Shanghai SINA Leju Information Technology Co., Ltd., Shanghai
Yi Yue Information Technology Co., Ltd. And Beijing Maiteng
Fengshun Science and Technology Co., Ltd (collectively the
“WFOEs"”) and Mr. Xudong Zhu, Mr. Yinyu He and Mr. Weijie
Ma (collectively the “Registered Shareholders”), nothing has
come to their attention that causes Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
to believe that there was any dividend or other distribution
made by the Onshore Holdcos to the Registered Shareholders
which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group.

A summary of all significant transactions with related parties (the
“Related Party Transactions”) entered into by the Group during the
Reporting Period is contained in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. During the Reporting Period, other than the continuing
connected transactions of the Group set out and summarized on
page 50 which should be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, no
related party transactions disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions entered
into by the Group during the year under review.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's
securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable
Date, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of
public float under the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than the Rights Issue which has lapsed as disclosed in the
section headed “Updates on the Restructuring and Events after the
Reporting Period” in this report, during the Reporting Period, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange.

CHANGE IN AUDITOR IN PRECEDING THREE
YEARS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu tendered its resignation as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 20 July 2022. Following the resignation
of Deloitte Touch Tohmatsu, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited was
appointed by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy with effect from
29 July 2022. For further details, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 20 July 2022 and 29 July 2022.
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UPDATES ON THE RESTRUCTURING AND
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In order to restructure the Company’s debt obligations, including
the senior notes due 2022 and 2023 (the “Old Notes”) and the
HK$1,031,900,000 2.0% convertible note due 4 November 2023 (the
“Convertible Note"”) issued by the Company on 4 November 2020
to Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited (the “CB Holder"”), the Company
(i) entered into a restructuring support agreement with the CB Holder
(the “CB RSA"”) and (ii) entered into and launched an invitation
to holders of the Old Notes accede to a separate restructuring
support agreement (the “RSA”, and together with the CB RSA, the
"Restructuring Support Agreements”), in each case, setting forth
the terms of the Restructuring. Under each of the Restructuring
Support Agreements, the parties agreed to vote in favour of (i) a
scheme of arrangement to be effected pursuant to section 86 of
the Cayman Companies Law (the “Cayman Scheme”) and (ii) a
scheme of arrangement to be effected pursuant to sections 673 and
674 of the Companies Ordinance (the “Hong Kong Scheme”, and
together with the Cayman Scheme, the “Schemes”). As announced
by the Company on 28 November 2023, both the HK Scheme and
the Cayman Scheme were sanctioned by the High Court and Cayman
Court, respectively. However, as a result of the circumstances
separately disclosed in the Company’'s announcements dated 13
March 2024 and 28 March 2024 in relation to the Restructuring, the
Company has concluded that the Restructuring will not come into
effect. As of 28 March 2024, the Company was actively working with
its financial adviser on an alternative restructuring proposal and would
provide an update to its creditors as soon as possible and, in any
event, by the end of April 2024.

In order to fund the cash consideration under the Restructuring, the
Company launched an offer to issue 2,098,871,436 rights Shares
by way of a rights issue, on the basis of twelve (12) rights Shares
for every ten (10) Shares held by the qualifying Shareholders on the
record date (the “Rights Issue”) at the subscription price of HK$0.23
per rights Share to raise approximately HK$483 million before
expenses (assuming no new issue or repurchase of Shares on or
before the record date), subject to the satisfaction of the conditions
in relation to the Rights Issue. On 29 February 2024, the Company
received the underwriter’'s termination notice that was duly served to
the Company pursuant to the underwriting agreement related to the
Rights Issue. As a result, the the Rights Issue did not proceed and the
Rights Issue lapsed.
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In addition, in relation to the Restructuring, (i) the Company, Alibaba
Investment Limited and TM Home Limited (“TM Home") entered into
a share subscription agreement dated 2 April 2023 pursuant to which
the Company agreed to subscribe for certain shares of TM Home (the
“TM Home Share Issuance”), (i) TM Home, Shanghai ™™ Home
E-Commence Limited (E/8XIHFEEFREBEERAF]) and Zhejiang
Tmall Network Co., Ltd. (I I XFEMLE B R A F]) entered into the new
business transition agreement dated 2 April 2023, in relation to the
business operation of TM Home. Such transactions were approved by
the independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company on 27 July 2023. Since all the conditions to the first TM
Home Share issuance were satisfied, the first TM Home Share Issuance
took place on 15 August 2023, as a result of which TM Home is
currently owned by the Company and Alibaba Investment Limited as
to approximately 89.207% and 10.793%.

For further details regarding the Restructuring and transactions
entered into by the Company in relation thereto (including the TM
Home Share Issuance, the Rights Issue and the Disposal) and the
Listing Rules and Takeovers Code implications thereof, please refer to
the announcements, circulars and listing document of the Company
dated 31 March, 7, 11, 14, 18, and 25 April, 21 September, 5, 6, 7
and 12 October, 3, 10, 16 November 2022, 3 February 2023, 3 April
2023, 1 May 2023, 22 May 2023, 31 May 2023, 11 June 2023, 18
June 2023, 19 June 2023, 2 July 2023, 6 July 2023, 10 July 2023,
18 July 2023, 26 July 2023, 17 August 2023, 31 August 2023, 11
September 2023, 29 September 2023, 10 October 2023, 30 October
2023, 15 November 2023, 28 November 2023, 29 November 2023,
1 December 2023, 11 December 2023, 15 January 2024, 16 January
2024, 31 January 2024, 15 February 2024, 26 February 2024, 1
March 2024, 13 March 2024 and 28 March 2024.
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EXTRACT FROM THE AUDITOR’S REPORT

The following is an extract from the independent auditor’s report on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all
other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
RMB1,524,797,000 and net cash outflow from operating activities
of approximately RMB432,750,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities approximately RMB8,425,774,000 and approximately
RMB6,562,944,000, respectively. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon (i) the successful
completion of various debt restructuring measures; (ii) the successful
disposal of investment property and (iii) the improvement of operating
performance that certain measures to improve its financial position, to
provide liquidity and cash flows. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that would result from the failure
to complete various debt restructuring measures, the disposal of
investment property and the failure to improve its financial position,
to provide liquidity and cash flows. We consider that the material
uncertainty has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

However, in view of the extent of the multiple uncertainty relating to
(i) the successful completion of various debt restructuring measures;
(ii) the successful disposal of investment property and (iii) the
successful outcome that certain measures to improve its financial
position, to provide liquidity and cash flows, we disclaim our opinion
in respect of the material uncertainty relating to the going concern
basis.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no other significant
events that might affect the Group from 31 December 2023 and up
to 28 March 2024.

By the order of the Board

Zhou Xin
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance. The principle of the Company’s corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures and
to enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders.

The Company has complied with all the applicable principles and code
provisions as set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company’s corporate mission is “being an outstanding service
provider in the real estate industry”, advocating a corporate culture
of health, radiance and positive energy, so as to create a unique
corporate atmosphere of “healthy work, healthy life”.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company.
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors of the Company,
all the Directors confirmed that they have strictly complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises twelve members consisting of four
executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report,
the composition of the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Xin
(Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Huang Canhao
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan (Member of the Remuneration Committee)
Dr. Ding Zuyu

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Jiang Shanshan

Dr. Yang Yong

Ms. Xie Mei (resigned on 31 March 2023)

Mr. Song Jiajun (appointed on 31 March 2023)

Mr. Lv Peimei (resigned on 5 May 2023)

Mr. Chen Daiping (appointed on 4 September 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhang Bang (Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Mr. Zhu Hongchao (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
Member of the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wang Liqun (Member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Jin (Member of the Audit Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationships
between the members of the Board are disclosed under the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” on pages 15 to 27 of
this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Reporting Period, the positions of Chairman and chief
executive officer were held by Mr. Zhou Xin and Dr. Ding Zuyu,
respectively. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and the daily management and operations generally. Their respective
responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing. On 2 April
2024, Dr. Ding Zuyu resigned as the chief executive officer and Mr.
Zhou Xin was appointed as the chief executive officer.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Terms of Appointment of Non-executive Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any new director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of three years or until the third
annual general meeting of the Company from the commencement
date of the letter of appointment and is subject to retirement by
rotation at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
or until the third annual general meeting of the Company from the
commencement date of the letter of appointment and is subject to
retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company,
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgment
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of director’'s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for the Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to the Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the key methods of
attaining continuous professional development by each of the
Directors are summarized as follows:

= HEEIIRE
Attended training

Directors session

HITES

Executive Director

ERi e v

Mr. Zhou Xin

BRERA v

Mr. Huang Canhao

[ERV i S v

Dr. Cheng Li-Lan

THEEL v/

Dr. Ding Zuyu

FHITES

Non-Executive Director

5 3 22 - v

Ms. Jiang Shanshan

HBBEt v

Dr. Yang Yong

Fie 4L (R20239F3 A31 HEFHE) v/

Ms. Xie Mei (resigned on 31 March 2023)

RRBIELE (R2023F3 31 HEZ) 4

Mr. Song Jiajun (appointed on 31 March 2023)

Bim3ES L (R202345 A5 HEHE) v/

Mr. Lv Peimei (resigned on 5 May 2023)

BRICFE S0 4E (R2023F9 A4 HEZAT) 7%

Mr. Chen Daiping (appointed on 4 September 2023)
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Mr. Li Jin
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Board Meetings, General Meetings and Committee
Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the Reporting
Period, the Board held 6 meetings.

Attendance Records of Directors
During the Reporting Period, the attendance record of each Director

at the Board and committee meetings held during the Reporting
Period is as follows:

HEEERE

Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)
EEHE Exg B EES FHEES REZES BEAE

Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings
ISkt 6/6 - - 171 22
Mr. Zhou Xin
BRERE 6/6 /- -/~ - 22
Mr. Huang Canhao
RIREL 6/6 - 171 - 22
Dr. Cheng Li-Lan
THEETL 6/6 - -/~ - 22
Dr. Ding Zuyu
4+ 5/6 - /- -/~ 212
Ms. Jiang Shanshan
BEEL 6/6 - /% -/~ 212
Dr. Yang Yong
gL L 1/6 = = -/= -/~
Ms. Xie Mei®

SE(TE)C¥ERERAT —E-EERS



HE/BRRE
Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

EEpg Exg Bif£EE FHEES REZES® BEAE
Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Meetings

RREEED 5/6 /- -/~ -/~ 212

Mr. Song Jiajun@

ENE et 2/6 /- -/~ -/~ -/~

Mr. Lv Peimei®

BRAETEE 1/6 /- -/~ -/~ -~

Mr. Chen Daiping®

REERH 6/6 22 -/~ -/~ 22

Mr. Zhang Bang

Nz bl 4/6 /- 171 171 22

Mr. Zhu Hongchao

ThHEEAE 6/6 2/2 11 11 212

Mr. Wang Liqun

FHEE 6/6 212 -/~ -/~ 212

Mr. Li Jin

Bifat - Notes:

(1) M202343 A31 BEFHE -
(2)  F2023F3A31HEZRE -
(3) M2023F5ASHBEHT -

(4)  H2023F9H4BEEE -

REBE(EEEIRTAD ZFRMEXC.2.7 » BR
ERPITTEEE SR FA - EEEME
EHESINERT  EFSTFEREBT
FRITEERITER -

(1) Resigned on 31 March 2023.
(2)  Appointed on 31 March 2023.
(3)  Resigned on 5 May 2023.

(4)  Appointed on 4 September 2023.

In accordance with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, apart from
the regular board meetings above, the Chairman of the Board also
held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without

the presence of other Directors during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

87



TEERBRRBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEEET

BEXgCRU=-AEEELZR g  HIHEHEE
g FHEEERREZEE  UEEAR
FIFERBNER - ARRNMBEEZER
YR EEERERE EET B e BE
03 [ T B A B A it e Bt 52 P 48 0 E T R
2RHFPRERH -

BT EEE

ARREER(ETRADE3I 21 HER(EE
ERTRADRIENEZE S - BEHREEN
IZBAERBHAREEASENTBRER
REARESN RS (RERRER) FHE
HEBEXGRAZEGRHZELER -
B ZBem=EREMENX - IRBEE
FYHRERTNBEELE  YRBIFATE
E - RBEERBIREGLE -

EXEAE (HREFBE)UTEE:

B
E'I_If
WA
0

HHEESENARANTHEERK

WwERE

o  BBANBAMAEEREHARA
A R\ e 3 % PR B 1 I

o EMARFANIEZBEE IR

s EHERBERZEARRHINEEK
2GRS

s EEAXNBERBIRE EARF

BREFAIBARRMBERE - WEHEH
NEAM T EAI G EENNETTARER -

SE(TE)CEXERBRAT —T=FEHE

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee for overseeing specific aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’'s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal controls system (including
risk management) of the Group, review and approve connected
transactions and provide advice and comments to the board of
Directors. The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Zhang Bang, Mr. Li Jin, and Mr. Wang Liqun, all independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhang Bang is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, the
following matters:

o assisting the Board in reviewing the financial information and
reporting process of the Company;

o monitoring and reviewing risk management and internal control
systems of the Company through the internal audit department;

o reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company;

o reviewing the scope of audit and appointment of external
auditor of the Company; and

o supervising internal investigation and reviewing the
arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee met 2 times
to review the Company’s annual results and annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and the interim results and the
interim results and interim report for the six months ended 30 June
2023. During the meeting, the Audit Committee also reviewed
the significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance matters, risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, scope of work and appointment of
external auditor, connected transactions and arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met twice with the external auditors
without the presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix
14) to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to our Directors and other senior management.
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Zhu Hongchao, Dr. Cheng Li-Lan, and Mr. Wang Liqun. Dr. Cheng Li-
Lan is an executive Director, and Mr. Zhu Hongchao and Mr. Wang
Ligun are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhu Hongchao is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

J reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management;

o reviewing and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors;

o reviewing and make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration all
Directors and senior management; and

o establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee met
once to review and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy of the Directors and senior management, review
the remuneration of the new non-executive Directors upon their
appointment to the Board, and other related matters.

Details of the fees and other emoluments paid or payable to the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note
13 to the audited consolidated financial statements contained in this
annual report.

The remuneration of the members of senior management by band for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

EREEBREAH

Number of members of

48 Bl Remuneration bands senior management

0& 702 1,000,000/5 7T HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 2

1,000,001 7C£2,000,000/8 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1

#Et Total 3
REZES Nomination Committee
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The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code in Appendix C1
(formerly Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our
Board on the appointment of Directors and management of Board
succession. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhou Xin, Mr. Wang Liqun, and Mr. Zhu Hongchao. Mr.
Zhou Xin is an executive Director, and Mr. Wang Liqun and Mr. Zhu
Hongchao are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhou Xin is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:
° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors;

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors; and

o assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee met once
to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (ii)
consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting; and (iii) review
the qualifications of the new non-executive Directors in relation to
their appointment to the Board.

Board Diversity Policy and Mechanisms for Independent
View and Input

On 4 July 2018, the Company has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of aspects, including, but not limited to, gender, age, educational
background, ethnicity, professional (including regional and industry)
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service (the “Diversity
Perspectives”).

In identifying and nominating candidates for appointment, the Board
will have regard to the Diversity Perspectives and any other factors
considered appropriate by the Nomination Committee. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and expected contribution that the
selected candidate(s) will bring to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such Diversity Perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company recognises that independence of the Board is a key
element of good corporate governance. The Company has established
effective mechanisms, including but not limited to entitling the
Directors and Committee members to seek independent professional
advice on matters relating to the Company where appropriate at
the Company’s expense, to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board. These mechanisms in place are subject
to annual review by the Board that underpins a strong independent
Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Diversity Policy periodically

to ensure its effectiveness and will recommend revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval as appropriate.
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had a total of 12
Directors, covering different genders and a broad age distribution.
There is a diverse mix of educational background and professional
experience. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Diversity
Policy and considers that there is appropriate balance among the
Board members in terms of skills, experience and perspectives. The
Company will continue to maintain the current gender diversity on
the Board and the Nomination Committee will pro-actively consider
the increase in the proportion of female members when selecting
and making recommendations on suitable candidates for Board
membership.

Gender Diversity

The Company’s employees (including senior management) consist of
a majority of female. As at 31 December 2023, out of the Company’s
3,158 employees, approximately 42.91% were men and 57.09% were
women. The Company considers the current gender diversity to be
satisfactory and in order to maintain gender diversity at the employee
level, the Company welcomes people of any gender to join, and
promises to provide equal opportunities to employees of all genders
in terms of recruitment, training and development, opportunities for
advancement, remuneration and benefits. The Company will continue
to ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at
mid to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time to
ensure gender diversity of the Board.

Director Nomination Policy

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company has adopted a
director nomination policy for election of directors (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018. Such policy sets out
the criteria and procedure in the nomination and appointment of
Directors, and ensures that the Board will maintain a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company. The Board believes that the defined selection process is
good for corporate governance in ensuring the Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level, and enhancing Board
effectiveness and diversity.

According to the Director Nomination Policy:
(i)  the Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for

selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee;
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(i)  the Nomination Committee shall identify, consider and
recommend suitable individuals to the Board to consider and
to make recommendations to the Shareholders for election of
Directors at a general meeting either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board;

(iii) in assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee may
make reference to certain selection criteria, such as character,
integrity, professional qualifications and skills, commitment in
respect of available time, and diversity in all aspects; and

(iv)  the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board would review the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development of
the directors and the senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In accordance with code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, the
Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 27
March 2019, which outlines the principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the Shareholders.
According to the Dividend Policy:

(i)  the Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio, and the Board has absolute discretion to declare and
distribute dividends to the Shareholders subject to the Articles of
Association and all applicable laws and regulations and certain
factors which the Board shall take into account in assessing the
declaration and payment of dividends, such as financial results,
cash flows situation, business conditions and strategies, future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure
plans, and restrictions on the payment of dividend;
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(i) the Company’s ability to pay dividends depends substantially
on the receipt of cash contributions (i.e. dividends) from its
subsidiaries. The ability of these subsidiaries to pay dividends and
make other payments to the Company will likewise be restricted
by the requirements in their constitutional documents and the
relevant laws and regulations of the jurisdiction to which they
are formed and other applicable laws and regulations; and

(iiiy dividends, if declared, may be paid in cash or by shares.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company during the
Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company, Zhonghui
Anda CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 151 to 153 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board oversees risk management functions directly and
also through the Audit Committee and the senior management, and
will assess the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems at least once a year.
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The senior management is responsible for the overall implementation
of risk management and internal control plans and policies
determined by the Board and managing the risks in connection with
all of the Company’s business operations. The senior management
identifies, assess and take measures against any significant risks that
the Company is facing, and reviews the risk assessment report on a
quarterly basis and reports to the Board on a semi-annual basis.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and monitoring and overseeing the risk management and internal
control systems through the internal audit department, and reporting
and making recommendations to the Board where appropriate.

The internal audit department oversees the risk management
and internal control systems under the supervision of the Audit
Committee by performing independent audit on the effectiveness and
completeness of the risk management and internal control systems.
It identifies any material risks and makes recommendations on the
improvement and rectification plans and measures and conducts
follow-up audits with regard to the identified issues to ensure the
planned remedial measures that have been duly implemented. The
internal audit department operates independently from the Company’s
business centers and departments and directly reports the audit
findings and follow-up status to the Audit Committee on a quarterly
basis.

The main responsibilities of the internal audit department are set out
below:

1. In accordance with the requirements and targets of the business
operation and development, the Company will establish and
improve its compliance and internal control systems of the
Group to prevent unauthorized appropriation of assets of the
Group;

2. In line with the corporate strategy and objectives, the Company
will prepare a general scheme for compliance review, and
identify specific review scope and procedures by taking into
consideration various operation segment and management
models;

3. On a quarterly/annual basis, the review will be carried out
either jointly or severally, and on-site inspection will be
implemented through all business processes for the purposes
of exercising related control, including but not limited to
fund budget, contract approval, and procedural review. The
Company will identify potential risks and control deficiency that
has been found, and produce audit findings and rectification
recommendations; and
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4. The management will be provided reliable financial information
on a timely basis for the purposes of preparing quarterly
financial statements so as to analyze and verify the differences
of the budgets by the Company.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings by the internal
audit department, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31 December 2023, and considered that
such systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders are timely
and fully informed about the material developments in the Company’s
business, the Board has adopted the inside information Disclosure
Policy regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. As
such, the inside information will not be passed on to any external

party.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

A breakdown of the remuneration payable to the external Auditor of
the Company, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, in respect of the audit
services and the non-audit services for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out below:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit (EfF24%) is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services
provider specialising in corporate services, and has over 11 years of
experience in corporate secretarial field. He is an associate member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. In addition, he
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree in finance from the University
of Queensland, Australia and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese law
from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit's primary corporate contact person at the
Company is Dr. Cheng Li-Lan, who is an executive director and the
chief financial officer of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Cheng Ching Kit had
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 30 June 2023, the Company made certain amendments to the
existing amended and restated memorandum of association and
articles of association ("M&AA") of the Company and adopted the
second amended and restated M&AA of the Company, to bring the
M&AA to comply with the core shareholders’ protection requirements
as set out in Appendix A1 (formerly Appendix 3) to the Listing Rules.
For further details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated
17 May 2023.

A latest version of the M&AA is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, general
meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares of
the Company which as that date carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition
of any one member which is a recognized clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings
may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written requisition
to require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a director of the Company are published on the Company’s
website.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:
Address : 11/F, Yinli Building

383 Guangyan Road,

Jing'an District

Shanghai 200072, China

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email . ir@ehousechina.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. The information of the Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy, which sets out a number
of ways to ensure effective and efficient communication with
shareholders is achieved, including but not limited to our responses
to shareholders’ enquiries, publication of corporate communications
(in both English and Chinese), posting of relevant information on the
Company’s website, shareholders’ meetings and investment market
communications, to ensure that shareholders’ enquiries and view are
appropriately addressed.

The Company discloses information and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with the Listing Rules,
the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company
is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful
and complete, thereby enabling Shareholders, investors as well as the
public to make rational and informed decisions.
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After reviewing the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy including steps taken at the
annual general meeting and other general meetings, and the handling
of shareholders’ queries received (if any), the Board is of the view
that, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the shareholders’
communication policy remained effective.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN

The auditors of the Company have set out in the consolidated financial
statements for the Reporting Period multiple material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Since 2022,
China’s real estate industry experienced unprecedented challenge and
turmoil. The majority of clients of the Group faced sharply decreased
sales and serious liquidity constraints and many of them defaulted on
their external liabilities. This led to a substantial decline in the Group's
revenues and cash position. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The management
and Board has viewed the disclaimer of opinion and considered it to
be reasonable. The audit committee has also reviewed and agreed
with the management and Board’s position. The Company’s auditors
consider that if there is no material change in the Company's financial
status and on the basis that the Group successfully completes and
implements the Company’s plan to improve the Group's financial
position, and to provide liquidity and cash flows, the disclaimer of
opinion is expected to be removed from the Company's financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024. Further details are
set out in the Report of the Directors in this annual report and Note 2
of the consolidated financial statements.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Preparation Standard

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (hereinafter
referred to as "ESG Report” or “this Report”) has been prepared in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide in Appendix C2 (formerly Appendix 27) of the Listing Rules
issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter
referred to as the "Stock Exchange”).

Reporting Period

This Report describes the ESG approach and performance of E-House
(China) Enterprise Holdings Limited from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise indicated, this Report covers the four main business
operations of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (hereinafter
referred to as the “"Company”, “E-House”, “we"” or "us”) being
(i) real estate agency services in the primary market; (i) real estate
brokerage network services; (iii) real estate data and consulting
services; and (iv) digital marketing services.

Data Sources

This Report accurately reflects the ESG activities carried out by
E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited. This Report adopts the
information and data in the official documents and statistics reports.
The data have not been audited by the independent auditor of
E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited.
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Disclosures

This Report discloses information which is in compliance with the
materiality principle for the preparation of the ESG Report in the ESG
Reporting Guide to ensure the content disclosed can reflect both the
strategic priorities of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
and the concerns of key stakeholders of E-House (China) Enterprise
Holdings Limited (investors, government/regulatory authorities,
employees, customers, suppliers and communities, etc.).

Way of Access

This Report is available for download at the website of E-House
(China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (www.ehousechina.com) or the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY MANAGEMENT

The Company is committed to achieving sustainable development in
respect of economic, social and environmental aspects, continuously
optimizing management in terms of market services, employee
development, social public welfare and low carbon operation,
actively communicating with each stakeholder, and earnestly being a
corporate citizen so as to earn social respect.
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Management Approach

The Company has established an ESG governance structure consisting
of the decision-making level, management level and execution level
to manage the Company’s ESG-related matters in all aspects. The
Board is the highest decision-making body for ESG management and
is generally responsible for the management and decision making
of ESG-related matters. The management sets the Company's
ESG management objectives and organizes the implementation of
ESG-related matters. Each department and branch of the Company
forms the execution level of the ESG governance structure, which is
responsible for the specific implementation of the Company’s ESG
related matters, cooperates with the management to complete ESG
related tasks. The Company has integrated ESG goals into the work
plan and as part of the operation of each department and branch
of the Company, assessed potential risks, and effectively integrate
resources, thus ensuring the responding measures to be conducted
in an orderly way and effectively promoting the implementation and
improvement of specific tasks of ESG.

£

Board

E®R
Reporting

ESG #17/ 4
ESG Executive
Group

AEE

1T
Administration
Department

Department

Human Resources

SEHER
Legal Affairs
Department

I®
Labor Union

7 FER R s

Brand Center
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Stakeholder Engagement

We value the expectations and opinions of our stakeholders. Trust is
the cornerstone for us to maintain a good and long-term relationship
with stakeholders. We continue to improve the communication
mechanism with each stakeholder, and fully consider the demands
of each stakeholder, including investors, government/regulatory
authorities, employees, customers, suppliers, and communities in
order to jointly seek for sustainable development.

AEmMEREERHTEARE 2k This Report provides our stakeholders with the latest information

ERTEMNEZHMRIBORHEE » E=F about the Company’s activities and performance in ESG aspects,

HARDEANESEESEMNERE - conveying the Company’s willingness to create the best value for its
stakeholders.

Bk HARRBIHE k&R *

Stakeholders Expectations on the Company Channels of feedback

REH RO AR RAEF J i s L ETN-]

Investors Protection of shareholders’ rights and interests General meetings

BT/ BE
Government/Regulatory
Authorities
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KEERKERBES

Timely and accurate disclosure of relevant information

TEARAE

Improvement of corporate governance

BREE

Compliance operation

BREE

Compliance operation

FEEMR

Equal employment

REEZ S
Health and safety

RIEEE
Environmental responsibility

)
Giving back to society

X
oft

MRS

Financial reports

REE®RS

Investor reports

NGIE S

Company news

BREE

Compliance report

EBRE

Supervision and inspection

SEEE Mg

Participate in conferences/seminars

FFAI AT ERER

Application for licensing documents
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Stakeholders Expectations on the Company Channels of feedback
BT BEFNEMmERN BB
Employees Competitive remuneration and benefits Email and interview
B R AN R R
Training and capacity building Training and career development
BEERE IR
Career development Complaint mechanism
fERREAZ B
Health and safety
P EPmEE EPmEERAE
Customers Customer satisfaction Customer satisfaction survey
fRisE S BE&EZ 58
Service quality Daily operation/interaction
BBALRIE BEPREH LB
Privacy protection Customer service center/hotline
HIERS HEFREANER RZ - g
Suppliers Admittance management of suppliers Tendering, seminars
HIERR {4 e R AR (A
Evaluation of suppliers Admittance and evaluation of suppliers
HEBERRE B ER
Protection of suppliers’ interests On-site inspections
HEREE HERM
Cooperation with suppliers Daily interaction
ftE iR ARt R E®
Communities Local development Convening community meetings

HEBRE
Promoting employment

Bt B R

Devoting to community services

REBRIRE
Protection of natural environment

ISR E

Recruitment notices

N IED)
Charitable activities

At [ AR 75

Community services
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Importance to stakeholders

168

Relevant

Materiality Principle

Having communicated and conducted surveys with internal and
external stakeholders of the Company, we have collected many
suggestions. From the dimensions of both the impact on the
Company’s operations and the impact on our stakeholders, we have
carried out risk evaluation and analysis by taking into account the
risk factors and the opportunities related to environment, social and
governance, scored and ranked the ESG issues of the Company to
reflect our material impacts on the environment and society and
better respond to the expectations and demands from stakeholders.

Set out below is a matrix of our key issues:

FEEE

Very important

BEAQNFEENERMS

Importance to the Company’s operation
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FEEE

Very important
EnEE

Product quality
ARG IR =

Service assurance
[EESEE:S

Business ethics
BETH#R

Employee development

BE

Important
LI

Labor rights
IR

Employee development
fRERL R

Health and safety
Zany/N

Social public welfare
HrEgEEE

Supply chain
management

il
Relevant

KA E =

Low carbon operation
REEYEIE

Waste management
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MARKET RESPONSIBILITY

We are committed to becoming a comprehensive service platform
for giant-level transactions in China’s real estate industry, serving a
number of developers, intermediaries and asset owners, with the full
business coverage of direct sales. The three unique businesses under
E-House, namely, real estate agency services in the primary market,
real estate brokerage network services, and real estate data and
consulting services cover a wide range of services, from new home
agency services, real estate brokerage services, to real estate big
data application services to create the two major service platforms
of trading services and empowerment services. It is a combined
powerhouse, serving 100% of China’s top 100 developers, to jointly
explore and reach a new highpoint in the post-real estate era.

Industry Benchmark

E-House is a leading, innovative, big data-based real estate industry
chain service provider in China. Our three unique businesses: real
estate agency services in the primary market, real estate brokerage
network services, and real estate data and consulting services focus
on the demand for real estate product side and consumer side. We
rely on modern information technology for achieving full coverage of
the real estate transaction service industry chain and strive to be an
excellent server in the real estate industry.

5E (RE) 1t

E-House (China) Enterprise

—FEREXEK
Real estate agency services
in the primary market

B E R LR R
Real estate brokerage
network services

B E BB K A R
Real estate data and
consulting services
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Real Estate Agency Services in the Primary Market

Over the past two decades, the primary market agency service of
E-house has provided services to more than 10,000 real estate
projects across over 200 cities in the country and continued setting
new records for the real estate market. As the cornerstone of
the Company, the primary market agency service sector has been
dedicated to delivering integrated marketing solutions for new home
real estate and set industry benchmarks with its distinctive advantages.
Winning the first places in the “Top 500 Service Brands of Real Estate
Development Enterprises in China — Marketing Agency Category” for
consecutive years reflects the recognition by our customers, which is
an encouragement to the Company and also serves as a drive for us.

Real Estate Brokerage Network Services

Since its establishment in January 2016, the real estate brokerage
network service of E-House has been adhering to the concepts of
“co-construction, co-development and win-win”. The vast resources
of E-House have provided a comprehensive system for small and
medium-sized micro-brokers in the country. In 2023, the real estate
brokerage network service sector of E-House continued to maintain its
leading position in the industry, focusing on the two major areas of
new home and secondary real estate. It is empowered through various
dimensions, such as by brands, systems, technologies, and services,
and provides a series of practical products to developers, channels,
and brokerage stores. The products include: You Fang Primary Market
Platform 2.0 (i 2.0), Fen Xiang lJia (7= %), Multiple Listing
Chain (A#&$#), Fangyou Management System 2.0 (BEERERE
Z#% 2.0), Dian Yong Bao (B{HE), Jian Dan Mei Fang (¥ X5E),
Fangyou College (E/&%FPt) and Fangyou Direct Recruitment (B&
HHE), etc. Their functions cover new home linkage, multiple listings,
systems, marketing tools, commission products, trainings, recruitment
and other aspects of store management and business development.
With the in-depth cooperation between developers and brokerage
companies, E-House will open a broader blue ocean space for both
parties.
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Real Estate Data and Consulting Services

Since the launch of the real estate data and consulting services in
2006, E-House has been intensively engaged in the field of data. It
has the industry-leading, widest coverage, finest, and diverse and
heterogeneous real estate data acquisition capabilities; secondly,
its data governance, smart and agile technical capabilities, such
as big data computing power and Al machine learning, have been
continuously enhanced over the years; from data to big data, from
single database products to multi-field data scenario applications,
E-House has always been leading the digitalization direction of the
real estate industry, empowering enterprises to create more value.

In December 2023, the Real Estate Digital Laboratory (F#E&FLE
% =) jointly developed by CRIC and Shandong University passed the
completion inspection by industry experts. With the large datasets and
technical capabilities of CRIC, the laboratory enables the Company
to explore possibilities of the adoption of digital and big data
technologies in the real estate industry.

imBFCERE
CRIC Digital Laboratory
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On 26 December 2023, at the “2023 Excellent Institutions and
Excellent Cases of Digital Economy Application in Real Estate Industry
Conference (2023 FRHETREFKERABEKE EFF
#1)" organized by China Real Estate Association, the Real Estate
Digital Laboratory was selected as “2023 Excellent Case of Digital
Economy Application (2023 FHFLEEAEFZEA))” due to its
diverse features of large datasets, 3D scanning, landscape modelling,
VR simulation, 3D display, 3D printing, 360 holographic projection
etc. which created a tool integrating teaching, practical training and
research capabilities. The laboratory is an innovative exploration of
new data architectures and techniques for collecting, processing,
managing and analyzing the gamut of data across the real estate
industry.

R A B 22 BF N DL 55 = B e IR

RifmBFLERERE[BFEBEERBESED
CRIC Digital Laboratory awarded “Excellent Case of Digital Economy Application”
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Leading Digital Development

The Company will adhere to the “technology-enabled and smart
services-based” development ambition, seize industry opportunities,
and actively participate in digital development. As a striver, integrator
and leader in the real estate industry, the Company strives to serve
a number of developers, intermediaries and asset owners. The
Company’s strategic objective is to create a “new infrastructure” in
the real estate sector, leading the digital and intelligent upgrade of
transactions and operations across the sector. The Company will also
build a data asset platform ecosystem in the real estate sector to
promote the sharing and application of all data assets in the industry.
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Real Estate Digital Marketing

In the real estate digital marketing sector, the Company has
developed a digital marketing strategy and built a full-chain platform
for online and offline real estate digital marketing. The ongoing
strategic partnership with Alibaba Group is part of the Company’s
digital marketing push, which aims to transform how real estate
transactions are conducted by crafting a new infrastructure that
enables online and offline real estate transactions, digital marketing
and post-transaction related services. Meanwhile, Leju has also
supported our cooperation with Alibaba Group to build the online
real estate transaction platform.

In May 2023, after completing the construction of its information
and transaction infrastructures, the Company released its third
yearly strategy focusing on the development of a “real estate
digital marketing ecosystem (EHEHFILEIHEAL)" under which
merchants are able to complete transactions along with the platform
as well as comprehensive services delivered by E-house.

During the reporting period, over 75 top real estate companies with
300 new home projects joined the platform. The secondary business
covered 100 cities with more than 10,000 broker partners and 1.25
million listed properties. The rental business launched more than
300,000 rental properties with over 6,000 agencies, and was capable
of online settlement of distribution commissions. The merchant
trading business has covered 20 cities with more than 10,000
brokerage stores.

Real Estate Digital Services

In the real estate digital marketing sector, adhering to the digital
service strategy centered on “CRIC Big Data”, the Company built a
real estate digital solution platform ecosystem: through giving full
play to the advantages of real estate big data and digitalization. The
Company will develop CRIC into a leading real estate digital solution
provider in China. It will continue to maintain its leading position in
big data services in residential development, follow the trend of real
estate development, continue to maintain its consistent advantage,
optimize the structure of high-quality customers, and carry out digital
innovation and exploration to help real estate developers and property
buyers achieve an ecological closed-loop system from precise land
acquisition, precise quality to precise customer acquisition.
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Based on its own big data resources, CRIC launched the CIPIC
digital platform in 2022. At present, based on the authorized use
of the public real estate data of Shanghai, the platform has carried
out technological innovation to support upstream and downstream
businesses to achieve dynamic and comprehensive management and
sharing of real estate information.
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CIPIC digital platform

In July 2023, the World Artificial Intelligence Conference (WAIC)
granted the CIPIC digital platform the “Outstanding Case Award for
Global Open Data Value Contribution Excellence Case Set (2019-2023)
(2RFARBEEEERMEBARNIK(2019-2023))EFEAHIE)" jointly
compiled by the State Information Center (Administration Center of
China E-government Network), the Information Research Institute of
Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences, and the Shanghai Smart City
Development Research Institute.
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Outstanding Gase Award for "Global Open Data Value Contribution Excellent Case Set (2019-2023)"
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Guided by China Real Estate Association, the 6th CIOC Real Estate
Digital Summit was successfully held by the digital science and
technology real estate branch of China Real Estate Association in
October 2023 with E-House CRIC as the host. With the theme of
“Adhering, Breaking, and Emergence”, the Summit led participants
to jointly explore the breakthroughs and changes in digital
transformation, and identify opportunities of the digital technology
and business models to achieve sustainable development of the real
estate industry.
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Theme of 2023 CIOC Summit

Based on the research capacity of CRIC and evaluation by industry
experts, the Summit also released the “2023 Real Estate Digital Power
Evaluation List (2023 "BEHF HFHEE)", which revealed the
commonalities and characteristics of outstanding real estate digital
transformation projects, the direction of future digital technologies,
and the possibility and feasibility of the utilization of digital
technologies in the real estate industry.
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CIOC Real Estate Digital Summit
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R EEEENMENE - AOEERN With its professional research power, highly praised consulting service
BRARS N A REFRAREURERMES capability and outstanding performance in applications of big data
R - REIREATEIE 10058+ 95% A in recent years, CRIC has been serving more than 95% of the Top
R WARKN - EMNEEERMH 100 real estate enterprises for a long period of time, and has been
THESKLSTHEZEMBRATR IR committed to providing comprehensive online and offline real estate
2023F 11 AM20232 R HA S LEF solutions for the government, companies and property buyers, and
[EBEERE] BERECHT L8R was awarded the “Shanghai Data Certificate” at the 2023 Global
mhe ] EFZER - mmin LR R M Digital Business Conference in November 2023 which authorized it to
——RTHERFERHFREER - [ use the designation of “Shanghai Data Brand”. It was the only real
H-ir BMER2023F 11 A S IEEE estate digital solution provider that has won the honour. Meanwhile,

BN AEES pﬁi - =R (BERR ] CRIC obtained the “Data Management Capability Maturity Assessment
i‘%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ”ﬂi ER| 2B ENKFE - Model (DCMI\/I) Level-3 (Stable Class) Certificate (BUEE I8 IR E
EMFEE - ZHAERA))” in November 2023 indicating that its data

management capability has reached the national advanced level.
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Service Assurance

We are committed to providing efficient and quality services to our
customers. During the business operation process and after the
completion of our services, we maintain appropriate contact with
customers, and adjust our services according to the feedback that we
have obtained from customers in a timely manner. We also visit our
customers annually on a pro rata basis to understand the opinions
of our customers and maintain business relationship with them.
Customer satisfaction survey not only improves our relationship with
our customers, but also enables us to have a clearer understanding of
the future development of our customers’ businesses in order to seek
for further cooperation opportunities with them.

Marketing Compliance

We have established showcase management systems, and emphasized
how to identify false propaganda and false advertising/promotional
content, as well as correct propaganda methods and wording in our
employee trainings to ensure the marketing is in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. The business management department
has set up company-level supervision teams and city-level supervision
teams, and issued certain compliance management requirements,
which have been delivered to and signed by each showcase and store
for execution and self-examination as required. Each city supervision
team inspects project sites and stores every month, including
reception process of the staff in the showcases, data management
and control, the normalization and legality of the stores’ operation
and transaction security. The results of the self-examination are
signed and confirmed by the responsible staff and then discussed at
the operational meetings, and the discussion results are sent to each
city where we operate as guidance. The supervision teams under the
Company’s business management department supervise and check
the showcases and stores on a regular basis, and conduct satisfaction
surveys on our customers to ensure the normative work and behavior
of the staff in the showcase and stores. If any problem is found, they
will urge an immediate rectification and report to the Company's
senior management.
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Customer Privacy Protection

We attach importance to the protection of customer data and
privacy. Our business development department is responsible for the
preparation and update of customer information files, which cover
basic information of customers, customer features and business
status. Upon joining us, all employees are required to sign the
Employee Manual and the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
which emphasizes that customer information, as an important file,
must be kept prudently and must not be circulated or disclosed to
outside parties. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics clarifies
the scope and level of confidentiality, confidentiality measures and
regulatory responsibilities.

During the daily operation process, the data collected are stored in
our internal sales management system. Each of our relevant staff,
who has access to such information, has a username and passcode
to access the internal sales management system, the access of which
is strictly based on the scope of authority to limit the possibility of
unnecessary access to such property buyer information. All property
buyer information is centrally managed by our information technology
("IT") department and stored in our cloud-based data center. Our
internal sales management system and our CRIC systems (a series of
proprietary real estate databases and analysis systems developed and
owned by the Company) are separate systems under independent
management. We do not collect or store personal information of
individuals (e.g., identity card numbers) in our CRIC systems, nor
do we use our internal property buyer databases to facilitate the
provision of real estate data and consulting services.

We have adopted internal policies and implemented measures in
relation to the collection, usage and storage of personal information
to ensure that we comply with the requirements under relevant
laws and regulations. We have adopted internal security measures
to prevent, detect and deal with potential issues relating to data
leakage, security breach and unauthorized access to our systems and
the data stored therein. We require all of our employees to keep
personal information confidential. Upon joining us, each employee
has to sign relevant undertakings and pass our internal training
and tests. For any employees who need to access our internal sales
management system, an application has to be made based on our
internal procedures and unauthorized copy or transmission of such
data is prohibited. In the case of change of position or termination of
employment, access authorization will be revoked. Data collection and
data storage are managed by different internal teams. We review our
data back-up systems from time to time in order to ensure that they
are well-maintained and functional. We will take internal discipline
measures or even terminate the employment to penalize violation of
our internal data protection policies. In case of serious violations, we
reserve the right to take further legal action.
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Customer Feedback

We have established a complaint handling line, and the customer
service staff from business management department will provide
professional answers for each complaint case and keep a record of it.
They will also track the causes and claims of the person who filed the
complaint and follow-up solutions, to make sure that the problem will
be reflected to relevant person in charge to solve in the first place.
If the question is not answered on time, we will actively keep good
communication and contact with the person who filed the complaint.
The business management department will dispatch a complaint
handling officer to conduct a series of due diligence investigations
on the case to confirm the cause of the complaint, properly handle
it and provide timely feedback. In 2023, we did not receive any
service-related complaints.

Since we provide services to our customers, we are not involved in
any recall of the products sold for safety or health reasons, or in any
quality verification process or product recall.

Intellectual Property Rights Protection

We value the management of intellectual property rights. With
reference to the definition of intellectual property rights in the
released the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, all inventions,
computer software and technologies developed by our employees
which they develop or work on by using the materials and technical
resources of the Company are the property of the Company. We
require that all employees shall strictly perform confidentiality
obligations, and may not publish or disclose relevant information
without approval. The legal department pays close attention to
the protection of the Company’s intellectual property rights. After
receiving the legal disputes related to intellectual property rights,
the IT department promptly informs the legal department to follow
up. After understanding the disputes, the legal department will put
forward solutions and actively contact and communicate with the
counterparty.
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Supply Chain Management

We are committed to maintaining a business environment of integrity
by actively fulfilling our social responsibilities and strictly implementing
the corresponding obligations in accordance with the contract terms.
We regularly conduct business training for procurement personnel
and assessments of suppliers. We have formulated the Administrative
Management System to implement detailed requirements for
the selection, evaluation criteria of suppliers and supply chain
management.

Our suppliers are mainly labor dispatch agencies, office premise
suppliers, decoration service providers, advertising companies and
real estate brokers that assist in the sale of real estate in the primary
market. The Company carries out cooperation with suppliers by
upholding the philosophy of openness, transparency and mutual
benefits and grows with them. The Company formulated and
implemented the Suppliers Management System to all of our suppliers
to improve procurement system and process. In addition to focusing
on the quality of the products and services provided by suppliers,
the Company also included suppliers’ business ethics, environment
implication, labor rights and interests, occupational health and
safety into its management system. If the supplier does not meet the
requirements of continuing service in the annual assessment, we will
remove them from the list of qualified suppliers.

We strive to combine local sourcing with a diversified supply chain
and encourage suppliers from different regions, different ethnic
groups, cultures and races to join our supply chain system in a
fair way. We also actively seek for local excellent suppliers, greatly
lowering procurement and transportation costs and promoting
local economic development, so as to create local employment
opportunities, reduce transportation energy consumption and carbon
emissions and minimize the impact on the environment.
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Business Ethics

In order to create a positive business environment and ensure
the healthy development of the Company, we have formulated
the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which contains specific
provisions on competition and fair trade, conflicts of interest, gifts
and hospitality, protection and use of corporate property, intellectual
property and confidentiality, accuracy of financial reports and other
publicity materials, media relations, corporate records, regulatory
compliance, etc. We have also established the Anti-Fraud Work
Regulations to define the fraud and bribery conduct and carried out
effective management through system distribution, video promotion
and anti-fraud training. Senior management takes the lead in
complying with relevant rules and regulations and encourages and
helps employees make the right choices at work. We have set up
the Principles for the Relationship between the Enterprise and the
Government to regulate the conduct of employees when dealing
with government officials, and at the same time disseminated related
matters about anti-corruption. Furthermore, we have formulated
the Anti-Money Laundering Policy to identify the money laundering
behavior that may be encountered during the real estate transactions
by real estate development enterprises and brokers and to specify
the anti-money laundering obligations of employees and concrete
measures to be taken by employees pursuant to the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Notice on Regulating Housing Purchase
Financing and Strengthening Anti-Money Laundering Work issued by
the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, the People's
Bank of China and the China Banking Regulatory Commission and the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Anti-money Laundering.

Our newly recruited employees shall sign the Employee Manual and
the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which stipulates the scope
of ethics and possible conflicts of interest. We regularly update
the Employee Manual to clarify the business practices and ethics
standards of employees. Our human resources department organizes
professional ethics training annually, and employees are required to
participate in online ethics training, including basic requirements of
professional ethics and related requirements in terms of customer
and competition, procurement and relationship with suppliers, and
property and information security. At the same time, we organize
offline training from time to time through inviting a dedicated training
team to provide ethics guide for employees. In 2023, we also held
anti-corruption training for all employees and directors.
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Our business management department regularly supervises and
inspects the work and behavior practices of employees, and conducts
customer satisfaction interviews and investigations to understand
whether the employees’ behavior practices is legal and compliant.
Report or complaint by employees can be submitted to their
immediate supervisor or directly to the human resources department
of the Company. If a related matter is not solved after the submission
of a complaint or the employee has concerns about retaliation, they
can report to the compliance officer by email, phone or post. We are
committed to protecting whistle-blowers and employees can report in
an anonymous form.

In 2023, the Company did not find any concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices that were brought against the Company
or its employees.

EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY

We consider our employees as the cornerstone of our business
growth. We adhere to the “people-oriented” principle and are
committed to creating an equal, inclusive and warm working
environment for employees, providing diversified training methods,
abundant learning resources, and sound development channels to
foster mutual growth of the employees and the Company. In 2023,
we continued our inputs in employee health, career development, and
future talent cultivation as usual.

Labor Rights

We actively protect the rights and interests of employees. By
providing equal employment opportunities and building a complete
remuneration and benefits system, we protect the vital interests
of employees, stimulate their enthusiasm for work, and promote
enterprise development.
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Equal Employment Opportunities

E-House strictly complies with relevant national laws and regulations.
The Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Implementation
Regulations for the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Regulations on Employee Annual Paid Vacations, the Regulations on
Work-Related Injury Insurance, the Measures for Payment of Wages by
Enterprises, and the Regulations Concerning the Labor Protection of
Female Staff and Workers are implemented and operated to respect
and protect the legitimate rights and interests of employees, and
provide employees with generous benefits.

In pursuit of the principles of equal and transparent talent
recruitment, we identify suitable talents in accordance with the
qualifications of the candidates, including their academic records
and work experiences. We prohibit any discrimination against race,
nationality, skin color, religion, physical disability, gender, community
membership or marital status. Any candidate who qualifies for the
relevant position will be provided with an equal opportunity for an
interview, and we are committed to providing our employees with
a safe workplace, as well as equal and diverse career development
paths.

The Employee Manual contains employment provisions that strictly
stipulate that the establishment of an employment relationship
between the Company and its employees must be subject to the laws,
regulations and Company policies. We resolutely oppose the use of
child labor or forced labor, and prohibit any situation involving the
use of child labor or forced labor, in which case, our employees may
report the violation to the compliance officer by email, telephone,
or mail. We also establish the Communist Party Committee, Young
Communist League Committee, and labor union, and respect their
free will to join an association or the labor union. In 2023, we did
not identify any incident involving the employment of children, forced
labor, or discrimination.

The Company implements a standard system for working hours which
prescribes 8 working hours a day and 40 hours a week. General
managerial staff work five days a week and rest for two days. We
also implement “unscheduled working system” or “comprehensive
calculation of working hours system” according to our operational
requirements or for certain positions as per their nature of demand.
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We value the diversification of our employee structure and recruit
employees with different backgrounds to create a more inclusive
corporate culture. As of the end of the reporting period, E-House
had 3,158 employees in total, including 1,355 males and 1,803
females. In 2023, the male/female composition ratio of our employees
was 1: 1.33, and the proportion of female employees increased by
approximately 1% as compared with 2022.

ETMRIEE BT FRREE
Structure of employees by gender Structure of employees by age
3.01%
o,
42.9% 25.05%
71.94%
57.1%
> z
Male Female 0T LT 31-49%% A
TENHFHENER Complete Remuneration and Benefits System

BRRETHENFHENER  HHmE
B EAEE - EARESD - TIEER -
RGBS REE - RERMAEEREX
BieHE) a1 3B) AR I E 4R ) o BR 1
THEHMAERNEZT A -

EFMTE  RARBEE I TIERE -
EARRMTIEFR - TEREEKFE - T
1EREE RS/ SBERBEITHSE T
BTERKFEREBEEETINEARATE
AT E - BFRRL - SEAR AR
&/ MEE - A ZMERBAEER
BrRrgEgS - AREe S AENER
BRBBERBEAQNFRLERE  BEIRE
ATKEZRFR BETEAIERE - 8
TETARRREHEMBBLENER
FRRETE -

EET®RMNIE  RMAEREIZEAMEA
AEBPMARRRENEETERY - 105
FERR  ER EDREER - BR B
BREFARMKRE - Ktz BITHR=ZE
BEMBMNINE TR - REEMN AR
B TR e

We have implemented a complete remuneration and benefits system,
which is linked with team/individual performance, individual abilities,
work experience and responsibilities. Meanwhile, we have defined
the appraisal methods of performance-related remuneration in the
Implementation Measures for Performance Appraisal (483 Z % & i
5%) and the Collection of Post Incentive Rules (i i £ Eh 40 8 & 4R).

In terms of remuneration, we determine the basic salary, performance
salary, position allowance, various subsidies, performance bonuses/
commissions of employees based on their positions, terms of service
with the Company, work skills, work attitude and market rates in the
places where the service/labor contracts are performed. Meanwhile,
we also adopt performance-driven incentives. The actual amount of
performance bonuses/commissions will be determined by the Company
based on certain factors, such as the Company'’s business performance,
individual performance, work attitude, employees’ compliance with
rules, regulations and labor disciplines of the Company.

In terms of employee benefits, we ensure that all employees are
entitled to statutory holidays and other leaves offered by the Company,
such as paid annual leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage
leave, funeral leave and paid charitable leave. In addition, employees
can also enjoy other welfare, such as employee medical examination,
high-temperature allowance and benefits for dispatched employees.
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Employee Care

Employees are not only our most valuable assets, but also an
important cornerstone for our vigorous development and long-term
success. While being committed to continuous innovation and
breakthrough in our business sectors, we also attach great importance
to the innovation and improvement of corporate culture construction.
Based on the core corporate value of “Healthy work, Healthy life”,
the Company has actively created a positive and healthy living and
working condition to improve the cohesiveness, centripetal force and
satisfaction of employees, which has received praise and recognition
from employees, their family members and other parties.

Online Employee Welfare Platform

We have established an online employee welfare platform called "Yijia
Welfare” on the Company’s intranet, which can be used to record
employees’ physical and mental health (recording employees’ walking
and running data) and learning and growth process (employees can
learn online/register for cultural activities through such platform).
Employees can receive special gifts on special days, such as New Year's
Eve, holidays, employees’ birthdays and onboarding anniversaries each
year. In addition, employees can also use in-app purchase discounts to
select their desired daily necessities.

2023 BIHEES

2023 New Year's gift package for employees
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Mooncake gift box for celebrating the Moon Festival
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To Build a Harmonious Working Environment

E-House has always been committed to providing employees with a
good working environment, so that employees can generate positive
working atmosphere in a clean and comfortable office environment,
which further improves the quality of life and efficiency of employees.
The headquarters of the Company is equipped with the E-House
cultural exhibition corridor and the “Cloud E-House” exhibition
hall, which allows real-time monitoring of real estate transaction
data across the country and display of contents, such as E-House
Care, E-House Learning, E-House News, E-House Sales Champion,
etc. We also set up E-House reading room, where employees can
borrow thousands of books for free, covering different fields, such
as literature, art, history, philosophy, management, popular science,
lifestyle, travelling, etc., to calm their emotion and relax their
mind after busy work. At the same time, multi-functional training
classroom with advanced audio-visual equipment, which improves the
audio-visual effects, is in place to comprehensively satisfy the needs of
the Company in terms of meetings, training and event organization.

[ELZFEIRE

"Cloud E-House"” exhibition hall

ZI R E
Multi-functional training classroom

W

HHEER

E-House reading room

5 MU0 Bk B2

E-House cafe
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Health and Safety

We attach great importance to occupational safety — adhering to
the corporate culture of “healthy and sunny corporate culture with
positive energy — health is accountable to ourselves, the family,
and the Company”, we regard the physical and mental health of
employees as one of the core priorities of the Company.

Focusing on the Physical and Mental Health of Employees

We are committed to establishing a healthy and safe working
environment by strictly following the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases. It is
strictly forbidden to bring flammable, explosive, toxic and harmful
materials to the workplace. Our employees are encouraged to report
emergencies in a timely manner. In addition, the Company has
formulated a clear and effective management system for reporting
risks, such as dangers and illnesses during work, and suggesting
preventive measures in accordance with the relevant reports.

We provide our employees with specific lectures and training with
respect to occupational health and safety, in an effort to raise their
awareness of workplace hazards and self-protection. In 2023, two
seminars on caring for employees’ physical and mental health were
held. The seminar on Traditional Chinese Medicine for the Protection
and Rehabilitation of COVID-19 provided suggestions for employees
to combat various post-COVID conditions, while the seminar regarding
Diabetes Prevention and Treatment offered employees scientific advice
on the prevention and treatment of diabetes mellitus from the life
and dietary habits perspectives.

In terms of mental health, to alleviate the work and life pressure of
employees and improve the employee happiness index, the Company
has set up a 24-hour psychological care hotline for all employees
and their immediate family members. The Company also engages
experienced psychological counsellors to provide one-on-one
consultation assistance to solve the psychological contradictions of
employees and improve the mentality of employees for building a
young and energetic team.
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2023 E-House Bridge Tournament
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E-House Cup Bridge Tournament

In April 2023, the Company organized the 28th “E-House Cup” Bridge
Tournament for the housing and urban-rural development entities.
30 teams composed of 180 players from the housing and urban-rural
construction enterprises across 13 cities played the competition for 3
days and the E-House team won the championship.
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E-House team won the championship title

PEBREEDEN

Weekly Badminton Events

In 2023, the Company organized badminton activities every Tuesday,
which enabled employees to sustain physical wellness and allowed for
a deep connection and trust to form.

BEPERED
Weekly badminton activity
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Keep Employees Cool During the Hot Summer

During the summer of 2023, the management of the Company
proactively visited divisions in several cities, extended their regards to
local employees and listened to their concerns with the care package
for hot summer, hoping to prevent the occurrence of heat stroke
and production safety accidents to protect the lives and health of
employees.

EIREE R
Management site visit
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Listening and responding to employees’ concerns

Employee Development

E-House always pays attention to talent training and development,
and builds a complete staff training system to help them maximize
their business potential. In 2023, we made unremitting efforts and
innovation in talent development and cultivation, let training be
the booster of the Company's development, and made our brand
continuously increase in value.
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Online Learning Platform

We have built a three-in-one shared mobile learning platform
“E-House Talent College”, which brings together the accumulated
knowledge and achievements in three major business sectors, namely,
E-House's real estate agency services in the primary market, real
estate brokerage network services and real estate data and consulting
services. We strive to create an innovative learning platform with
a focus on post skills training and complemented by the courses
targeting for leadership promotion and comprehensive competence.
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DRAT BB
E-House Talent College

By giving full play to the professional characteristics of E-House in the
field of big data, the eight learning sectors of “online courses, online
exams, study records, benchmarking, quality education, professional
promotion, job training and live broadcasting channels” integrate
and inter-connect the professional faculty, wisdom achievements and
learning resources of the three featured businesses to the largest
extent. New and interesting modes, complete and systemized courses
and interactive forms of learning are adopted to achieve a convenient
and efficient learning experience, so as to further enhance the
professionalism of brokers and improve customer satisfaction.

In addition, we have especially invited the management of the
Company and experienced senior management at director level or
above nationwide to become visiting professors and chief lecturers of
the E-House Talent College, so that employees can learn their wisdom
and experience at the E-House Talent College.

The platform of the E-House Talent College implements unified
registration and sector permission division. In addition to the
regular curriculum self-learning, training courses, examination
platform and interactive release module, special functions of lecturer
library, live broadcasting system, credits mall, study currency and
post examination are set up to increase learning interaction and
convenience and fully mobilize the learning enthusiasm of employees.
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Complete Training System

The three major business sectors of E-House, namely, real estate data
and consulting services, real estate brokerage network services and
real estate agency services in the primary market, have developed
a complete training system to enhance the professional level of
employees in an all-around way, build a sustainable talent team, and
cultivate reserve talents for the Company.

The real estate data and consulting services sector implements
gradient training of talents. Different levels of training contents and
forms are designed for different talent teams, which are divided
into knowledge-based, sharing-based, competition-based and
strategic-based.

o Knowledge-based courses refer to specialized introductory,
standard operating procedures and basic vocational skills
courses. It mainly focuses on the self-study of new entrants
or new employees, through the E-learning system of cloud
classroom to learn and take tests simultaneously.

o Sharing-based courses are skill courses for refining professional
knowledge for on-the-job professionals and sales personnel,
which mainly include various practical experience summaries,
classic cases, expert lectures, etc. The shared courses are held
regularly, and employees themselves can choose courses and
enroll for participation online.

o Competition-based courses are practical business competitions
for mid-level backbone professionals. They compete with each
other through the same competition and learn from each other’s
strengths to improve their professional and business capabilities.

o Strategic-based courses are courses for mid-level managers to
improve their management thinking, enhance management skills
and promote business innovation through strategic discussion,
management concept introduction and practical sand table
exercise, etc.
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The real estate brokerage network services sector has set up a
training system with full-process, full-position and full-coverage, from
the new personnel training of the Sailing Program to the training
and development training of the general manager of the Navigation
Program, aiming at starting and opening up every business cell
through training.
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Internal training system in the real estate brokerage network services sector
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The real estate agency services in the primary market sector of
E-House has established a comprehensive “recruitment, education,
employment and retention” talent development system and developed
specialized training courses for different career stages and career
lines, such as “Future Leader” and “Golden Bell” training projects
for management trainees, “Sparkling Plan” and “Golden Manager”
for mid-level managers, and “Senior Management Training Class” for
senior managers, planning training, settlement training, supervision
training and human resource training for different functional lines.
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“Recruitment, education, employment and retention” talent development system in real estate agency
services in the primary market sector of E-House
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The marketing team is our largest talent group. We conduct a variety
of marketing training courses for the marketing department at the
headquarters and marketing teams at city level every year to improve
the professional competence of the marketing team. At the same
time, with the marketing team as our front-line staff interacting
directly with customers, their good communication skills and excellent
professional qualities can make customers feel at home.

SEREEIIER

E-House Wharton Training Program
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Training workshop
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a corporate citizen with a sense of social responsibility, E-House
adheres to the concept of sharing development achievements with
society while pursuing its own development, and regards corporate
responsibility as one of the core strategies for corporate sustainable
development. In 2023, we continued to contribute our part to
education, health and wildlife protection.

Accelerating Poverty Alleviation

Over the last decade, the Company has devoted to targeted poverty
alleviation through its Community Supported Agriculture (CSA)
program which utilizes its online selling platform, E-House Lenong
(BE%E), to assist farmers in rural areas to re-design merchandise
displays to entice consumers, and also satisfy urban residents’ rising
demand for online grocery shopping. The online sales model has
greatly promoted the sales of agricultural products and brought hope
for poverty reduction in rural areas.

BiEREMNBNRRT

Re-designed displays of agricultural products from rural areas
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In January 2023, the Shanghai Committee of China Democratic
National Construction Association (CDNCA) held the 2022 Social
Service Work Conference to commend role models in the designated
assistance work. A CDNCA member, Mr. Zhu Xudong (Chairman
of E-House Lenong) was awarded the honorary title of “Advanced
Individual in Designated Assistance Work of the Central Committee
of CDNCA in 2022" and "Outstanding Entrepreneur of Shanghai
CDNCA" for his contributions to poverty alleviation.

RELEHS
2022%12R
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CDNCA honours E-house Lenong Chairman
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Promoting the Development of China’s Track and Field
Events

E-House Marathon Club has always been committed to exploring
a sustainable development path combining professional sports and
competitive sports. Since E-House joined hands with the Chinese
Athletic Association to build the national middle-to-long-distance
running, marathon and race-walking teams in 2021, under the
guidance of Mr. Li Li, the head coach of the club, E-House has been
committed to supporting the development of high-level athletes
and coaches and delivered remarkable results. At 2023 Asian Indoor
Athletics Championships, He Wuxia, a member of the club won a
silver medal for Chinese delegation in Women's 3,000 meters.

Crave
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E-house Marathon Club member won a silver medal
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While promoting the professional development of marathon in China,
E-House Marathon Club is also concerned about mass sports. It

MAZRBENSRNNIRE - BARBE initiated marathon training camps for mass runners for many times
RME R - BEEE A E Z I RE A to provide more systematic and periodic professional training mode
ZTALINBRZIREE  EESZATHRE and diversified training communication platform for mass runners,
*/F SEWE  F LS BERESN with the aim to let more people know about running, participate in

B2RAAL o running and love running, so as to let the concept of fitness for all

take root in the hearts of the people.
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Marathon training camp held in July 2023
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Engaging in Educational Program in the Local Community

W

After ten years of development, in April 2023, E-House, the Wharton
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Launching ceremony of the program
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School of business, and Shanghai University jointly upgraded the
original “E-House Wharton Case Study and Teaching Facility (%X
TEZEGIAHSEM)” to “Wharton Shanghai Center”. The launch of the
first Global Youth Leadership Program was supported by E-House,
Shanghai University, Shanghai Institute of Electrical Engineering, and
drew the attention of experts, scholars, and industry practitioners. It
will become a benchmark for the international education cooperation
in Shanghai and a new showcase of the China-U.S. educational
achievements.

5 & £ B

E-House Chairman giving a speech
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

We attach importance to the conservation of resources and the
protection of the environment, and actively fulfil our environmental
protection obligations. We have been adhering to the philosophy of
law-abiding operation and strictly implemented the Environmental
Protection Law of China, the Law on the Prevention and Control
of Water Pollution, the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution, the Law on the Prevention and Control
of Pollution from Environmental Noise, the Law on Appraising of
Environmental Impacts and environmental protection laws and
regulations as well as implementation rules promulgated by local
governments, such as the Shanghai Domestic Waste Management
Regulations L@ A ENIRERKEH)) and the Guidelines for
Classification and Disposal of Domestic Waste in Shanghai /84
ERLIR S R AE D).

Low Carbon Operation

Unlike traditional manufacturing enterprises, our business activities
do not cost large resource consumption, and mainly consume office
electricity, office domestic water and office paper. In 2023, we
purchased 10,706.69 MWh of electricity and consumed 97.69 MWh
of gasoline with the energy consumption intensity of 3.42 MWh per
person; the total equivalent amount of greenhouse gas emission was
6,128.41 tonnes, and scope 2 greenhouse gases accounted for 99.6%
with emission intensity of 1.94 tonnes per person. In terms of water
use, the water we use is from the urban water supply system. In
2023, we consumed 18,042.32 tonnes of water resources with water
use intensity of 5.71 tonnes per person.

At present, we have set targets to improve resource use efficiency
and reduce carbon emissions, that means we will do our utmost
to save resources, and continue to improve the use efficiency of
electricity, reduce carbon emissions, and further enhance statistics and
monitoring of water resource utilization to increase the efficiency of
water use. In 2023, we continued to take the following measures to
respond to the targets set and contribute our share to environmental
protection:

o Raise awareness of energy conservation among employees
through publicity activities, encourage our employees to use the
stairs and recommend employees working on lower floors not to
take the elevator;

o Encourage employees to use public transportation, such as
subway and buses for commuting;
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o Reduce unnecessary travel by holding video and telephone
conferences;

o Cut off the power to reduce standby consumption when
computer, printers and copiers and other office machines are
not in use for a long time and after hours;

. Personal use of electric stove, electric kettle and other
high-power electrical appliance is strictly prohibited in office;

° Give priority to purchasing energy conservation and environment
protection decoration materials and office equipment, strongly
encourage repair and recycling to prolong the service life of
printing equipment;

o Strengthen the daily maintenance and management of water
equipment, timely check and replace the aging water supply
pipes and parts, consciously check, address and notify relevant
personnel to solve the water supply problem in time, and
eliminate wastage of emitting, leaking, dripping, and running
water;

o Encourage paperless office and replace conventional office
processes with online operations of OA system;

o Ask employees to minimize unnecessary paper use through
publicity, and advocate double-sided printing and copying; and

o Engage specialized companies to recycle office equipment,
such as computers and printers, and reduce the burden on the
environment and promote the development of recycling through
trade-in programs.

Waste Management

During the whole process of daily operation, the non-hazardous waste
we generated mainly comes from paper, cartons, domestic garbage
and construction waste and others generated in daily administrative
work; the hazardous waste mainly comes from the small amount of
harmful waste generated in daily administrative work, such as toner
cartridge, lamps and waste batteries. In 2023, we generated a total
of 1,501.95 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, and 0.04 tonnes of
hazardous waste. All wastes are disposed of by professional cleaning
and transportation companies.
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Currently, our targets for waste management, which mainly include
continuously improving ways to reduce, reuse and recycle waste,
have been established to reduce the negative impact of waste on
the environment. In 2023, we took active measures to respond to
the target set, and implemented waste sorting. We posted a poster
related to the knowledge of waste sorting on the first floor of the
office building; placed a publicity brochure related to the knowledge
of waste sorting on the public areas of the office building; and
separately placed 4 types of garbage bins, including “recyclable
garbage”, “harmful garbage”, “wet garbage” and "dry garbage”, in
each stair aisle of the office building so that employees can correctly
sort waste for disposal. The reception desk on each floor of the
Company has a recycling bin for used batteries to collect used dry
batteries. Our labor union also gives regular lectures on waste sorting,
to raise the awareness of waste sorting among all staff.

Climate Change Response

E-House continuously pays attention to climate change throughout
the operation process, strictly follows the relevant extreme weather
guidelines issued by government departments, and formulates
responding measures in line with the actual situation of the Company
to reduce the impact of climate change on daily operations and
personal safety.

We pay close attention to meteorological information, weather
forecast, typhoons and rainstorms warning. We shall make
immediate response once receiving relevant warning and report to
the management at the headquarters of the Company in time. In
the event of the issuance of the above-mentioned disaster alerts,
in order to ensure the safety of employees, the person-in-charge of
each office shall adjust the working hours of employees according to
the relevant notices issued by the local government and the actual
situation of the office, and report to the person-in-charge of the
upper level for approval and to the headquarters of the Company
for record. During the disaster alert period, we shall give priority to
the security reinforcement work of the buildings, and work to ensure
the defence works in key areas. Moreover, we shall take multiple
measures to ensure the safety of life and property of our employees,
including leaders on duty, 24-hour duty system, arrangement and
preparation of necessary front-line suppliers, setup of temporary aisles
for waterlogged areas and quick carrying out of self-rescue.
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HEEXHEBELAE OVERVIEW OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY DATA
FEESGHIBEAE
Overview of Annual ESG Data
HEEE Social Indicators 20235 E 20226 F
2023 2022
EfE Employment
EEHAY Total workforce 3,158 6,146
IR By gender
5 Male 1,355 2,693
Z Female 1,803 3,453
ZEEER By employment type
a3 Full time 3,157 6,130
FRH Part time 1 16
REHAE R By age group
305 AT 30 years old and below 791 2,101
312495 31 to 49 years old 2,272 3,926
505% M IA 50 years old and above 95 119
ZESHEA By staff type
aREERE Senior management 29 134
RRERRE Middle management 162 314
THET Ordinary employees 2,967 5,698
iR B 5 By region
o H & Southwest China 299 496
Padbible Northwest China 67 132
HE i [ Central China 105 533
EEHR Southern China 288 541
ERE M@ Eastern China 1,711 3,293
B2 Northern China 655 941
bl Northeast China 33 210
EERELE Employee turnover rate 49.53% 58.42%
bcq il By gender
s Male 53.32% 59.89%
z Female 46.57% 57.19%
BF AR By age group
30K AT 30 years old and below 53.45% 66.49%
31RE495% 31 to 49 years old 47.81% 52.75%
503 KA = 50 years old and above 36.97% 41.09%
ZihE & By region
idf=zp Southwest China 52.22% 60.94%
Cichl o] Northwest China 61.36% 83.16%
iR Central China 66.23% 66.60%
R Southern China 54.71% 71.16%
FERU R Eastern China 44.43% 52.11%
Bl Northern China 49.10% 39.60%
5110 Northeast China 61.90% 74.39%
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Overview of Annual ESG Data

HEEE Social Indicators 20235 E 20224 fF
2023 2022
REHEZE Health and Safety
E TERE ML T ASL Number of work-related fatalities
2023%F 2023 0
2022 2022 0
20214 2021 0
ETIERE ML T ABE = Rate of work-related fatalities
20234 2023 0%
20224 2022 0%
20214 2021 0%
ETHEATIEAS Lost days due to work injury 260 0
BE Development
ZIfEER S Percentage of trained employees 69.54% 70.68%
=R By gender
s Male 68.93% 71.13%
Z Female 69.99% 70.32%
ZREER By staff type
BRERE Senior management 68.97% 70.15%
RRERE Middle management 87.65% 90.13%
TBET Ordinary employees 68.55% 69.62%
BEEETFIZIEFY Average training hours per employee
gl By gender
s Male 32.85 35.59
Z Female 34.61 37.06
ZREER By staff type
SREERE Senior management 37.60 40.63
FRERRE Middle management 62.58 68.50
TBET Ordinary employees 31.82 34.55
RUEEESNHETHE Number of suppliers by region
EE R Eastern China 7,865 8,810
ER R Southern China 2,060 2,181
Erhih R Central China 2,030 2,357
B Northern China 635 731
il ez Northwest China 456 547
iif=apii Southwest China 1,768 1,956
Sl Northeast China 495 531
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FEESGHIEBRE

Overview of Annual ESG Data

HEEE Social Indicators 2023 20224 fF
2023 2022
RIBEE Environmental Indicators
B Emissions
AERBBHENE Greenhouse gas emissions
(SBE1MEE2) (B7) (Scope 1 and Scope 2) (tonnes) 6,128.41 7,580.38
BEEAEREHNRE (FBE1) Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) 22.39 22.50
MEAEREENE (FE2) Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) 6,106.02 7,557.88
ADRERBIRE Per capita greenhouse gas emissions
(W&~ N) (tonnes/person) 1.94 1.23
BERBEEDHEME (W) Hazardous waste disposal (tonnes) 0.04 0.04
B Battery 0.02 0.03
RIEEENBEEEY Hazardous waste generated by decoration 0.01 0.01
Sty Toner cartridge 0.01 0
EEREZEYEEHRE (R) Non-hazardous waste disposal (tonnes) 1,501.95 1,781.97
AR Domestic waste 1,500.00 1,780.00
BESIR Construction waste 1.00 1.00
/NS Office paper 0.95 0.97
BEMEEREZEDHNES Total hazardous and non-hazardous
(mg) waste disposal (tonnes) 1,501.99 1,782.01
ANIEENEEEEDENRE Per capita hazardous and non-hazardous
(wg,~ A) waste disposal (tonnes/person) 0.48 0.29
KEFRHFE Water consumption
EAKE (WE) Total water consumption (tonnes) 18,042.32 18,876.82
e B 2RoK Fresh tap water 18,042.32 18,876.82
ABERKE (BB N) Per capita water consumption (tonnes/person) 5.71 3.07
BERH Energy consumption
BEREFESE (JKELR) Energy consumption (MWh) 10,804.38 10,831.79
B Electricity 10,706.69 10,743.25
YR Gasoline 97.69 88.54
AR EESE (JKERE A)  Per capita energy consumption (MWh/person) 3.42 1.76
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1.

Data calculation standards and methods:

Greenhouse gases: it includes carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous
oxide and sulphur hexafluoride. Scope 1 greenhouse gas is
calculated based on the default value of common fossil fuel
characteristic parameters issued by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of China;
Scope 2 greenhouse gas is calculated based on the average
carbon dioxide emission factor of China’s national electric
grid issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
People’s Republic of China.

Hazardous waste: it is categorized according to the definition
of "hazardous waste” as stipulated in the Basel Convention on
the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes
and Their Disposal mentioned in the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
Data sources are from relevant records and ledgers.

Non-hazardous waste: wastes that are not within the definition
scope of “hazardous waste” in the Basel Convention on the
Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and
Their Disposal are classified as “non-hazardous waste”. Data
sources are from relevant records and ledgers.

Water consumption: data source is from the amount of
municipal water purchased.

Energy consumption: data are calculated based on the

consumption of purchased electricity and fuel and the relevant
conversion factors provided by the International Energy Agency.
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HERERRE
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Wﬁl —(BE - HERE APPENDIX | - ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
$ﬁ¢;‘§g|)}ﬁq§§§| Icli\l%\g(RNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

[ ik wE

Aspect Description Location/Remarks

A RB

A.  Environmental

BEA1 : BH

Aspect A1: Emissions

—REE

General disclosure

A1
Al

A12

A12

A13

A13

A4
Al4
A15
A15
A16

A1.6

B (HE) ERERERAR

FHBERRRE

@ BE: Rk

(b) BTHETAREATENEREERAGIHER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

REHN - FKRTEES - BERESERYOELEN -

B LR AR o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B (BE1) ReREE (BE2) RERBHNE (UMEE) & (Eh) BE
(muﬁ?iﬁu BEREHE) ©

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FRELEERENRE VAEEE) Rk
HEtE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

(WER) BE (WA BEEREN - BER

FELRZEENAE VA E) k
HETE) o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and (if appropriate) intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

B (@R BE (MABEEREN - /R

WA HRE RIE R AEREL B IZARIE 8 o

Description of emission targets set and steps taken to achieve them.

HEEEEREEEENNTE  RERMIIIAREE R RAENELER
PTERERAY 27 B8 o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

—®=—=

=FEHRE

Environmental Responsibility

RERR
Environmental Responsibility

iﬁf‘}iiﬁ

BERgERE
Enwronmental Responsibility
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

RERRE

HEEEREEE

Environmental Responsibility
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

RERME

HERESERE

Environmental Responsibility
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

RERME
Environmental Responsibility

REAME

Environmental Responsibility



BHE Fi:pu B e
Aspect Description Location/Remarks
EBHA2: ERER
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
—RBE BREAER (BERR  KREMRME) 0B RIEER
General disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials. Environmental Responsibility
A2.1 RERESMERR /SFEEER(WE - fsoh) B2 CATETREHE) %ﬁ
REE (MABESEN - §IARNE) - BfHiERE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in Enwronment
total (kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). ~ Overview of Social Responsibility Data
A2.2 BROKERTE (WIABESEN - BIEREAE) RE
HEREMEERE
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per  Environment
facility). Overview of Social Responsibility Data
A2.3 AR ARG A B IR N RERE L B RTS8 - RIEER
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.  Environmental Responsibility
A2.4 HAKEGERKR FRAIAERERE - MR AAKE G B RRAERELR REEE
AR SR -
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, ~ Environmental Responsibility
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
A2.5 KA BEMENRE (UNEEtE) & (NER) BEESEE - ek
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, where N/A
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
EHEA3 : BRERXAER
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
—RRIEE REBEITAHRERRABRELEAT BOBEK REEME

General disclosure

A3.1
A3.1

EEA4 : RIEEE

Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources.

M EE R RERAAERNEAYZRERRNERETETENTY -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

—RE

General disclosure

A4
A4

BRI DR R AR EHETAEE Y ENEARKIEREENOLRE
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

HUE R R EHETAEEYENEARGEREE - LELHTTH -
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

Environmental Responsibility

REEHE
Environmental Responsibility

REER
Environmental Responsibility

RESHE
Environmental Responsibility
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BE it B i
Aspect Description Location/Remarks
B. #&

B.  Society

EEB1 : £

Aspect B1: Employment

—RRE B REE - 181

REAM B REF -

@ BXE: &k

(b) BFTHETARE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

B

B LIRS RE - FEHE - Zolt - RN

YEmiE R TR AR -

General disclosure

B1.1 IR ERER (WEBEERE)  FRAMNREDNESEY -

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. full - or part-time), age group
and geographical region.

B1.2 RIER - FRAR BN HNERRALE -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

EEB2: REHEZ2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

—REE ARREZZIHERERREEESREBRELREN -

(@ HE: R

(b) BFHETAREAYENEBDERIRNINER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

General disclosure

B2.1 BE=F (BRESFE) BFRITHHABRLE -

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting year.

B2.2 ETGBBLTERS -

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

B2.3 WA BRRREL 250 - URBBTREERE -

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

SE(TE)CEXERBRAT —T=FEHE

BTz

Labor Rights

BTz
HeEfHERS

Labor Rights
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

HEEAREAE
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

EREZe

Health and Safety

ERaze
HeREEEAE

Health and Safety
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

ERaze
HEEAEBAY

Health and Safety
Overview of Social Responsibility Data

REEZE
Health and Safety



BE
Aspect

it
Description

B,/ fe

Location/Remarks

BEB3 : BERIEI
Aspect B3: Develop

—MH R
General disclosure

B3.1
B3.1

B3.2
B3.2

JEMEB4 : HTX#E

ment and Training

ABRTHE B BT TIERE M MBS RAL MR - HlEINES -
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

REDILESER (WERERE PRERES) ASNXIIEERALL -
The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).

RIEFIREEERIED - BREETKRINN TR -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

—RBE

General disclosure

B4.1

B4.1

B4.2
B4.2

BHM LEETSHREISTH

@ BE: Rk

(b) BTHETABERTZENEEEZLAGINER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labor.

kiR R EIN R L E T RAHST -
Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labor.

HAEZERBRBREEREAERARRNTR o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.
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it
Description

B,/ fe

Location/Remarks

JEEBS : fERER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

—MH R
General disclosure

B5.1
B5.1

B5.2

B5.2

B5.3

B5.3

B5.4

B5.4

ERHEENRE R GRBBE o
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

RSP HEEHHAE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

M EREREEENED - mERTABENNEERNHE  AREHEEHN
WIRERTE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

M EARIRERSERSNRE R RRNEN - AREERTRESRS
% o

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HMEREHE RS S ARRERRRBNED - ARBBEHTRESS
& o

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
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HERER
Supply Chain Management

HERER
Supply Chain Management

HEEER

Supply Chain Management

HEEEE

Supply Chain Management

HEEEE
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Aspect

it
Description

B,/ fe

Location/Remarks

JEMEB6 : EmE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

—RBE

General disclosure

B6.1
B6.1

B6.2
B6.2

B6.3
B6.3

B6.4
B6.4

B6.5
B6.5

FRFMREELNRENERELZSE  BE  CRERLBSEUARBRAAN :

@ BE: &

(b) BFTHEITABEAZENEMERRAGINER

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

EEADEREREATRLZ 2 ERFEAMARKNBSLL
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

BEMNEmRRGNRFE A AREE %
Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

B LR AAEE R AAED) -
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.

HAEERTBIEREROYIRR -
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HEEEEBRERLBEE - AREBRTRERRE
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.
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BE it
Aspect Description

B,/ fe

Location/Remarks

EBHEB7 : RES
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

—MEE BHM LR - 9% - BEFRARER -
@ BE: Rk
(b) BTHETABERTZENEEEEZRAGNER -
General disclosure  Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7.1 RERBAHETASIHEER DY EBENETHARMNEE RFDER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

B7.2 A SBEERBRER - AREERITRERAE -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they

are implemented and monitored.

B7.3 HRRESERE TRENRETEI
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

EBHEBS : #HERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

—fRIE BREME2ERTREEMEHERTENRRAFZEEHSEBHENENK
% o

General disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

B8.1 EIEHEE (WHE  REFE LI5K EBE UL EBE)-
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor needs,

health, culture, sport).

B8.2 EEIBEMPAER (NeEgkm)

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EESCE

=E

Business Ethics

BEEE
Business Ethics

EEIES
Business Ethics

EEIES
Business Ethics

HEERE

Social Responsibility

HERE
Social Responsibility

HEgEfR
Social Responsibility
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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ZHONGHUI

B EE(hE) EERERERQIBADRRE
(RASHBEMRINARIA)

TRRER

AEZHAMTERERE 154 AEF337
BEAEMNSE (PR REERBRRA A
(TER2R) REWNBAR (ABIESE
) BERmENBHRE  ZEREWE
WREIE2023F 12 A3 1 BEA T BN R
x BEZHLFEGABEZERHEMZA
Wk  REEREHRRGEAHEERE
AR BEERGFTECRENNIGZEEY
HIREMIFE -

AREEIT I ERENG S P IEHRKRE
RER - AREMBETTERBEEZE
R—EAMLBERSECEEENERTD
BERENERNE  BRATKAERZF
REVMBHRRERER - ERMAEEMLS
- ARBETRAFEMBHRREER
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
154 to 337, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern basis described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all
other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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MULTIPLE UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
RMB1,524,797,000 and net cash outflow from operating activities
of approximately RMB432,750,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities approximately RMB8,425,774,000 and approximately
RMB6,562,944,000, respectively. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon (i) the successful
completion of various debt restructuring measures; (ii) the successful
disposal of investment property and (iii) the improvement of operating
performance that certain measures to improve its financial position, to
provide liquidity and cash flows. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that would result from the failure
to complete various debt restructuring measures, the disposal of
investment property and the failure to improve its financial position,
to provide liquidity and cash flows. We consider that the material
uncertainty has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements. However, in view of the extent of the multiple uncertainty
relating to (i) the successful completion of various debt restructuring
measures; (ii) the successful disposal of investment property and (iii)
the successful outcome that certain measures to improve its financial
position, to provide liquidity and cash flows, we disclaim our opinion
in respect of the material uncertainty relating to the going concern
basis.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the significance of the material uncertainty
relating to the going concern basis described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to
form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05498

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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HERBEREMEZE KSR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2023F12A31HLEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

ftat 2023F 20224
ARETR ARETT
Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
LN Revenue 6 4,446,439 5,033,279
IRA Staff costs 12 (1,093,235) (1,967,347)
EEREERY Advertising and promotion expenses (1,986,871) (2,374,608)
RPREREREEEERENELMAT  Rental expenses for short-term leases and
low-value assets leases (49,669) (103,457)
TERBHEAY Depreciation and amortisation expenses 12 (285,760) (537,521)
AREHEERX ([BHEEEX])  Loss allowance on financial assets subject to
e REBEENBBREE (MREE) expected credit loss (“ECL"), net of reversal ~ 9A. (65,511) (995,959)
BIERERIE AN EEFTEWE AEM  Loss on derecognition of receivables at fair
2HEME ([BAREEFTEWEIAE  value through other comprehensive income
R E e ) R EMGIEEERER  ("FVTOCI) - (38)
BRIFRBDEENRBERR Impairment losses recognised on
non-current assets 9C. (40,817) (1,034,791)
AR Consultancy expenses (198,949) (461,971)
ok - [iib-3 Distribution expenses (1,432,642) (1,465,853)
E A& A AR Other operating costs (361,126) (458,984)
H bl A Other income 8 72,084 150,781
Hilzm REE Other gains and losses 9B (96,169) (316,944)
Hibfx Other expenses (9,597) (5,174)
i AN Share of results of associates 1,962 2,826
BB Finance costs 10 (443,054) (471,752)
BATE R Loss before taxation (1,542,915) (5,007,513)
FrEtiE% Income tax credit 11 18,118 38,989
FRER Loss for the year (1,524,797) (4,968,524)
ErHEM2ENRE (FEX) Other comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year
RGBS EERm AR Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
mAREESELFAEM2ERE  Fair value changes on receivables measured
HEMFIER A BES at FvTOC| (41,289) (635,581)
WAREEELFAEM2EME  Net changes in ECL of receivables measured
HEKFRESREERREFE at FvTOC| 41,289 635,581
REBIEBEENELZHE Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations 1,251 (6,109)
FREMEEEE /(%) Other comprehensive income/(expense) for
N FAEH the year, net of income tax 1,251 (6,109)
FAZHMXAE Total comprehensive expense for the year 12 (1,523,546) (4,974,633)
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ftat 2023F 20224
AR®TR ARETFT
Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
THATEEFRER : Loss for the year attributable to:
S UNCIE Z=PN - Owners of the Company (1,239,749) (3,896,299)
— IR R - Non-controlling interests (285,048) (1,072,225)
(1,524,797) (4,968,524)
FREZERZAE Total comprehensive expense for the year
S.YNCIEZ =N — Owners of the Company (1,238,633) (3,900,590)
— IR - Non-controlling interests (284,913) (1,074,043)
(1,523,546) (4,974,633)
BRER Loss per share 15
—ER(ARED) - Basic (RMB cents) (70.88) (222.77)
- BE(ARES) - Diluted (RMB cents) (70.88) (222.77)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

155



A B AR R R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#2023 12H31H  As at 31 December 2023

Mtz 2023F 20224
ARETT ARET T
Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
EY LT Property and equipment 16 924,569 1,040,388
ERESE Right-of-use assets 17 181,858 299,622
REME Investment properties 18 528,316 607,904
B EE Intangible assets 19 435,499 552,954
i /NI F Interests in associates 20 73,106 69,144
JRE W2 B Bt 77 K TR Amounts due from related parties 22 46 422
RIERIBE B Deferred tax assets 30 387,664 392,911
Hin3EmB &= Other non-current assets 21 31,220 71,558
2,562,278 3,034,903
REBEE Current assets
R U5 BR 51 K B U 4 Accounts receivables and bills receivables 21 12,156 23,589
Hofh e YRR Other receivables 21 330,127 512,143
JE W BB 5 3R IR Amounts due from related parties 22 59,117 28,845
BANEBEFEVTAEMEE Receivables at FVTOCI 23

W25 B FE WK TR

— e BR A R R AR 4 — accounts receivables and bills receivables 156,091 566,655

— W AR 7 SR - amounts due from related parties

— YRR — accounts receivables 133,491 129,713
BARBEFENABR Financial assets at fair value through profit 24

([EARBEFELAEBR]) or loss (“FVTPL")

NEMEE 50,556 79,833
XRGIRITAE R Restricted bank balances 25 139,800 228,689
ReERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 25 638,848 1,246,583

1,520,186 2,816,050
REBEE Current liabilities
FEfTER X Accounts payables 26 888,862 994,120
EEBH Advance from customers 26 397,241 571,976
EETB T H R GRS Accrued payroll and welfare expenses 244,057 284,001
Hi N 50R Other payables 26 1,215,408 1,001,327
BHEE Contract liabilities 27 200,201 130,256
FEfI IR Tax payables 1,329,248 1,331,222
JE 15 B3R 5 3R IR Amounts due to related parties 22 171,355 287,216
RITIER Bank borrowings 28A 282,865 372,569
HAfE R Other borrowings 28A 4,235,807 4,156,665
AR R Convertible note 288 935,112 870,833
HEBE Lease liabilities 29 45,804 77,223

9,945,960 10,077,408
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k23 2023 20224

ARET TR ARETTT

Notes 2023 2022

RMB'000 RMB’000

REEEFHE Net current liabilities (8,425,774) (7,261,358)

EEABRADEE Total assets less current liabilities (5,863,496) (4,226,455)
*RBEE Non-current liabilities

BIETIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 30 108,035 138,520

RITIER Bank borrowings 28A 496,946 485,947

HEaE Lease liabilities 29 94,467 176,950

699,448 801,417

BEFHE NET LIABILITIES (6,562,944) (5,027,872)

R EQUITY

g AR Share capital 31 116 116

B mE Share premium 6,148,273 6,148,273

&t Reserves (12,695,868) (11,367,569)

RRNR)HEE AR ER Equity attributable to owners of the Company (6,547,479) (5,219,180)

eI e Non-controlling interests 43 (15,465) 191,308

R TOTAL EQUITY (6,562,944) (5,027,872)

F154B 2 F337BMEEIEIREKRTI A
BEEEN2024F3 A28 H L ERFEET
% WHAUTAIRRESSEE

Huang Canhao

The consolidated financial statements on pages 154 to 337 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Li-Lan
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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RERTMNER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2023F12A31HLEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

20235 20224
AR®TR AREFT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
RETHHBRERE Cash flows from operating activities
TR E Loss before taxation (1,542,915) (5,007,513)
AT HIEAR - Adjustments for:
B EESH Amortisation of intangible assets 117,603 331,042
REMEFRE Depreciation of investment properties 34,718 34,869
MERREBIE Depreciation of property and equipment 91,014 84,394
BREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 42,425 87,216
VAR B4 8 M IR R R B Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 11,957 12,211
ARBREENALBERKE Fair value gain on convertible note (1,563) (12,915)
BMEMR Finance costs 443,054 471,752
HHERBARMER Loss on de-registration of subsidiaries 107 =
HEHRBRRMER /(W) Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries 2,350 (14,560)
BRERBEENRERKX Impairment losses recognised in non-current assets 40,817 1,034,791
FEWA Interest income (11,846) (48,672)
AREBEERINEHEEN Loss allowance on financial assets subject to ECL,
B S0k Em) net of reversal 65,511 995,959
RIFERZ AR BEFELETA Loss on derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI
Hfth 2 F ez o FE IR B B 1R - 38
PE 5 1B KR Net exchange loss 59,028 239,616
WAREBEFELFAERD Net fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL
TREENAABEEEFE 22,933 111,597
HERBMEER () F8 Net loss/(gain) on disposal of investment properties 5,925 (3,305)
RIFFAREERMEERARYZ Net gain on termination of right-of-use assets and
Gy lease liabilities (5,239) (3,031)
HEMERLFEOEE /() F5  Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property and equipment 12,435 (459)
MR EENBETHE Net loss on written off of intangible assets 193 =
HEREE N F SR EETE Net loss on disposal of interests in associates - 1
il N ES Share of results of associates (1,962) (2,826)
LEEERNLER NS Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital (613,455) (1,689,795)
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2023F 20224
ARETR ARETT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
BARBEFETVTAEMEAEMNRZE  Decrease in receivables at FVTOC|

B FE USRI R 358,511 927,641
FERTREEE 0B (R D),/ (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related parties (116,220) 260,416
HiIEnBEER D Decrease in other non-current assets 6,796 16,934
BHEERYD Decrease in contract assets - 9,465
TRERITESRD /() Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances 88,889 (97,788)

EAER REREZERL /(350) Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivables and
bills receivables 35,307 (34,507)
JRE Uk BB B 7 SRR A0 Increase in amounts due from related parties (34,235) (15,331)
HE R D /() Decrease/(increase) in other receivables 185,870 (71,828)
aHaEEm,/(Rd) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 69,945 (51,138)
Hip R ZIER D Decrease in other payables (100,373) (55,566)
XEBFRD Decrease in advances from customers (174,735) (80,339)
i REFRZ R Decrease in accrued payroll and welfare expenses (39,944) (105,985)
e BRFOR Decrease in accounts payables (101,858) (144,941)
REMARES Cash used in operations (435,502) (1,132,762)
BRFEH Income tax paid (9,094) (2,084)
BUFI B Interest received 11,846 48,672
RETBMARELTE Net cash used in operating activities (432,750) (1,086,174)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2023F12A31HLEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023F 20224
AR¥TR ARETT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
REFBMBRERE Cash flows from investing activities
RO EFRRITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits - 755,136
B EN Repayments from related parties (6,567) 15,199
HEUAA BB EWLET ABRE Proceeds arising from disposal of financial assets
TREEMGHA measured at FVTPL 6,344 21,419
(IH)/ REAEES (Payments for)/withdrawal of rental deposits (694) 16,179
HEREMEMETE Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 4,715 15,518
HEMERFBENBHRE Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 27,978 14,539
HENBLARMRE R FE Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries (241) (74,225)
EEMERSBEARKEDER Purchase of and deposits placed for acquisition of
HiENRE property and equipment (12,259) (35,507)
REEVEE Purchase of intangible assets - (170)
RIEAEE 5 2% Advances to related parties 15,721 (12,575)
A—EHEATEE Capital injection to an associate (2,000) =
RETBHRBELTFE Net cash generated from investing activities 32,997 715,513
METBMERERE Cash flows from financing activities
MEEMIRITRER New bank borrowings raised 441,000 492,000
A 2 Advances from related parties 3,150 59,328
FHERBRREE Capital contribution from non-controlling shareholders - 2,400
B RERS Factoring commission paid - (38)
IR THB A R IR AR R #9A% S Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (22,273) (20,634)
BHE Interest paid (69,366) (64,441)
EEMEEAE Repayments of lease liabilities (40,997) (105,103)
BB 7 RE Repayments to related parties (801) (155,827)
BEIETER Repayments of bank borrowings (519,705) (1,954,949)
METHFARSFE Net cash used in financing activities (208,992) (1,747,264)
BeRBSEEBYRLFE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (608,745) (2,117,925)
FORERBELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 1,246,583 3,314,741
EXZENXE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,010 49,767
FREERBEELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 638,848 1,246,583
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023
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GENERAL INFORMATION

E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands on 22 February 2010. The Company's shares
have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 20 July 2018. The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and the principal
place of business are PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands and 11/F, Qiushi Building,
383 Guangyan Road, Jing'an District, Shanghai 200072, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries, and upon the acquisition of
Leju, its subsidiaries and consolidated variable interest entities
(the "Leju Group”) completed on 4 November 2020 (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) offers a wide range of services to
the real estate industry, including real estate agency services in
the primary market, real estate data and consulting services, real
estate brokerage network services and digital marketing services
in the PRC.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023
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GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately RMB1,524,797,000
and net cash outflow from operating activities of approximately
RMB432,750,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and,
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities approximately RMB8,425,774,000 and approximately
RMB6,562,944,000, respectively. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, to provide
liquidity and cash flows and sustain the Group as a going
concern, the Group has been implementing a number of
measures, including but not limited to:

(i) The Group is negotiating with creditors for debt
restructuring;

(i)  The Group is looking for opportunity to dispose the
investment properties of the Group;

(i) The Group is implementing cost-saving measures to
improve its operating cash flows and financial position.

Accordingly, the management of the Company are of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements,
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
issued by International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 January 2023. IFRSs comprise International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting
Standards (“IAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised IFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group's
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and
revised IFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised IFRSs would have a material impact on its
results of operations and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policy set out
below.
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4.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the Directors to
exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company's
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling
shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company's
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

In the Company's statement of financial position the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for impairment
losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share
of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of
acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive
income, the amount that was recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised on the same basis as would be required if
the previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in
the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention
and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's
share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant
activities are activities that significantly affect the returns of the
arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held
by other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its assets,
including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities,
including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue
from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint
operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share
of any expenses incurred jointly, in accordance with the IFRSs
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share
of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results
in a loss of joint control represents the difference between
(i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that joint venture and (ii)
the Group's share of the net assets of that joint venture plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
useful lives are as follows:

The shorter of the term of
the relevant lease or their
estimated useful lives

Leasehold improvements

Leasehold land and buildings
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Over 22 - 30 years
Over 3 — 5 years
Over 5 years

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.
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4.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment property is land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is
measured initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable
to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use
by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Properties leased for own use 2 - 20 years
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is

recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

179



e M BRRWE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

ERGHBERER (&)

BYEE

P e 2 | & BE Y] 2 1R Bk AN B
R THERE - EARAERF
HWEREEDEANRRTINE
REMBFAREBEAK ABR
AE R E R ER & E#EN G
A fE A FRARRE AR

BREEAHERREAEN - &
BERAEAFHNETLEE (mEA
FEERIN) B IHPMERT AT E A F IR

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are
available for use. Amortisation for intangible assets, except for
brand name, with finite useful lives is provided on straight-line

BRARTR - SRR ¢ basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

;i 0.5FE10F A L Software Over 0.5 — 10 years
e 54 Domain 5 years
BERE (EHER 35FE6FULE Exclusive cooperative rights Over 3.5 - 6 years
EyydalEs 5.75F £10F U E Business relationship Over 5.75 — 10 years
At 104F Others 10 years
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives including brand
name are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. An internally generated
intangible asset arising from the Group’s development is
recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as software
and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised
at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except
in the case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in consolidated profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost;

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income; and

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt investments are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling assets; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss.

The assets are treated as monetary items. A foreign
currency asset is treated as an asset measured at amortised
cost in the foreign currency. Exchange differences on the
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss.

Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the debt
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the debt investment revaluation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss.

The loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised

in other comprehensive income and does not reduce the
carrying amount of the assets.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised
cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income on
initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in consolidated profit or loss are net of any
interest income and dividend income. Interest income and
dividend income are recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets (including accounts receivables, bills receivables,
amounts due from related parties, contract assets, receivables at
FVTOCI, other receivables, deposits paid to property developers,
deposits paid for acquisition of property and equipment, rental
deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances) and other items which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivables, amounts due from related parties of trade nature —
accounts receivables, bills receivables, receivables at FVTOCI and
contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i)
it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a deregistration
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
measurement of ECL on accounts receivables, amounts due
from related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables,
bills receivables, receivables at FVTOCI and contract assets
are assessed on an individual basis for customers with
good credit rating (strategic type customers) or with high
credit risk (normal risk type customers — credit-impaired,
high risk type customers or individually assessed customers)
or debtors with significant outstanding balances are
assessed for ECL individually, and the remaining (normal
risk type customers — not credit-impaired) is assessed
collectively using provision matrix. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on these assets using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
settlement pattern, past default experience of the debtor,
fair value of real estate properties obtained as collateral,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with IFRS 16.
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Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivables, amounts
due from related parties of trade nature — accounts
receivables, bills receivables, receivables at FVTOCI| and
contract assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for receivables at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amounts through a loss allowance account. For
receivables at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income without reducing the carrying
amount of these receivables. Such amount represents the
changes in relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of receivables at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserves
is reclassified to profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Convertible notes

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a
conversion option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertible note is carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
note are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating
to the derivative component are charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt component
are included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible note using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. A performance obligation represents a service
(or a bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
services that are substantially the same. Control is transferred
over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the service.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation.

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the
most likely amount, depending on which method better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from real estate agency services in the primary market
and distribution business in the primary market (included in the
real estate brokerage network services) is recognised at a point
in time when the service is rendered and (a) the property buyer
has executed the sales and purchase agreement and made the
required downpayment or (b) the sales and purchase agreement
has been registered with the relevant government authorities
according to the terms and conditions stated in different agency
contracts, since only by that time the Group has a present
right to payment from the property developers for the services
performed.

For the real estate agency services in the primary market, the
Group’s commission rate receivable is variable based on a pre-
agreed sales target. Prior to the time that the Group’s sales met
the pre-agreed sales target, the Group will recognise revenue
based on a lower commission rate. until when the pre-agreed
sales target is met, the Group will recognise the incremental
revenue, representing the variable considerations, at the higher
commission rate on the performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods.

Revenue from real estate consultancy services is recognised at a
point in time when the service is rendered and the customer (i.e.
property developer) has received and endorsed the consultancy
report, since only by that time the Group has a present right to
payment for the services performed.

Revenue from real estate data services, a fee-based subscription
to the Group’s proprietary CRIC system, which are a series of
proprietary real estate database and analysis system developed
by the Group, is recognised over time (i.e. subscription period)
because the customer (i.e. property developer) simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance as the entity performed.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

For the distribution business in the primary market, the Group's
commission rate receivable is based on a pre-agreed commission
rate.

Revenue from other services in the real estate brokerage
network services is recognised at a point in time when the sales
are completed, since only by that time the Group has a present
right to payment from the small to medium-sized secondary real
estate brokerage stores for the services performed.

Revenue from E-commerce services is recognised at a point in
time when discount coupons are used by the customer (i.e.
individual property buyer), since only by that time the customer
can purchase specified properties from real estate developers at
discounts greater than the face value of the fees charged by the
Group.

Revenue from online advertising services is recognised over time
(i.e. advertising period) when the service is rendered and the
customer (i.e. property developer) simultaneously received and
consumed the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as
the entity performed.

Revenue from listing services in the network services is
recognised over time because the customers (i.e. real estate

A) ﬁﬁﬂé?%&iﬁ%l;?aﬁf EER A brokers) simultaneously received and consumed the benefits
HIBAMFEEOF = provided by the entity’s performance as the entity performed.
H A Other revenue

HE WARBRAABRERER

M BHLAE A B BRI ROXHER ©
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Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit scheme cost charged in profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to
the funds. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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4.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details
of which are given in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured
at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based
vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that
are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with
the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in consolidated
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

201



202

HE2023F 128310 ILEE

e M BRRWE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

ERGHBERER (&)

BiIE (%)

EIEBIABE TR M B 2 7 R B
ERANKREARNAEELENE
SEENERVEREERTIA
FERR - M fid AN 5 T RE S92 ) B B 1
ZENBEAELRMEEETENA
5 SR Bl A VE Rl

EERREENREEDR SRS
HIRER  WATHAIEHEFLER
5 JRE BR B0 M) A & B UK 1= B A Bk D
DEERRIELIR o

BEBAT IR EERERE
REEMRERANRE  ERER
EHRERMBLER EEBEMAH
Rt E - EERBAINES BT
R AN H 2w s g
REEENEEZTERNIEL R
FERIBRIBRIN - FEUEBRT - BT
IR T5 & 170 H A 2 T MY 25 o FERR 3R
BHERNERTER °

BEMAEERBENERRIZ
RAEE R RS HARBIEREIAUL
Bk EEEERBBREENT
TR R

EERIRE E R B ERAIEORATT
RE R DABD HR 7 10 & E 55 B A B IR
BER  UERRZFELERBEEE
KRB ETIRARN R — B 55 B8 AT Bk
MFEHEARNEERIAFEELE
HHAMHAEE R BER TIRE
8 °

SE(TE)C¥ERERAT —E--FERS

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's various
lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(B)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A);

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in consolidated profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in consolidated profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
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EREFBRER (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
BERIEAEE Provisions and contingent liabilities
MAEEEBESHA LBRB LR Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
SHEEETMAESRERELERN amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
WmIABITEM - WHEEED A #G obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
SR Blegm ARERER RN an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
EEEREE MNEENKEER obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
BXAIBEGUAEREBETEEMN value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
FEXHHRETIR - value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.
finl 78 7% H A4S B T &5 19 A e ME T Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
NI N I e SR - U will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
BR FE 7 AR B A 25 9 AT BE IEAR - the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
GRABEBEABEEAXBEAE - probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
BARFRERAEZRAREHREE existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
EAREBERERTNEESRE - occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
TERELAXBEARE : WREHA] contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
BEERR K BIVERIER
HERREE Events after the reporting period
RHEGERNEERREARMIL Events after the reporting period that provide additional
BINER M ME BB EHENKAR information about the Group's position at the end of the
BRERZITHENETERAES reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
B URBRGEEMBEHREAN - I assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
FAREEENMEAEFIHNE reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
BER - BleREe g mENEA the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
HE - in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
ERAEREEMET 5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
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ESTIMATES
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

a)

b)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful completion of the debt
restructuring and certain measures as mentioned in note
2 to improve its operating results and cash flows. The
directors of the Company believe that the Group will have
sufficient funds to finance its current working capital
requirements in the next twelve months from the end
of the reporting date. Details are explained in note 2 to
consolidated financial statements.

Judgements in determining the performance
obligations

Note 4 describes the revenue recognition basis to each
of the Group’s revenue stream. The recognition of the
Group's revenue from the real estate agency services in the
primary market requires judgement by the management of
the Group in determining the performance obligations.

In making their judgement, the directors of the Company
consider the detailed criteria for recognition of revenue
set out in IFRS 15 with reference to the details terms of
transaction as stipulated in the contracts entered into with
its customers and counterparties.

For the real estate agency services in the primary market,
although such services includes certain promotional and
marketing activities (including formulating and executing
marketing and sales strategies) to facilitate the sales
transaction of first-hand property units for the property
developers, the respective service fee was either included
in the pre-determined commission rate of the transaction
price of each property unit sold or the respective cost of
services was repayable to the Group on reimbursement
basis. Therefore, the management of the Group assessed
that the promotional and marketing services were not
distinct and account for all the services performed as a
single performance obligation.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

9]

Principal versus agent assessment in revenue
recognition of online advertising business

In respect of the online advertising services, the Group
mainly through Leju provides comprehensive advertisement
placement services to the advertisers (i.e., property
developers) through a packaged online cross-media and
cross-platform product portfolio, including those owned
by the Group and other independent publishers. The
management of Group considers that the Group acts
as a principal in this arrangement because the Group
is a contracting party to its advertisers and is primarily
responsible for delivering the specified service to the
advertisers. The Group controls the specified service before
that service is transferred to an advertiser because (i) the
Group has the discretion to decide which media publishers
to be used and what type of the advertisements to be
placed; (i) the Group is subject to certain risk of loss to the
extent that the cost paid to the media publishers which is
charged to the Group based on a number of methodology,
including viewship (CPM) or click (CPC) or others, cannot
be compensated by the total consideration obtained from
the advertisers; and (iii) the Group has the discretion to
determine the cost charged to the advertisers, which
affects the Group’s margin as the costs incurred to deliver
might vary. Therefore, the Group reports revenue earned
from the advertisers and costs paid to the media publishers
related to these transactions on a gross basis.

In addition, the management of the Group considers
the Group acts as an agent for those arrangements that
the Group only earns agreed rebates from certain media
publishers and recognises such rebates as revenue on a
net basis. Media publishers grant the Group rebates in the
form of prepayments for the media publishers’ services
or cash, mainly based on the gross spending of the
advertisers. In some circumstances, the Group will share
with its advertisers certain amount of the rebates earned
from the media publishers, of which is accounted for as a
reduction of the rebates, and the Group recognises such
net amount of rebates as revenue.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below:

a)

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties - accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) (“Trade
Related Balances”)

Trade Related Balances with good credit rating (strategic
type customers), high credit risk (normal risk type
customers — credit-impaired or high risk type customers) or
debtors with significant outstanding balances are assessed
for ECL individually, and the remaining (normal risk type
customers — not credit-impaired) is estimated collectively
using the provision matrix, based on historical settlement
pattern, past default experience of the debtor, fair value
of real estate properties obtained as collateral, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The assessment of the credit risk of the Trade Related
Balances involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are more
than expected, a material reversal of loss allowance for ECL
may arise. However, when the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, a material impairment loss for ECL may
arise, the credit risk of the customer might be assessed as
credit-impaired, and it might further affect the revenue
recognition and/or measurement, resulting in a material
reduction to the amount of revenue.
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5.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties - accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) (“Trade
Related Balances”) (Continued)

During the current year, the Group identified a significant
amount of Trade Related Balances due from certain
property developer customer had become overdue.
Based on the facts and circumstances currently available,
the credit risk of certain property developer customer
is assessed to be increased significantly at the end of
reporting period.

Although the credit risk of certain property developer
customer as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 has been
assessed as increased significantly and a significant
amount of ECL has been recognised in both financial
years, in the near future, if any one or more events arisen
from certain property developer customer that might
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the Trade Related Balances will have occurred,
its respective outstanding Trade Related Balances might
then result in a significant amount of additional ECL to
be recognised in profit or loss at that time. In addition, if
the Group continues providing future services to certain
property developer customer, a material uncertainty might
arise in assessing the Group’s probability to collect the
consideration, it might also affect the revenue recognition
and/or measurement.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

Loss allowance for ECL on accounts receivables,
bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties - accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) (“Trade
Related Balances”) (Continued)

The Group, with the engagement of a firm of independent
professional valuers, performed ongoing assessment on
the ECL at the end of each reporting period or upon
a significant change in the circumstances affecting
the credit quality of its customers. As at 31 December
2023, based on the valuation result prepared by the
firm of independent professional valuers, the fair value
of the Group’s receivables at FVTOCI amounted to
RMB289,582,000 (2022: RMB696,368,000), which
included with ECL amounting to RMB6,324,755,000
(2022: RMB6,283,466,000) as disclosed in note 23 and
the carrying amount of the Group's accounts receivables,
bill receivables and amounts due from related parties —
accounts receivables carried at amortised cost amounted to
RMB52,802,000 net of loss allowance for ECL amounted
to RMB701,503,000 (2022: RMB25,387,000, net of
loss allowance for ECL amounted to RMB744,043,000),
as disclosed in notes 21 and 22, respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements.
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5.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

b)

9]

Impairment of intangible assets

The policy for impairment of intangible assets of the Group
is based on an evaluation of their recoverable amount
with reference to expected future cash flows based on
management’s estimation. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in estimating the expected future
cash flows from the Group's intangible assets. If the
recoverable amounts are less or more than expected than
the carrying amounts of the intangible assets, or changes
in facts and circumstances which may result in revisions of
the estimated future cash flows, impairment or reversal of
impairment loss may be required.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward
and deductible temporary differences are recognised and
measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the relevant assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of each reporting date. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a number of
assumptions related to the operating environment of the
Group and require a significant level of judgement on the
part of the directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgement would affect the carrying amounts of deferred
tax assets to be recognised and hence the net profit in
future years.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

d)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management
of the Group is responsible for determining the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. When
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group uses valuation
techniques that include inputs that are not based on
observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments. Note 34(c) provides detailed
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various types of financial instruments.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. WA 6. REVENUE
AEBHWRARE(N)—FERER The Group derives its revenue from (1) real estate agency services
% QFRMESBERBHRRS  (3) in the primary market, (2) real estate data and consulting
B ELLHERTE 48T services, (3) real estate brokerage network services and (4)
HARTS o B ERIRIR (BRI S S 5 24 digital marketing services. This is consistent with the revenue
A B8R FEL K2 WS MATH information that is disclosed for each operating and reportable
BRWAER — - segment under IFRS 8:
2023F 20224
AR¥T T AREFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR —BFEERAN—FF Real estate agency services in the primary
RIZRT market, recognised at a point in time 219,624 586,473
J 3 B B 56 S AR 75 Real estate data and consulting services
— BRI ERN A AR — consulting services, recognised at
a point in time 315,854 386,665
— ER R ERNEIRRTS — data services, recognised over time
(Ktita) (note a) 128,054 173,149
443,908 559,814
5 O EEAS A0 AR 48 AR 75 Real estate brokerage network services
— R -HHERN—F — distribution business in the primary
EE e market, recognised at a point in
time 1,499,043 1,547,958
— R — By B RERR B EL At AR 75 — other services, recognised at a point
in time 11,365 28,640
1,510,408 1,576,598
H T & HARTS Digital marketing services
—ER - RHERNETFES — E-commerce, recognised at a point
(Ktatb) in time (note b) 1,859,516 1,975,410
— IR — R ER — Online advertising services,
RN L ESE RS recognised over time on a
gross basis 410,052 332,183
—IRFRHAETRE R — Online advertising services,
TR RS RS recognised over time on a
net basis 2,931 2,726
— ERX R ERNE IR IR — Listing services, recognised over time - 75
2,272,499 2,310,394
4,446,439 5,033,279
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REVENUE (Continued)

Notes:

(@) As at 31 December 2023, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations in relation to the consulting
fee income and fee-based subscription fee income that were
unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied amounted to RMB84,281,000
(2022: RMB100,349,000) and were accounted for as contract
liabilities as set out in note 27.

(b)  As at 31 December 2023, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations in relation to the E-commerce
service income that were unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
amounted to RMB115,920,000 (2022: RMB29,907,000) and were
accounted for as contract liabilities as set out in note 27.

The management of the Group expects the transaction price
allocated to the abovementioned unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied contracts will be recognised in full as revenue within
the coming twelve months period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to Chief Executive Officer, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM") of the Group, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:
(i)  Real estate agency services in the primary market

The Group provides real estate agency services in the
primary market that primarily include formulating and
executing marketing and sales strategies for real estate
projects developed by real estate developers, promoting
the projects to prospective purchasers, and facilitating sales
transactions.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited

215



e M BRRWE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 ILEE

7. 2HER (&)

(i)

P52 BUR M vk s AR A

AEETERBIATRS

. FABRKHCRICEG S

BEPRHEBEIRR

o RHFEHMERF RBEER

% Rk

s REMEREREFES
TE HIFER

=

A

EiErE -

AEBVABEHN(REA
—FRIBHEN) % HEA
BCRICE#A (BASEMER
—RIBEEWEHBEELD
MRS WEHARBEERA

RETRIVERWA -

(iii)

AEERHERMETEET
BN FREELEPED
FHEKLBERY - BZE
NAEIMEHELR
IR e s - AREEAERE K
an R JE R A £ B & 1 E A 5
WERKLARSHRMMWEER
R BHEMERBERT,E

RIFERE -

216  ZBE(FE)LEZRERAT

5 7 AR 40 48 4k AR 755

=T

=
A )

&
Ea

- FEREE
B BR AT 75 1O 55 3 EE R S AR
% - STEHEER AR BIH

e

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Real estate data and consulting services
The Group mainly provides the following services:

o providing customers with a wide range of data
services, leveraging the powerful CRIC systems;

o offering real estate rating and ranking services; and

o providing real estate consulting services that are
tailored to meet the needs of property developer
clients throughout the design, development and sales
stages and address specific issues encountered by
them.

The Group receives consulting services fee income and
subscription-based fee income in relation to its proprietary
CRIC system, which is a series of proprietary real estate
database and analysis system developed by the Group,
for a fixed amount upon entering into the subscription
contract, normally for a one year subscription period
contract.

Real estate brokerage network services

The Group provides real estate brokerage network
services under the Fangyou brand of integrating small and
medium-sized secondary real estate brokerage stores in the
PRC, and empowering them with rich resources in their
business operations. In addition, the Group can help their
property developer customers expand their sales channels
by sourcing buyers of new properties through Fangyou-
branded stores and other real estate brokerage firms that
the Group cooperates with.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(iv)

Digital Marketing services

Leju is primarily engaged in the business of E-commerce,
online advertising services and listing services (collectively

referred to as “Digital Marketing”).

Leju operates and

manages its business as a single Digital Marketing segment.
The Digital Marketing mainly provides the following
services:

a)

E-commerce services

The Group offers individual property buyers discount
coupons that enable them to purchase specified
properties from property developers at discounts
greater than the face value of the fees charged by
the Group. Discount coupons are collected initially
upfront from the property buyers and are refundable
at any time before they are used to purchase the
specified properties.

Online advertising services

Revenue from online advertising services is principally
from online advertising services, and also rebates
from certain media publishers from the rendering of
advertising placement services of its advertisers (i.e.
property developers). Online advertising services allow
customers to place advertisements on particular areas
of the online media and platforms (including those
owned by the Leju Group and other independent
publishers) in particular formats and over a specified
period of time.

Listing service

Listing services entitle real estate brokers to post
and make changes to information for properties in
a particular area on Leju’'s website for a specified
period of time, in exchange for a fixed fee.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. DEER (&) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
D EBRA R EE Segment revenue and results
UTREERERMO DT AEE The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
L ONSES by operating and reportable segment:
BE2023F12HA31HILFEE For the year ended 31 December 2023
-¥E EHEHER EHELR
RERE B BEHE  FTEHRE b 5t
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
Real estate
agency Real estate Real estate
services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market services services services Elimination Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

WA Revenue
ES External sales 219,624 443,908 1,510,408 2,272,499 - 4,446,439
HHREER Inter-seqment sales 95,374 18,772 95,226 4N (209,843) -
5t Total 314,998 462,680 1,605,634 2,272,970 (209,843) 4,446,439
PHEE SEGMENT LOSS (148,869) (129,368) (75,083) (586,890) - (940,210)
FAERT Unallocated expenses (17,011)
ARERERESE Unallocated net exchange loss (63,061)
KARBEZEWEA Unallocated net fair value loss on

BRHNSREENADE  financial assets at FVTPL

MEBFETE (22,933)
AARZEHDLEEKE  Fair value gain on convertible note 1,563
Tt NS Share of results of associates 1,962
BIREBHSKA Bank and other interest income 11,846
BENA Finance costs (443,054)
NREEEDRHEFAT  Equity-settled share-based

payment expenses (11,957)

HagE Loss hefore taxation (1,542,915)
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7. DEER (&) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

P L ONES SE ) Segment revenue and results (Continued)
E22022F12A31ALLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
-5 BHEHER FHELL
2R R BERE  FTEHRY Faf )
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT
Real estate
agency Real estate Real estate
Services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market Services Services services Elimination Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A Revenue
HpHER External sales 586,473 559,814 1,576,598 23103% - 5,033,279
PHNHES Inter-segment sales 17,642 10,562 40,034 67,484 (135,722) =
@t Total 604,115 570,376 1,616,632 2,371,818 (135,722) 5,033,279
3(58)/H8 SEGMENT (LOSS)/PROFIT (985,547) (324,136) (573981)  (2.218.943) 434 (4,098,265)
AR Unallocated expenses (109,114)
AORELEETE Unallocated net exchange loss (268,987)
RAABEZEWEA Unallocated net fair value loss on
BANLREENRDE  financial assets at FVTPL
MEEEESE (111,597)
AEREEHALEERE  Fair value gain on convertible note 12,915
Al UNTES Share of results of associates 2,826
BIREMHMERA Bank and other interest income 48,672
BERA Finance costs (471,752)
NREEENROEFAT  Fquity-settled share-based
payment expenses (12,211)
REE Loss before taxation (5,007,513)
B A S ED @ S B SR A BT AR The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
EEeHKEAR - 2B (EE) as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment
MEBAZSDEAELEEE LS }Flj (loss)/profit represents the loss incurred and profit earned by
N \’&I?ﬁ%ﬁi HEE@SE Fi ) each segment without allocation of unallocated expenses,
PEH BB FEaE - L{ETE;'I'EJ\E unallocated net exchange loss, unallocated net fair value loss
ufkTﬁﬁgﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬁim* DB on financial assets at FVTPL, fair value gain on convertible note,
1'@\@}%5%’?%& :{L@f*ngh share of results of associates, interest income, finance costs
Eﬂ%iﬂfﬁﬁ Eggkgﬁﬂzi MZ;J and equity-settled share-based payment expenses. This is the
BOURRS LR RGN Do el io e COOM o e puse of e
SRARR R A AT P :
EZ‘“%J&%%E?&WJEHE e
SEANEEENIRER N TS ER Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

AHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. ZERER (F)
SHEERAE
TEEERFERESES BOE
BEMEHRE - BN EBEER
%% ok T HIE BB R D BA R
BAHARRMEMER - Rume

JIDHEERDEBABHDN
It B2 D EBBRA KD BPRE -

Hftt o sE

HF2023F12H531HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results
of each segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment
liability is presented as the CODM does not regularly review
such information for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and
segment results are presented.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2023

-¥F  BHEHER EHELL
RERE EEL RERE  HFEERE AR LR
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR INL o ARETR
Real estate
agency Real estate Real estate

services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market services services services  Unallocated Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HAMEATEENSE:  Amounts included in the
measure of segment loss:

TEREH Depreciation and amortisation
BEARERDEEREN  Netloss allowance on financial
CHEAERRRALE assets subject to ECL recognised
BEDERHEERERL  Impairment losses recognised on
non-Current assets
HENBRANEE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
HERTEENSEFE  Netloss on disposal of intangible

assets
HEMERRENSRFE  Netloss on disposal of property
and equipment
HEXEMENSEFE  Netloss on disposal of investment
properties

6,873 105,408 2,685 135,320 35474 285,760
6,326 11433 81,847 (34,095) - 65,511

- 40,817 - - - 40,817
2,350 - - - - 2,350

- - - - 193 193
3,403 1 23 9,002 - 12,435
5,925 - - - - 5,925
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D EER (&) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
H 5 & ¥ Other segment information (Continued)
BZE2022F12831HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
-5 BHEHER FHELL
2R FARE BERE  FTEERY AR @t
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFTL ARETT
Real estate
agency Real estate Real estate
services in data and brokerage Digital
the primary consulting network Marketing
market Services Services services Unallocated Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HAEE (BE)/FIEH Amounts included in the measre
£E: of segment (loss)/profit:
HEREH Depreciation and amortisation 24,108 64,464 5,257 143,877 299,815 537,521
EEAMERDEERRN  Netloss allowance on financial
SHAEERARTE assets subject to ECL recognised 351,429 76,065 310,906 257,559 = 995,959
BEERSHEERERS  Impaiment losses recognised on
non-current assets - - - 1,034,791 - 1,034,791
HERBAANKE Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (14,560) - - - - (14,560)
HEMERREN (W) Net (gain)loss on disposal of
FRER property and equipment (715) 3 ” 203 = (459)
MERENEORZFE  Net gain on disposal of investment
properties (727) - - (2,578) - (3,305)
i EE R Geographical information

HZE2023F12A31BIEFE > K
EEMEBURTE (BEES)
(2022%F : FRA(BIEEB)) - B
REBEBRAINBEEWRFZHERTY
RIEEBWIZES] - BEAAEEE
REEEMNER T REEERMIE
EZ? -

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's operations
are located in the PRC (including Hong Kong) (2022: PRC
(including Hong Kong)). Information about the Group’s revenue
from external customers is presented based on the location
of the operations. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the geographical location of the
assets.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. DEER (F) 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
HEER () Geographical information (Continued)
5 B SN S B A IERENAE (HfEt)
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets (note)

2023F 20224 202345 20224
AR T AREFIT AR¥ET T AREFIT
2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

FE(BEEE) The PRC

(including
Hong Kong) 4,446,439 5,033,279 2,151,139 2,618,611
et Note:
ERHEETBIEEWRE 5 E - & Non-current assets excluded amounts due from related parties, deferred
ERBEERSBAERTIANETH tax assets, and certain other non-current assets classified as financial
fhIEMENEE © instruments.
FEEFHNER Information about major customers
REEBEMASERBA10% A E Revenue from customer which individually contributed over 10%
HEPHBRALLT - of the Group's revenue as follows:
2023F 20224
AR¥F T AREFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ZEA Customer A 744,803 M5 Note
BaE Note:
REBFEERASERBAEKR10% Contributed less than 10% of the Group's total revenue for the relevant

year.
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9A.

H A

8. OTHER INCOME

20234 20224
AREBTT ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
R1T R E AT BULA Bank and other interest income 11,846 48,672
BB (KaE) Government grants (note) 38,722 70,336
HE WA Rental income 13,522 20,132
) Others 7,994 11,641
72,084 150,781

K Note:

ZEBEARCERERSE  MREER
ERBYEET B T E A BB AP K
MR8 - A B B BT AP IE R
iy ECIRC SR

HEEAREERRNE

The amount represents government grants received from various PRC
government authorities in connection with the enterprise development
support, fiscal subsidy and various tax incentives, which had no
conditions imposed by the respective PRC government authorities.

9A.LOSS ALLOWANCE ON FINANCIAL

RIEEBERE (RE ASSETS SUBJECT TO ECL, NET OF
=) REVERSAL
20234 20224
AREBT T ARETFIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AT & IEREIBEE CEE),/ (Provision)/reversal of loss allowance on:
B -
BAEEFETFT AR Receivables at FVTOCI
Z2HE A FE W RIR (41,289) (635,581)
JFEE Uk BR TR K% B I ZE AR Accounts receivables and bills
receivables 23,873 (62,926)
FE U BARSE 5 & 5 1 B 3R TE Amounts due from related parties of
trade nature 4,613 (23,026)
FEW BAESE 7 IEE 5 1 B K IE Amounts due from related parties of
non-trade nature 202 306
EHEE Contract assets - 528
Ha sk IE R B IE B B E Other receivables and other non-current
assets (52,910) (275,260)
(65,511) (995,959)
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

9B. Hfth iz K &5 #HE 9B. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
2023 20224
AR®T T AREF T
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
HEWMERZEDN (BE),/ Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property
a5 and equipment (12,435) 459
EEREMERN (BB),/ Net (loss)/gain on disposal of investment
W5 FEE properties (5,925) 3,305
bE 5 B8 558 Net exchange loss (59,028) (239,616)
ARAREBEENFABRD Net fair value loss on financial assets at
TRIEENANEBEERTE FVTPL (22,933) (111,597)
AR B A R B ERE Fair value gain on convertible note 1,563 12,915
HERBARN (B1B), IkE (Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries (2,350) 14,560
TN EB AR REE Loss on de-registration of subsidiaries (107) =
WEHE T & EREIEFEE Net loss on written off of intangible assets (193) =
HEREE AR REEFE  Net loss on disposal of interests in
associates - (1)
WRILFRAEEERHEREZ Net gain on termination of right-of-use
W55 F R assets and lease liabilities 5,239 3,031
(96,169) (316,944)

OC. BRI ARHESEMNHMEE 9C. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED ON

S NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2023 20224
ARBT T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

BRREVMENRERL Impairment losses recognised on
investment properties (40,817) -

HREFEENRBERLX Impairment losses recognised on
intangible assets - (1,034,791)

(40,817) (1,034,791)
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10.

11.

R E A 10. FINANCE COSTS
2023 20224
ARET T ARETT
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
RITE A S Interest on bank borrowings 35,662 59,626
H At &5 A S Interest on other borrowings 331,157 327,922
HEBENE Interest on lease liabilities 7.673 11,703
AR EBRNERNERAX Effective interest expense on
convertible note 68,562 72,501
443,054 471,752
FR8HiER 11. INCOME TAX CREDIT
2023 20224
AR®T T AREFT
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 1 ZE PTG A PRC Enterprise Income Tax
BIEAT 1A Current tax 27,869 40,853
SR F S R EE R Overprovision in prior years (20,749) (29,733)
7,120 11,120
“EIENFIE Withholding tax of Leju - (3,261)
EIEFRIEE % (f1aE30) Deferred tax credit (note 30) (25,238) (46,848)
(18,118) (38,989)
g8 Hong Kong

REMBERRLERFTENGSHE
REE AAAKERME R E
EARTMNBABAETENEM -

years.
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No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for both
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

11. ISHER (E8) 11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

PE

BRTIXHEBENZSTENE QA
Sh - REBCHEARKMBE B XA
BREIR(FEARAMBE X
PREBUEERGE) ([(EEMEHR
BN o FRA E A B KB A RN
FRAREEREH25% °

RIBCRERERE) RAEER -
AEB AP EK B R AR EH
BEMREBR AT ([ EHH])
HESHMEMtEER  BEZSX
15%HERMRE - EEEIH20184F
TRAZE2021F7RABH=F  WiHE
ZXMH2021F7AE2024F A=
FREERESS -

RIBCEEMBRIE) RIBEER -
AEBRPEKB LR LEEERE
ERERMH AR QBTG S
PEEW  BEZZI5%MEEN
R BHEHAR2017F11 AE20204F
MABBH=F  WHEEZZH2020
F11AE2023F 11 A A =F01E
BHIESFS -

BB ERBRE) RBRER -
KNEEH P BB R R L& R
BEERBAERARME S M
EER - BEENR2018F11AE
2021 F 11 AZER15%ERTKF X
WEHEZZH20215F11 AE2024%5
EHR=-FHNESHERFS -

AEBMPEMBRR SR ME
EERMBRARTAE S EME
XER  AEZXI15%MERR
R BHEHAR2020F11 AE2023F
MABH=%F -
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PRC

Save as those PRC subsidiaries disclosed below, pursuant to
the EIT Law and Implementation Regulations of the Law of the
PRC (the "EIT Law"), the statutory tax rate of all other PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Beijing CREA Technology Services Ltd.* (1t 5 =& 19 5 fi AR 7%
BBRAF]) (“Zhongfangyanxie”), a PRC subsidiary of the Group,
was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise and was
approved to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of
three years from July 2018 to July 2021 and continue to enjoy
the preferential tax treatment for a period of three years from
July 2021 to 2024 in accordance with the EIT Law and relevant
regulations.

Shanghai Zhuxiang Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (E/&
HEEERERM AR AT, a PRC subsidiary of the Group,
was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise and was
approved to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period
of three years from November 2017 to November 2020 and
continue to enjoy the preferential tax treatment for a period
of three years from November 2020 to November 2023 in
accordance with the EIT Law and relevant regulations.

Shanghai SINA Leju Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (E/&
FORZEEBEHEABRAR]), a PRC subsidiary of the Group
was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprise and was
entitled to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% from November
2018 to November 2021 and continue to enjoy the preferential
tax treatment for a period of three years from November 2021
to 2024 in accordance with the EIT Law and relevant regulations.

Shanghai CRIC Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (/&R MiHE
BRATERZR]), a PRC subsidiary of the Group was qualified as
High and New Technology Enterprise and was entitled to enjoy
a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of three years from
November 2020 to November 2023.



1. FisHER (&)
HE (&)

1R ¥ AR B 7 SR b [ (b 3 8 A /9 AR
ER G AEEERERBINBARE
ESERIREBMBRATER15%
FEBRHRE - EEHHE2014F10A4
1THZ=2030F12A31 B AH+F
Z=@A - REE2022F K% 2023F
12A31HLEFE AEBE TR
URHPEAS AN HEARER
AR EZEZ15%MEERREK o

FENMSHELERE R RE
b2 ERERAOTRIEESRNT

11.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)
PRC (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to enterprises
situated in the western regions of the PRC, Chongqging E-House
Investment Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (EESEREBHAR
A 7]), a wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the Group, enjoys
a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of sixteen years
and three months from 1 October 2014 to 31 December
2030. Certain subsidiaries of the Group also situated in the
western regions of the PRC which are approved by the relevant
regulations to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% in the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023F 20224

AR®ET T ARETT

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB'000

A 18 Loss before taxation (1,542,915) (5,007,513)
HERAME25% T EHTIE Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25%

(20224 : 25%) (2022: 25%) (385,729) (1,251,878)
RGBS N R AN A 2 Tax effect at share of results of associates (491) (707)
TRAIMBRZ OB E Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes 236,944 392,109
DAERBWA R IB R E Tax effect of income not taxable for

tax purpose - (3,229)
SR R R E Overprovision in respect of prior years (20,749) (29,733)
RERHIBEENTR B S Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 43,970 408,818
A LAIRERNTIAEE Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised (5,394) (2,341)
RUER AR S R =58 Tax effect of deductible temporary

MIERE differences not recognised 99,306 434,380
AR AT R R AT E B % Utilisation of deductible temporary

=H differences previously not recognised (19,933) (16,708)
4T HIER G R T A Tax effect of tax concession granted 33,958 33,561
LIEIBHIFIA Withholding tax of Leju - (3,261)
FiSTHER Income tax credit (18,118) (38,989)

% English name is for the identification purpose only
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

12. FREEMAXXAE 12. TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR
THE YEAR
FRAEERZBEINBRATEIE Total comprehensive expense for the year has been arrived at
B ESN after charging:
2023 20224
ARBET T ARMFIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
EEEM Directors’ remuneration 4,234 6,428
=)= B N Other staff costs:
—E& - AN EMER — Salaries, bonus and other allowances 915,343 1,662,216
— RIRAE IR — Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 162,994 287,734
— AR E IR G B — Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses 10,664 10,969
1,089,001 1,960,919
BT AR Total staff costs 1,093,235 1,967,347
MERRETE Depreciation of property and equipment 91,014 84,394
CTREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 42,425 87,216
WEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 34,718 34,869
BB ER Amortisation of intangible assets 117,603 331,042
PrE M ERE Total depreciation and amortisation 285,760 537,521
A S Auditor’s remuneration 8,730 12,800

ST S EN R R & Research costs recognised as an expense

TR - and included in:
—BIMA — Staff costs 61,590 96,714
—WEREHAS — Depreciation and amortisation

expenses 1,691 1,976
— HAb L& KA — Other operating costs 17,866 24,031

81,147 122,721
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BAEERESTHBRAEEME  13A.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

RIFERCLEMARR) REE R
G EBEARARENERRFEA
ENRENARRAEERZRHTR
AERBHMEFHE (BREKRBA
NAREFRERAESEHERES

EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities
comprising the Group to the directors and chief executive of
the Company (including emoluments for services as employee/
directors of the group entities prior to becoming the directors
of the Company) for their services during the year, disclosed

EEREHME) 0T pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:
ZERARE HeR SENAN BABRN  NREBLEN
ESHRH ne Hihek Wi HElE  RONREX 5t
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT
Date of Retirement  Equity-settled
appointment as Salaries,  Performance benefit  share-based
a director of the and other related scheme payment
Company Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions expenses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
20035 Year ended
12A31BIEEE 31 December 2023
YhnES: Executive directors;
i Zhou Xin 2010624228
22 February 2010 - - - - 409 409
2 Huang Canhao 2017%11598
9 November 2017 - 800 - - 204 1,004
BIR Cheng Li-Lan 2018%3A168
16 March 2018 - 18 - - 340 418
THE (W) Ding Zuyu (note j 2018%3A168
16 March 2018 - 600 - 143 340 1,083
FrEs: Non-Executive directors:
ailte (Aetii) Xie Mei (note i 2018511 A308
30 November 2018 - - - - - -
et (i) Lv Peimei (note i) 20219428
2 September 2021 n - - - - n
173 (Witvi) Yang Yong (note v} 202254518
1 April 2022 225 - - - - 225
B (Bivi) Jiang Shanshan (note vi) 20227 A5B
5 July 2022 - - - - - -
BRT (atvii)  Chen Daiping (note vii) ~ 2023F9A4A
4 September 2023 JE] - - - - JE]
KM (W) Song Jiajun (notes i)~ 202334318
31 March 2023 - - - - - -
BUFHTEZ:  Independent Non-Executive directors:
& Zhang Bang 2018%7A108
10 July 2018 210 - - - - 210
RE Zhu Hongchao 2018F7 7108
10 July 2018 225 - - - - 225
B Wang Liqun 2018574108
10 July 2018 225 - - - - 225
) LiJin 201857108
10 July 2018 225 - - - - 225
1,320 1,478 - 143 1293 4,234
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

BAEERESTHAEME 13A.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

(4&) EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

RERRAR ) BENE RNEA  ARESER

ek #e Efti2 Biea AEfR RONREX a5t
AEBTR  AREfRT  ARETR N S N S N S

Date of Retirement  Equity-settled

appointment as Salaries,  Performance benefit  share-based

a director of the and other related scheme payment

Company Fees allowances bonuses  contributions expenses Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000

HEANE Year ended
12A3181LFE 31 December 2022

yi7Es: Executive directors:
5l Zhou Xin 2010528028

22 February 2010 - - - - 392 392
B Huang Canhao 217E1 A9

9 November 2017 - 2,500 - - 19 2,696
iR Cheng Li-Lan 2018%3A168

16 March 2018 - 228 - - 327 555
THE (W) Ding Zuyu (note j 2018%3A 168

16 March 2018 - 1,000 - 133 37 1,460
FTES: Non-Executive directors;
i (W) Xie Mei (note i) 2018F 11308

30 November 2018 - - - = = =
&8 (fritv) Zhang Hai (note v) 2020585318

31 August 2020 53 - - - - 53
78 (W) Tang Xing (note iv) 202159428

2 September 2021 - - - - - =
e (M) Lv Peimei (note i) 20215928

2 September 2021 214 - - - - 214
173 (Witvi) Yang Yong (note i) 2022%4F18

1 April 2022 160 - - - - 160
B (fisvi) Jiang Shanshan (note vij) 202297 A5

5 July 202 - - - . - -
BUHTES:  Independent Non-Executive directors:
& Zhang Bang 201877108

10 July 2018 256 - - - - 256
Rk Zhu Hongchao 2018%F7A108

10 July 2018 214 - - - - 214
Ik Wang Liqun 2018%7A108

10 July 2018 214 - - - - 214
X Li Jin 2018875108

10 July 2018 214 - - - - 214

1,325 3,728 > 133 1,242 6,428
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BAEERRESTHAEMS

(&)
M -

i) THERR/ARBRITRAE -
EXRABEBEENSBEE(ERED
TTRABRERBHME -

iy HEBHEARFIFERTESE B
2023F3 A31HIRER °

iy BMERTAQARENTESE B
20234F5 A5 HBAER °

v) GEBEARFIFERITESE B
2022F7 A5 BHBAERK -

V) REBEARARIERNITES © B
202264 B 1 BAEAERR ©

vi) BBEZAEABARRFRITES
B2022F4 1 HEAR -

vi BMMEZTARNRARFNITE
£ H2022F7ASHEEBAER -

vii) BRRAFEZTARNRARFNITE
E - H2023F94R#BAR -

ix) AREEBEZTAAAREHTE
£ H2023F3A31 BBER -

EXFINATESME IR EEFE
BARRARRASEEHMEROR
BRI AT o

EXFAERATESME IR F
ERARRREKBAR (MER)
BEENREAIAT

EXFNBIIFATESTHE 5
REERARNREZNRBEHAN -

REE2022F %2023F12A31H
EFE  WEEHRNLNES - HATE
FEAERBERABRERE AT AN
HEMmER  EERKEMZS - B
WA R S HR R S i R (A
EARAEMENER  ARAIESTER
B EERANRR I EARAR R
E¥BERCEERS  THHAEN
PR B AR o

13A.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

i) Ding Zuyu is also the chief executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered
by him as the chief executive.

i) Xie Mei had been resigned as non-executive director of the
Company, with effect from 31 March 2023.

iii) Lv Peimei had been resigned as non-executive director of the
Company, with effect from 5 May 2023.

iv)  Tang Xing had resigned as non-executive directors of the
Company, with effect from 5 July 2022.

V) Zhang Hai had resigned as non-executive directors of the
Company, with effect from 1 April 2022.

vi)  Yang Yong had been appointed as non-executive directors of the
Company, with effect from 1 April 2022.

vii)  Jiang Shanshan had been appointed as non-executive directors of
the Company, with effect from 5 July 2022.

viii)  Chen Daiping had been appointed as non-executive directors of
the Company, with effect from 4 September 2023.

ix)  Song Jiajun had been appointed as non-executive directors of the
Company, with effect from 31 March 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
paid for their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, there
are no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
the directors, their controlled bodies corporate and connected
entities. Also, there are no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company's business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of both reporting periods or at any time during both
years.
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

BAEERRETHAEMS

13B.

SE(FE) EEZRERAA

(%)

BEAN  RERFINREE2022F &
202312 A31 B It FEARTMAE
M BERRARLEZERESE
HAEE RERIREE2022F K
202312 A31 B It FEATMAE
B MUY ERTEES MIRERE
ME= S RBAEE -

EEReFHER

EHZE2023F12A31BIEFE > K
SERAESHREEBEAQAW
H(2022F - WEB)ESF BEZ
FMFBEN EXHIEI13A - HE
2023F 12 A31HILEE  Efp=2
(2022%F : =) BEIERRRIEEIN
FEZTBRABZERHREZSH
BHEEB T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

13A.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

13B.

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

In addition, no director’'s termination benefit subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2023. There are also no consideration
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available
Director's services subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group include two
(2022: two) directors of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023, details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 13A above. Details of the remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2023 of the remaining three (2022: three) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

20234 20224

AR®T T ARET T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

e hEMER Salaries and other allowances 2,202 2,229
R FFT B R Retirement benefit scheme contributions 422 406
2,624 2,635

HHNT THRE EAARES
CEREFEEMABET -

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

EE#AE
Number of employees
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
£ %1,000,000% 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
1,000,001 %70 1,500,000 HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1

e —fEas
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13B. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

14.

15.

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the management of
the Group or the five highest paid employees of the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the management of the
Group and five highest paid employees of the Group has waived
any emoluments during the both years.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was proposed nor declared by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

2023%F 20224
AR®ET T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
18 Loss:
RERERAREEEEMS - Loss for the year attributable to
RRCIHER ANELRF AR owners of the Company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss
per share (1,239,749) (3,896,299)
2023%F 20224
TR TR
2023 2022
‘000 ‘000
RIDER - Number of shares:
REREAREEEENS Weighted average number of ordinary
TR T HE share for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share 1,749,060 1,749,060

HE20229F%2023F 1283181t
FE ESREBIEBEBIAAA
BELER  EREMNATREESE
REEESE -

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the potential
ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
loss per share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
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16. xR =®RHE 16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
RELH FE
REXE kBT  RERZE "E @t
ARBTT  ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETR
Leasehold Furniture,
Leasehold landand  fixtures and Motor
improvements buildings equipment vehicles Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R cosT
202251 81A At 1 January 2022 453,297 766,577 132,412 19,321 1,371,607
HE Additions 9,474 17,559 2,879 = 29,912
HENBRA (Hi#37) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) = = (2,485) = (2,485)
e Disposals (5,431) (12,658) (13,161) (7,969) (39,219)
R202%12A318 At 31 December 2022 457,340 771,478 119,645 11,352 1,359,815
TE Additions 5,134 9,018 1,456 = 15,608
L& Disposals (3,988) (39,107) (5,073) (1,724) (49,892)
R2023%12A31R At 31 December 2023 458,486 741,389 116,028 9,628 1,325,531
ERAE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
R202%1A18 At 1 January 2022 (113,172) (64,411) (71,939) (12,391) (261,913)
ERNEE Provided for the year (50,410) (18,381) (14,024) (1,579) (84,394)
REERBAARE (#:#37)  Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries
(note 37) = = 1,515 = 1,515
R EREE Eliminated on disposals 5,338 1478 12,027 6,522 25,365
R202%12A318 At 31 December 2022 (158,244) (81,314) (72,421) (7,448) (319,427)
EREE Provided for the year (59,804) (20,941) (9,610) (659) (91,014)
L ERE Eliminated on disposals 2,950 2,957 2,147 1,425 9,479
R2023%12A31R At 31 December 2023 (215,098) (99,298) (79,884) (6,682)  (400,962)
FEE CARRYING VALUES
R2023F12A318 At 31 December 2023 243,388 642,091 36,144 2,946 924,569
R202%12A31R At 31 December 2022 299,096 690,164 47,224 3,904 1,040,388
MN2023F 128318 ' AEBERERE As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's leasehold land
A ANRM294,759,0007T (20224 - (2022: office premisses) and buildings with carrying amount of
AR#391,464,0000) WETHE RMB294,759,000 (2022: RMB391,464,000) were pledged as
T (20225 : WRBGHT) RIEEFIE securities for the Group’s bank borrowings as summarised in
RASERTEFOERR (Bt R note 45.
Bi3E45) °

234 ZE(FE)LEZRERAT —T-=FER
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17. FHEEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

HEMZ
ARBT T
Leased
properties
RMB'000
R2023F12 A31H At 31 December 2023
BRMEE Carrying amount 181,858
R2022F12 A31H At 31 December 2022
BRMEE Carrying amount 299,622
HZE2023F12A318HIEGFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
TEMZ Depreciation charge (42,425)
HE2022F12A31HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
WERY Depreciation charge (87,216)
2023%F 20224
ARETR ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
HGHHERENAY Expenses relating to short-term leases 47,059 97,175
HEBEEEME Expenses relating to leases of low-value
BRARX - assets, excluding short-term leases of
TRREEEEEENEREE low value assets 2,610 6,282
HEReRLER Total cash outflow for leases 88,056 105,103
FEREEERE Additions to right-of-use assets 36,678 102,965
BEERAREE Modification of right-of-use assets (112,017) (66,882)
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

17. FRAEEE (&) 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

HE2022%M2023F12A318 1k
FE AEEHERAZTHSMAR
L HEAHMU2E10% (2022
F2F10F) WEEHRETL -
BRI EMEBI AR LR - BIF
B R R AG M - REEHEM
M ETA e BENRER - A
SEERGANERLETEAT
SR BB TT RO EAR o

o REEFEEZRET - A%
BrzEYEED (BEEREEL
) ELEAA o ATHIEL — R
NHRARBZE Y FEEm - EEN
REERSENER - ZFBRAWEN
HELHHIEBZ -

AEBHBBASEHTLEHA
B o R2022F %2023F12 A31
H SHHEHcEGAERRE
HeErEREREENEHEERX
REHATf SRS -

236 SE(TE)LEZRERAT —T=FEHS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the Group
leases office premises for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 2 to 10 (2022: 2 to 10) years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several buildings. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
premises. As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.



18. REWE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ARBTFIT
RMB’'000

R cosT
R2022F1A1H At 1 January 2022 703,666
NE (MaE21%23) Additions (notes 21 and 23) 5,993
HE Disposals (13,247)
MR2022412831H At 31 December 2022 696,412
NE (BtiE21%23) Additions (notes 21 and 23) 6,587
HeE Disposals (11,871)
M2023412A831H At 31 December 2023 691,128
TERBE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
M2022F1A18 At 1 January 2022 (54,674)
FNEE Provided for the year (34,869)
FA H 6 FRF 3 4 Eliminated on disposals 1,035
MR2022%F12A31H At 31 December 2022 (88,508)
FNRE Provided for the year (34,718)
FRERERERKX Impairment loss recognised in the year (40,817)
FA 6 B 3 4 Eliminated on disposals 1,231
M2023%F12831H At 31 December 2023 (162,812)
FREE CARRYING VALUES
M2023412A831H At 31 December 2023 528,316
R2022F12 A31H At 31 December 2022 607,904

RZMEFEAN  KXEENREY
EHNENEEREERNRFS -

MN2023F12A310 - REBHKRE
YERNEEBARKES538,570,000
L (20224 + AR¥ 748,976,000
Jo) o HETHASEERE BT
B2 ERD 2 R AR R o B R 6 B
BHUMFLHOMEETE @ LER
EMABRREZLLANE -

The Group’s investment properties are held for both capital
appreciation and rental purpose during the both years.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2023 was RMB538,570,000 (2022: RMB748,976,000).
The valuation was determined by the management of the Group
and independent professional valuers by reference to recent
market prices for similar properties in the same locations and
conditions, and to consider if any adjustment factor necessary.
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

18. REWZE (&)

RESHRAEENREMEFE
RARBEEBREHDT

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information

about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

2023 F

R2023F 12A31H

12A31H HE=4

WEREE DNREE

ARBT AR%T R

Carrying  Fair value at

amount as at Level 3 at

31 December 31 December

2023 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

MRREDOEEMESM  Commercial property units located in Changsha 771 998
MR KENEHEMESNM  Commercial property units located in Tianjin 4,289 4,697
URESMEEMEERENM Commercial property units located in Ningxia 345 502
MR ERREEMESM Commercial property units located in Guiyang 239 212
REERMEEMEER  Commercial property units located in Wuhan 8,208 12,812
VRS SMEEMEEENM Commercial property units located in Qingdao 724 2,148
R B EMEERR  Commercial property units located in Shanghai 504,000 504,000
R BEMAEEMEEER  Commercial property units located in Huizhou 5,117 8,252
PN R R M E BRI Commercial property units located in Henan 4,623 4,949
528,316 538,570

S=ZECL
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18. REWZE (&)

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

20224

20224 12A31H

12A31H M5 =4

BARE A ~EE

ARBTF T ARBTTT

Carrying Fair value at

amount as at Level 3 at

31 December 31 December

2022 2022

RMB'000 RMB’'000

R EDHEEMEERNM  Commercial property units located in Changsha 804 955
R REREEMEEENM  Commercial property units located in Tianjin 3,445 3,270
URESMEEMEERNM Commercial property units located in Ningxia 357 516
R EMB M EENM  Commercial property units located in Guangzhou 8,003 9,178
URERERMEZEMEENM  Commercial property units located in Wuhan 8,527 14,285
VRS SMEEMEERENM Commercial property units located in Qingdao 753 2,293
REILMEZEMEEERL  Commercial property units located in Tangshan 366 366
U RBEGREZEMEEBNM  Commercial property units located in Shenyang 1,341 1,341
URESHEEMEERERI Commercial property units located in Yantai 700 700
R EMEEMEERENM Commercial property units located in Nanchang 230 230
R B EMEERR  Commercial property units located in Shanghai 578,860 711,000
A EMEBNM  Commercial property units located in Henan 4,518 4,842
607,904 748,976

A EREMRERT RE G FERE
EREMAFERFEHRNZERER
BT

BF 304

AEEEmEASARKS504,000,000

(20224 : AR¥578,860,000

TL) KRB EIERAREER2023

E12H31 HERTTIE KA R (5
it B EE45) o

The above investment properties are depreciated, taking into
account their estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 30 years
The investment properties of the Group with carrying amount
of RMB504,000,000 (2022: RMB578,860,000) were pledged as

securities for the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 December
2023 as summarised in note 45.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

19. BLEE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

it B2 BRAMEER EBEE i -0 o)
(Hizta) (Htb) (Htc)
ARETR  ARETT  ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETRE  ARETR
Bxclusive
cooperative Business
Software Domain rights  relationship  Brand name Others Total
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A CosT
R202%F1A18 At 1 January 2022 382,963 1,559 1,608,928 210,868 179,849 1,476 2,385,643
AE Additions 170 - - = = = 170
HEWBAR (Hi#37)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) 8771) = = = = = (8771)
X% Exchange adjustment - - 19,265 = = = 19,265
R2022E12A318 At 31 December 2022 374,362 1,559 1,628,193 210,868 179,849 1,476 2,396,307
s Written off (3517) - - = = = (3,517)
EXR% Exchange adjustment = = 1,219 = = = 1,219
R2023%12A318 At 31 December 2023 370,845 1,559 1,629,412 210,868 179,849 1,476 2,394,009
BRERAE AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
R02%F1A1H At 1 January 2022 (55,428) (1,559) (243,048) (126,408) (50,184) (1,433) (478,060)
FREE Provided for the year (48,489) = (273,415) (9,136) = ) (331,042)
ExgH Exchange adjustment = = (1,148) = = = (1,148)
FREAOFERS  Impaiment loss recognised in
(Hr38) the year (note 36) = - (1,034791) - - - (1,034791)
HEMBAR (Hi#37)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) 1,688 = = = = - 1,688
R2022E12831A At 31 December 2022 (102,229) (1,559)  (1,552,402) (135,544) (50,184) (1435 (1,843.353)
R Provided for the year (48,081) - (60,345) (9,136) = @1 (117,603)
ExHH Exchange adjustment = = (878) = = = (878)
s Written off 334 - - - = = 3324
R2023E12A318 At 31 December 2023 (146,986) (1,559  (1,613,625) (144,680) (50,184) (1,476)  (1,958,510)
HEfE CARRYING VALUES
R2023%12A31H At 31 December 2023 223,859 - 15,787 66,188 129,665 - 435,499
R02E12A318 At 31 December 2022 272,133 - 75,791 75,324 129,665 41 552,954

240 SE(FE)LEZRERAT —T=FERS



19. B EE (&)

R XBHEMELENETLE
EDREEHEEEFEENEA
Ry - AR 8

ByeE

(a) EHBERAELEER2021F5H30
A7k W iE EER BB REEIR
A8 (AREBEE ) MERN BAR
BBEHABMERETARTSE  H
EREBREIEABZEIAR
FERBATAEENER - #EMIL
BAEEMR ERER SR ©

(b) M2021F11A248 - KEEFTRK
U EETM Home * EATM HomeiZ
HR2027 FRIARIHRIEET I
BE AR EEMESHENEHZ
FREFENBRLEERE - WEK
ARAKEBRERAEEREEA
R#1,270,796,000 7T ° BRLKL
EREARREMNEEE (FEH)
WERMARAR T ZHNBEA
2021 F9 1 HMBRIEAERE
R NFERES - 22022512
A31HIEFE » RIETM HomeHy
FREEE  ZWTM Homed]
REREREANE MR IEEE 98
REAEEFCEERE @ #1BF2
FIFIEE3S °

(0 HENREARREERERNZEL
SRR 77 T A BEEE A Y B AR A B A
@ WIREARBEEEENAAE
BEAR®179,849,000 LiER A&
WEE -

LENmEE AT ELERSRAFE
REH)EARI Y AT 7R R R SR SRR R -

Bt - AEEERERBZmER
EREMFH - mBEEAEAF
HIWEE R AR AT TH#E - 18
R ESSFREREEHRRE
PIREETRERR < RER
FHIEIMI 381 ER o

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Intangible assets resulting from the acquired business
relationship are amortised based on the timing of the revenue
expected to be derived from the respective customer.

Notes:

(a)  Included in the software were online tools and platform developed
by Shanghai Tianji Network Service Co., Ltd. (“Tianji Network")
recognised as a result from the Group's acquisition of Tianji
Network completed on 30 May 2021, which provide the Group
with software to incorporate these tools and platforms into its

operations to enhance its online real estate transaction services.

(b)  On 24 November 2021, the Group completed the acquisition
of TM Home, which provide TM Home with exclusive operation
right to build and operate an online real estate marketing
and marketing transaction service platform under the Tmall
brand through 2027. The acquisition cost was recognised
as an intangible asset as at the date of acquisition with
RMB1,270,796,000. The exclusive operation rights are amortised
over the useful life of six years, according to the agreement dated
1 September 2021 between the Company and Alibaba (China)
Network Technology Co., Ltd. For the year ended 31 December
2022, based on the value-in-use calculation of TM Home, the
exclusive cooperative rights were fully impaired considering the
operation of TM Home may be discontinued subject to the debt
restructuring plan, please refer to note 38 for details.

() Brand name of Leju represents the potential economic benefits
to be generated from reputation and recognition on Leju Group.
It was recognised as an intangible asset at its fair value of
RMB179,849,000 resulting from the acquisition to Leju.

There is no foreseeable limit to the period which the brand name
of Leju is expected to generate net cash inflow.

As a result, the brand name is considered by the management of
the Group as having an indefinite useful life. The brand name will
not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars of the
impairment testing are disclosed in note 38.
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

20. R E DTl fER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023F 20224
AR®T T ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
WEKA - FAEW Cost of investments, unlisted 64,127 62,127
(LB 1R 24 Share of post-acquisition results 8,979 7,017
73,106 69,144
72022 E&ZOHZQ F12H31 ;El N Details of the Group’s interests in major associates as at 31
EERETEBMENTNERTBA December 2022 and 2023 are as follows:
K
AREMRAEEERLE  AEEFRRRENE
ARER ey gk HeMas M2A318 24318 1EEY
Proportion of Proportion of
Paidup  ownership interest held voting rights held by
Country of  Place of Registered by the Group the Group
Name of Company registration  operation capital As at 31 December As at 31 December Principal activity
3% W0% 2023F 2022%
2023 2022 2023 2022
MIKEEHRAERERAA GilET hE N REEE
30,000,0007
Shenzhen Dahai Zhide Management Co., Ltd.* the PRC the PRC RMB30,000,000  20.00%  20.00%  20.00%  20.00% Investment management
(RIKEBHREERARAR)
EASEERERAA (ERAE]) (W) HBRLES XBRLES N BEER E5RAREH
11,206,0007
Up Capital Asset Management Limited the BVI the BVI RMB11,206,000  3499%  34.99%  3499%  34.99%  Asset management, dealing and
(EAEEERERAF) ("Up Capital”) (note) advertising in securities
LEEERRERRITARAR HE HE N HEBESRITHARE
5,600,007
Shanghai Chunyu Information Technology ~ the PRC the PRC RMB5,600,000  40.00%  40.00%  40.00%  40.00%  Computer information technology
Co., Ltd.* consulting service
(HEEERAEERITERAR)
BNEESNBAERLA e HE N ERZRENRE
11,800,0007
Guangzhou Xlink 10T Technology Ltd.,* the PRC the PRC RMB11,800,000  16.37% 1760%  16.37% 17.60%  Information system integration
(BNEBSNBBERLA) services
LaERERIEECERERAR HE HE AR REECER HERAEEER
20,000,0007
Shanghai Chunni Chuangzhan Private Equity ~ the PRC the PRC RMB20,000,000  20.00% - 20.00% - Investment fund management,
Fund Management Co, Ltd. * (EEEREIR venture capital fund management
HEEEERERAR)
* English name is for the identification purpose only
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20. REFE QA ER (B)

21.

ByeE

MR2019F 128 - AEBF LR iEEE
Wk R - AN E U E s
30.01%®IRHE - ¥E/4R37,955,000%8 7T
(HHE R AR®34,000,0007T) ° #2023
F£K%2022%12A8318 » BEAFED AN
E@EIN W AABWE210IEREHTE

F3RIR ©

BWERR - BKREE -
fIERBEER E MR

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note:

prepayments in note 21.

H 21.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES,
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT

In December 2019, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
pursuant to which the Group will acquire additional 30.01% equity
interest of Up Capital at a consideration of HK$37,955,000 (equivalent
to RMB34,000,000). As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, such
amount had been paid by the Group and was included as non-current

BILLS

FIE ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2023 % 20224
ARET T AREFT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
REHEK AT E R EUR R Accounts receivables and bills receivables
eI =R measured at amortised cost 549,100 598,460
T RN E M E AR Less: Loss allowance for accounts
FEE IR B R receivables and bills receivables
measured at amortised cost (536,944) (574,871)
R EK AT E R BRI R Total accounts receivables and bills
EM R R 2% receivables measured at amortised cost 12,156 23,589
ENEHERERNNZS Deposits paid to property developers
(KtaE) (note)
— B — current 2,129,690 2,083,309
—IERH — non-current - 11,595
TR FRIE Prepayments
— R — current 1,233,079 1,421,231
—ERB — non-current 34,000 34,000
HEE® Rental deposits
— nE — current 14,984 20,213
—ERH — non-current 6,547 14,781
BEREH Loan arrangement
— mEh - current 45,310 44,741
—ERB — non-current 353,420 348,388
WHEME KRB D MiRe Deposits paid for acquisition of property
(FERE) and equipment (non-current) 316,671 310,183
RERLER GERE) Long-term deferred expenses
(non-current) 3,702 4,416
H bk ziE — B4 GRED) Other receivables — others (current) 28,461 34,826
M8 TE Advance to staff 1,739 2,058
& e W kIE Lease receivables 54,792 62,098
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BEUWRBRER - FEUREHE - H 21.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS

fIEREBEERHMMEK RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
MIE (&) ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
20235 20224
ARET T AREFIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Hippelisiia — REHER Other receivables — receivables from
AR R IR B FIE ORE)) redemption of a convertible note
(current) 25,589 25,589
4,247,984 4,417,428
B B SR ARETE M H AL Less: Loss allowance for other receivables
JEH&Z?XIEE&/H\@#?F@J and other non-current assets
BEMEIERE measured at amortised cost (3,886,637) (3,833,727)
361,347 583,701
JEUER TR « EURER - HAh Total accounts receivables,
BB & B K E b R KGR bills receivables, other non-current
R assets and other receivables 373,503 607,290

RE AR R NPT E H A Other non-current assets and other

SETRBN A E I E At FE WRRE receivables disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial
position as:
=
E — current 330,127 512,143
—ERH — non-current 31,220 71,558
361,347 583,701
MiaE Note:
D EHIErEEAEE ST E Y Amount mainly represents earnest deposits paid by the Group to its
F:'ﬁﬂ’\]?ﬂ%% R AERREE -5 property developers enabling the Group to carry out the real estate
RIBRKEIEER @ 124 R U T A IE 8 & agency services in the primary market projects, which will be released to
PHIERR ()M EDER 5% the Group at the earlier of (i) period agreed in the respective agreements
(IR HmETTKE - K2023F12 A31 or (i) upon completion of the respective agreements. At 31 December
H BEXNTOERERIORE S 2023, no earnest deposits paid to property developers (31 December
(202212 A31H : AR%11,595,000 2022: RMB11,595,000) are expected to be released twelve months after
TL) TEE R M B+ — B A& 8RR - the end of the reporting period.
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21. EWERF - BEWWERE - H
hIERENE E R H A EW
;IE (48)

RIT & B B 15 a2 B 165K e R 1 X A
EEWERR Kﬁl/ﬁ?ﬁi\ﬁﬁ*ﬁ_

BFEZH90H (20224 : 90H) K
EEH -

ATRREREHEREHEFE
HIRBH B H (KRB REBARERE
H1) 2518 EURRR (FNER B R R )
M RRER DT

21.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The Group allows all of its customers a credit period of 90 days
(2022: 90 days) upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions of
the relevant agreements and relevant invoices have been issued.

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivables, net
of loss allowance, presented based on the dates of rendering
the services for the digital marketing service at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates:

2023%F 20224

AR¥T T ARBTT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

—F A Within 1 year - 8,167
—EMFE 1 -2 years - 7,930
MEM Over 2 years 12,156 7,297
12,156 23,394

EA2023¢12H31 B ANEBEEK
EREBRPERIRAEAARE
12,156,0007C (20224F : AR¥E
19,367,000 0)WET - ERAmER
HESH - BAEBBESRT - AR
#512,156,0007L (20224 : AR
18,931,0007T) E. @ HI90 H A £k -
MRWIRABEY  RARAEEE
BERBELEFEREN  1TE0
FAEEFETEREELR B
HZEEHIOAEBRANTPEE
BERS - AEEERERAMZ
LRWFERKREE@2F - BHRR
FERSATED -

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s accounts
receivables balance were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB12,156,000 (2022: RMB19,367,000) which were
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB12,156,000 (2022: RMB18,931,000) had been past due over
90 days, which was not considered as in default because the
management of the Group, according to the historical settlement
pattern, industry practice and the Group's historical actual loss
experience, had assessed that the probability of settlement from
their customers was high in respect of those debtors which had
been past due over 90 days. The management of the Group
considered that the risk of default became high and defaulted
when those debtors had been aged over 2 years.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. EUWRBRTR - FEWWESRE - H 21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS

fIEREEE R H MR

I (&)

REWERZEE%E  AEEETE
FHRASEREEERRIULS
HEWER -ASEENERERLRE
RIREBRS AR FEEKRSE
B o Bl E2022F K% 2023F 12 A31
BIEFE  AEETRAERNRKS
HFEEEMEWERE - B ARME
ERERIT R 3 m A AL IR (A

ES &

EEMEFHFELH  AEESF
BEEEFMEEER  tMiEE
EFMEERE - EFPNEEHEE
REENEENEERETER
AEEC HER L EURR (1FSE A
An 1 2 15 1 F5 3 22 1) 5 8 WO SR B
SN) H)AR KB RRERE M BB 50% K TR
HEERKEE  ZEREFHRE
EEANEFRREEF  EikikA
WAERBHESBEME ¢ K(ii)
BeEBRERF  AEEEEED
TEZEER  ERBELRLE
RN EEERRAAKRKER
AR (E -

M2023F 128318 @ K&EEE
WERPREEBEAEAARE
10,336,0007T (20224F : AR¥E
28,917,000 T) W5k18 - AEEE 5
ZEERESEHEYERITS -

WASRENR-(EREMEYEE
BEE @AY KBEHLF RN
REWER  AEEBREZNT
BHEMWEMENRAEBEETH
HIWEHAEEREFEX —HER °
HE2023F12A831BILFE » K&
EESALEERSARK2,607,000
JC (20224 + ARM2,814,0007T)
MEMEYE UEZEEMEY
¥WRBIEEME  HHEERIE
AFEURER SR ©
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RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Upon maturity of the accounts receivables, certain of the
Group's customers would issue commercial bills to the Group
to settle its accounts receivables. The Group’s bills receivables
represent bills receivables on hand which are not yet due at
the end of the reporting period. During the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2023, the Group did not endorse any of
the bills received to any counterparties nor discount any of the
bills to any banks and/or financial institutions.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group has
recognised ECL allowance of above 50% on the outstanding
balance of accounts receivables (except for those with real
estate properties obtained as collateral) arising from (i) normal
risk type customers of which were aged over 2 years since the
revenue recognition date and (ii) higher risk type customers,
because they were assessed by the management of the Group
generally not recoverable based on their historical experience
and settlement patterns.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s accounts
receivables, an aggregate carrying amount of RMB10,336,000
(2022: RMB28,917,000) of which the Group obtained collateral
of real estate properties over these balances.

When the Group’s customer uses real estate property as
collateral to settle the outstanding accounts receivables in partial
or in full, the Group will assess the fair value of real estate
property based on the recent market prices and as agreed with
the Group’s customer. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group received real estate properties with fair value
of RMB2,607,000 (2022: RMB2,814,000) and recognised
these real estate properties as investment properties, with the
corresponding amount credited to accounts receivables.



21. BURBER - FEUREHE - H  21.ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS

eI RBEER HMEW RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
I () ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
T RERER (NREERE - & The following is a maturity analysis of bills receivables, net of
R ERREREENFERT A loss allowance, presented based on the remaining dates to
HIZ%]) B BB D4 © maturity of bills receivables at the end of the reporting period.
2023 20224
AR®TT ARBT T
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
180 H AR Within 180 days - 195
REVERRRERZEREINS Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
HEREREXEE for accounts receivables and bills receivables
FEERE EERE et
AR¥TR AR¥TR ARBT R
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2022F1HA1H At 1 January 2022 2,529 520,712 523,241
#AEERE Transfer to credit-impaired (2,341) 2,341 =
HRRERX R Net impairment losses recognised
(BHfaE9A) (note 9A) 13,983 48,943 62,926
i€ Write off - (11,296) (11,296)
202212 H31H At 31 December 2022 14,171 560,700 574,871
A ENCRIEE=EN Reversal of impairment loss
(FftaE9A) (note 9A) (12,416) (11,457) (23,873)
Ji 58 Write off - (14,054) (14,054)
72023412 A31H At 31 December 2023 1,755 535,189 536,944
HRERRBEEF S BREERA Due to the transfer to FVTOCI reserves upon Reclassification of
RNEBEFEVTAEMEZE KRR Receivable, the amounts at 31 December 2022 and 2023 only
% M2022F %2023F12A31H represent those of Leju Group.

MEREARLESRENSHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. BEWERR: - EWEE - H

fIERBEER H MR

I (&)

REMBERREREMIFERDE
ERANEMEERXEH

21.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES, BILLS
RECEIVABLES, OTHER NON-CURRENT
ASSETS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Movement in ECL that has been recognised for other
receivables and other non-current assets

2 HITE A 2 HITE R

128AH FEBRX- FEEX-
EHEERLX SE8RHE FERE st
ARETR AR¥TR AR®TR AR%®TxR

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

not credit- credit-

12m ECL impaired impaired Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

7202251 818 At 1 January 2022 85,683 = 3,587,294 3,672,977
ERBEE KR TR Net impairment losses

(K1aE9A) recognised (note 9A) 169,121 = 106,139 275,260

58 Written off - - (114,510) (114,510)

20224128318 At 31 December 2022 254,804 = 3,578,923 3,833,727
R EE KR TR Net impairment losses

(K1a£9A) recognised (note 9A) 18,910 = 34,000 52,910

2023412 H31H At 31 December 2023 273,714 - 3,612,923 3,886,637
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22. B (FE{T) BBBE AR 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

15 PARTIES
BN 21 R F23FEE - A% The Group's amounts due from (to) related parties comprised
= s (P ) A Bk 05 2R TE B S R UK of amounts due from (to) related parties but excluded bills
(FER) BB A eOFIE - BETBERE receivables from a related party as disclosed in notes 21 and 23,
W—%@EEsRE - BHEFEHT details of which are set out below.
I e
20234 20224
ARBET T ARMEFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
BE Assets
FEUR BB FIE AT T Amounts due from related parties,
analysed as:
— B 5 E L — Trade nature balance 205,205 170,970
W EIE e Less: Loss allowance (164,559) (169,172)
40,646 1,798
— EE FMHE — Non-trade nature balance 18,518 27,672
B E IR Less: Loss allowance 1) (203)
18,517 27,469
59,163 29,267
RErE KR RIEES Disclosed in the consolidated statement
of financial position as:
- RBEE - Current assets 59,117 28,845
—EREBEE - Non-current assets 46 422
59,163 29,267
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. B (FEAY) BB 5 K

5 (%)

AREBRB TN

PARTIES (Continued)

Below details the list of related parties of the Group:

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

R
Relationship
REE KB BRARIAEE A A China Evergrande Group Co., Ltd.’s affiliates Note i
(FRIEREEBRARAEBEAR) B aEi
SRERO AR AR HEE QR China Vanke Co., Ltd.’s affiliates Note i
(BREEROBRARBEAR) B aEi
Fo 28 2 2 SR (= 1 iR B BR A I A B A 7 Alibaba Group Holding Limited's affiliates Note i
(f EEEEEERARA TR BAQR) B aEi
=G (M) ZERER AR REEE QR Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holding Note i
Limited's affiliates Kt ati
(CEBW(TEMIERBR A T BB A F)
MR EEEE R B RAERAF Suzhou Weidian Business Information Note i
Consulting Co., Ltd.* Bfati
(BFMNBBEBKEESDRAERATF)
SE (PR CEEBEBERAA E-House (China) Enterprise Management Note i
(TBEERE]) Group Ltd.* (“E-House Management”) Bfati
(BEFETETEEEBRAR)
I RSEEBLEEREAGRAA Beijing Yijieyou Enterprise Management Note i
([EmZ5481) Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing EJU") Ftati
GERSBEELEEREZRNEGRAT)
FERELEEER A A Shanghai Ted Culture Communication Co., Ltd.* Note i
(EBREXULBEHEERAR) it ati
FEEEEEER China Real Estate Information Corporation* Note i
(FREEERFELSER) it ati
AR RN (B8) BIRAR] Yike Network Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* Note i
(AT B R () AR A R) it ati
= iMimiE X EE AR AT CRIC Commercial Information Co. Ltd.* Note i
(mMimEEEFEEERAR) it ati
SERBERER A A E-House (China) Holdings Co. Ltd.* Note i
(BEHREZERBERRAR) Kt ati
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22. Bl (FEMA)BEEEAT 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

5 (%) PARTIES (Continued)
RAR
Relationship
FEMEREBEREABRAR Shanghai Weimi Business Information Note i
Consulting Co., Ltd.* Bt ati
(EBEREKERDAEGRAR)
BB EERERARAR Shanghai Yiju Information Technology Co., Ltd.* Note i
(EBBEEERFRAERRAR) Bt axi
LR HE SRR ER AR Beijing Zhongwu Yanxie Information Technology Note i
Co., Ltd.* At =Y iR{E SRR BR A F]) HfaEi
FBBEEFEERMARATR Shanghai Baoku Information Technology Note i
Co., Ltd.* (E/BBERFEERMARRAR) Kt aEi
MNMESE BRI AR A A Hangzhou Yinghui Information Technology Note i
Co., Ltd.* (MM bEHIE ERHEBR AR Fftai
* English name is for identification purpose only
MiaE Note:
(i) AARFBREHNOER  HHEK () Entities controlled by shareholders of the Company which exercises
NEIBMERNTES - significant influence over the Company.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. B (FE{T) BBBE AR 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

18 (#8) PARTIES (Continued)
(a) PEUREREE S =RIE (a) Amounts due from related parties
FEU R EE 5 B 5 B IR RIS Particulars of the amounts due from related parties of
BEBEOT : trade nature are disclosed as follows:
20235 20224
ARBT AREFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ftati Note i 40,646 1,798
20234 20224
ARB T ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
JE W B RS 7 B 5 (4 B BRI Amounts due from related parties of
trade nature:
— ERERR — Accounts receivables 6 145
— FEfTFRIE — Prepayments 40,640 1,653
40,646 1,798
TR TE R 8 165 =55 0 16 3R B Ak 1 Leju Group allows all of its related parties a credit period of 90
% HESEREHLEZHHEE days (2022: 90 days) while the Company and other subsidiaries
RENFELEBEH AT ZER allows all of its related parties a credit period of 30 days (2022:
90H (20224 : 90H) WEE 30 days) in respect of all trade nature transactions, upon
B mAREREMHFE A A the completion of the terms and conditions of the relevant
ATEEIEE A =Z=H30H agreements.

(20224 : 300) WEEH -
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22. Bl (FEMA)BEEEAT 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

5 (%) PARTIES (Continued)

(a) FEUREAH TS IR () (a) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)
AT R iR HR 3R 25 B R 1R it AR The following is an aged analysis of amounts due from
BHBEBRENK —FENRER related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables,
BPESAENEEEEMNA net of loss allowance, presented based on the dates of
H(RBASWARIRAE) rendering the services and the date when the sales target
5 W BT E 5 E K for higher commission was achieved for the real estate
18 — YR (IR BB EE) agency service in the primary market at the end of the
K RRE AT reporting period, which approximated the respective

revenue recognition dates:

2023 F 20224

AR¥ET T ARBTTT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FUR Within 1 year 6 145
RESHEBEBE NI EHRS Before accepting any new transaction with related parties,
B - ANEEE LB EE the Group assesses the potential related party's credit
EEBETYHTEBE I NEESE quality and defines credit limits by related party. Credit
HE B ANEEEE R limits attributed to related parties and credit term granted

BTN EERS THE to related parties are reviewed regularly.

B o
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. B (FE{T) BBBE AR 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

18 (#8) PARTIES (Continued)

(a) PEUREREE S =XE () (a) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)
EREKREHETESHER Movement in ECL that has been recognised for
BERIANEHEERLXSH amounts due from related parties of trade nature

FEERE EERE et

AR%TR AR%TR ARBT R

Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired Total

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

R2022F1A1H At 1 January 2022 710 145,436 146,146

EAEERE Transfer to credit-impaired (2,104) 2,104 =
MR EE R FE Net impairment loss recognised

(Ktst9A) (note 9A) 3,794 19,232 23,026

2022912 HA31H At 31 December 2022 2,400 166,772 169,172

e ENCRIEE=ES Reversal of impairment loss
(KT 9A) (note 9A) (431) (4,182) (4,613)
R2023F12 A31H At 31 December 2023 1,969 162,590 164,559
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22. B (FEAY) BRI T3 K

5 (%)

(a) FEWERmTS A (&)

ERERBBLESMHEER
HEANAHREFERXES

(&)

FEUS BERE 5 FEE S I E FIA R

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED
PARTIES (Continued)

(a) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)

Movement in ECL that has been recognised for
amounts due from related parties of trade nature
(Continued)

Particulars of the amounts due from related parties of non-

FIBWENT trade nature are disclosed as follows:
M12H31H M1A1H
As at 31 December As at 1 January
20234 2022F 20224
AR®F T AREFIT ARBFIT
2023 2022 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Hfaxi Note i 18,517 27,469 24,539
REZE T BRA R Disclosed in the consolidated
WEA: statement of financial
position as:
—nBEE — Current assets 18,471 27,047 24,047
—FERBEE — Non-current assets 46 422 492
18,517 27,469 24,539
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. B (FER) BB AT 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

5 (%)

(a) FEUREAEE S RIR ()

PARTIES (Continued)

(a) Amounts due from related parties (Continued)

EREKREBEIFESHE Movement in ECL that has been recognised for
NMERZANEHEEELS amounts due from related parties of non-trade
B nature
2023F 20224
ARET T ARBTFT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
F1) At beginning of the year 203 509
B BB 18 5k Reversal of impairment loss, net
JREE (MTaE9A) (note 9A) (202) (306)
FR At end of the year 1 203

REKREBAREZNEE S
FBHEEFAMSE  RFR

For amounts due from related parties of non-trade
nature with common directorship, the maximum amounts

RKEIHHRKELT outstanding during the year are as follows:
2023 20224
ARBT T AR®ETF T
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BfaEi Note i 22,914 45,808

256 ZSE(TE)GCEZRERAT —T_=FERE



22. B (FEAY) BB 5 K

15 (#8)
(b) (Y BAR 75 308

R R B 5 SRR B

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

PARTIES (Continued)

(b) Amounts due to related parties

Particulars of the amounts due to related parties of trade

BHEWT nature are disclosed as follows:
2023 F 20224
ARET T ARETIT
BESHE Trade nature 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Kt axi Note i 121,672 239,882
REET BRI R Disclosed in the consolidated
WER statement of financial position as:
- RBAE — Current liabilities 121,672 239,882
ENEESESME Trade nature amounts due to
FRIA - related parties:
— TR — Accounts payables 65,547 211,813
— BB T B — Advance from related parties 56,125 28,069
121,672 239,882
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. B (FE{T) BBBE AR 22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

18 (#8) PARTIES (Continued)
(b) FE{TEREES FKIEH (&) (b) Amounts due to related parties (Continued)
T RENBETESHEER The following is an aged analysis of amounts due to
BH-EBNER(EEEEMNR related parties of trade nature — accounts payables mainly
SE-FERIPARF AR &) represent consulting fee payables to related parties of the
BHAER UERL-—REE Group's real estate agency services in the primary market
HEABARERER) ORERD whereby no general credit terms are granted and repayable
e MTARS WS HRIBIE on demand. The following is an aged analysis of amounts
REB PR 256 B~ due to related parties of trade nature — accounts payables
BHEZEEHIE - EBARR presented based on the receipts of services by the Group
B RRE AT at the end of each reporting period:
20235 20224
ARBT ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
—FUR Within 1 year 65,547 211,813
FERTEAEE 5 IEE I E FIAR Particulars of the amounts due to related parties of non-
FEIEREEAT trade nature are disclosed as follows:
20234 20224
ARB T ARETTT
FEZHE Non-trade nature 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Ftati Note i 49,683 47,334
RERa B BARRER Disclosed in the consolidated
WEA: statement of financial position as:
- RBEE — Current liabilities 49,683 47,334
ZERBRFEZMEE - B These amounts are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest
- 2B BERERERE - free and repayable on demand.
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23. BAAEBEEFEXFTAH

tb 2 TE] L 2 Y B UK TR

23. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI

2023 % 20224
AREBTT ARETIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
BRAnBEEWE AR Receivables at FVTOCI comprise:
EEWERERRERIE
— FEUBR TR — Accounts receivables 156,054 558,131
— RN EE — Bills receivables 37 8,524
— FEUR BB 77 5RIE — Amounts due from related parties
— FEUBR K — accounts receivables 133,491 129,713
289,582 696,368
MYk - Note:

M2023F12A31H » BUWERZ - B
ZEREREE 5 HE - BRERRE
AHEE S Rl A AR 458,967,000
7T AR#1,306,697,000t M AR
#1,848,673,0007T (2022412 A
31H : AR%3,834,727,0007T -
ABR#1,309,653,000 T K AR
1,835,454,0007T) - ARAEEBESHE
BeHMEBRIZEmREHEERA
M2 - BINERR  BKRERKREKE
B 5E — BUERRET ATEERE BBk
MAREED R ABARE3,302,913,000
7T AR#1,306,660,000T M AR
#1,715,182,0007T (2022412 A
31H - ARM3,276,596,0007T -
ARM1,301,129,000 TR AR
1,705,741,0007T) °

As at 31 December 2023, the gross contractual amount of the
account receivables, bills receivables and amounts due from related
parties — accounts receivables amounted to RMB3,458,967,000,
RMB1,306,697,000 and RMB1,848,673,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB3,834,727,000, RMB1,309,653,000 and RMB1,835,454,000),
respectively. The difference between the fair value and the gross
contractual amount mainly arose from the ECL impact. Included in the
fair values of the account receivables, bills receivables and amounts due
from related parties — accounts receivables were with ECL amounted
to RMB3,302,913,000, RMB1,306,660,000 and RMB1,715,182,000
(31 December 2022: RMB3,276,596,000, RMB1,301,129,000 and
RMB1,705,741,000), respectively.
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. BAAREBEFEXEFTAH
fib 2 T UK 25 /Y B W X 18
(&)

REE BB HEGR RIGEILHE
BEE@EBRER  AEEBAHFEME
EPZA30H (20224 :30H)W
=88 -

AT SR 5 HI R R B2 AR A5 &Y
RHEER—FERERBTES
BEMHE B RN B M (KBAEK
ABRBEH) 2N AKEIZR(E
B EYARMEE RSO EK
Rz AR EE(BRERIBILE=
77 K BERSE 73 5RIR) HORRER DA

23. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI (Continued)

The Group allows all of its customers a credit period of 30
(2022: 30) days upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions of
the relevant agreements and relevant invoices have been issued.

The following is an aged analysis of the fair value of the Group’s
accounts receivables at FVTOCI (including both amounts due
from independent third parties and related parties), presented
based on the dates of rendering the services and the dates when
the sales target for higher commission was achieved for the real
estate agency service in the primary market at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates:

20234 20224

AR¥T T ARBT T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

—F A Within 1 year 114,011 379,213
—EMFE 1 -2 years 49,616 154,859
ME LA Over 2 years 125,918 153,772
289,545 687,844
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23. BAREEFTELFTAR

fib 2 T W 2% #Y BB W K IE

(&)

R2023F 128318 REBERQ
AEBEFELAAEMEEKZE
WEKER(BEERKBIE=H
LB AERIE) AREAEAEAR
#245,953,0007C (2022412 A
31H : AR#¥503,103,0007T) H)
B ERBERHEAH - BF
AL - AR®175,534,000
L (2022912 A31H : AR
433,596,0007T) B HAI90 A A £ -
WABERAEEY  FRARAEEE
EEREBEELEEERN  1TXEH
MAEERESEREBRER  BF
HZEAHIOHEFANRRLEE
BERS - AEEERERAMWZ
LRENFARKDA2E  2HRAK
BERSADED -

EEMEAHELA - ARESF
REEEFPMEEER  tMiEE
EFMEEHE EFNEERE
REENEEHEERHETER -
REBECHER USRI (1ESEA
An 1 28 15 19 F5 3 2 1) 36 8 WO PR SR B
1) B R 4B R BRIE T 100% Y TR H]
EEBRER ZSEAEEHEE
FRNEFRBREER - AREANK
ARBHESBEME  K(ii)K
SERBREREF  AKEEEED
MZEEP  ERBELRLER
B BEEERSEREKRFEEN
A Y -

23. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s accounts
receivables at FVTOCI (including both amounts due from
independent third parties and related parties) were debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB245,953,000 (31 December
2022: RMB503,103,000) which were past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, RMB175,534,000
(31 December 2022: RMB433,596,000) had been past due over
90 days, which was not considered as in default because the
management of the Group, according to the historical settlement
pattern, industry practice and the Group's historical actual loss
experience, had assessed that the probability of settlement from
their customers was high in respect of those debtors which had
been past due over 90 days. The management of the Group
considered that the risk of default became high and defaulted
when those debtors had been aged over 2 years.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group has
recognised ECL allowance of 100% on the outstanding balance
of accounts receivables (except for those with real estate
properties obtained as collateral) arising from (i) normal risk type
customers of which were aged over 2 years since the revenue
recognition date and (ii) higher risk type customers, because they
were assessed by the management of the Group generally not
recoverable based on their historical experience and settlement
patterns.
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23. BAREEFTELFTAR

fib 2 T W 2% #Y FE W K1
(&)

R2023F 128318 REBERQ
AREBEEFETTAEME2AEREZ
WEWRRBLEANBEABARE
20,817,0007C (2022512 A318 :
ANER#24,229,0007T) * AEBED T
ZERBESEEYERIFS -

WAEBNEFFRAEHEMZEE
AR RAZ D K BHAEF AL
MIEAABEFELFAEMEZE
WEKEKRIE  AEBEREE
MMmENEHENENAAEEE
THBHYEAEERPER —H
ZER o HZE2023F12A318IEFE
B AEBEESARBEAARE
6,587,0007T (2022412 A31H :
AR#3,179,0007T) HEHEY
¥ UHZSEEHENERRAIER
B - BHEEFRIAFARAALE
B2 W AH M2 W E R E IR

A °

NTRAEBZARBEFEL
ARMERBENREZEBRZ AN
EBE(BRBIE=7 LEKT) (&
REBEHREUEEROR KD A
HIZ21) VEIEA B AT -

23. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's receivables
at FVTOCI with aggregate fair value of RMB20,817,000 (31
December 2022: RMB24,229,000) of which the Group obtained
collateral of real estate properties over these balances.

When the Group’s customer uses real estate property as
collateral to settle the outstanding receivables at FVTOCI in
partial or in full, the Group will assess the fair value of real
estate property based on the recent market prices and as agreed
with the Group’s customer. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group received real estate properties with fair value
of RMB6,587,000 (31 December 2022: RMB3,179,000) and
recognised these real estate properties as investment properties,
with the corresponding amount credited to receivables at
FVTOCI.

The following is a maturity analysis of the fair value of the
Group’s bills receivables at FVTOCI (including both independent
third parties and related parties), presented based on the
remaining dates to maturity of bills receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

2023 F 20224

ARET ARETIT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

180H AR Within 180 days 37 8,524

SE(TE)CXEREBRAT —T_=FEHE



24. LA REEFTEXFTT AR

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

2023 20224
ARBT ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

BT FT E TR AN FE 5 Equity securities listed in the Stock Exchange
(Kfexa) (note a) 9,575 19,436
FLERERE (F7tb) Investment in private equity funds (note b) 40,981 60,397
50,556 79,833

M -

20228 % 2023412 A318 * &
EBHZE LM ARNBRERR
ZERRBEBEITRNM5% @ 84
EEVEHZSEAREREATE
jj °

HE2022% %2023 12 A31H
IHEE  ETETAREEMER
5 AEBERE G HEET
HZE2022F %2023F12 83188
ARBERELE - BIEBATAIEH
EENER ZEEREENAR
BEEEATIT -

720225 12023412 A31 HEY4S
BREREASENLEREESER
& - BE2022% K%2023%F12 A31
BLEFE  AREYTERBEKLE
TALSREES -

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the Group’s shareholding in
these listed companies are less than 5% of their issued shares and
the Group does not exercise significant influence over them.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, certain
listed companies suspended in the market. The management of
the Group estimated that there was no basis to determine the fair
value as at 31 December 2022 and 2023. Based on the facts and
circumstances currently available, the fair value of such financial
assets are determined to be nil.

The balance as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 mainly represented
the Group's investment in private equity funds. During the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the Group did not purchase
or sell any private equity fund.
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25. SPR&IEEIT4ER AR 44T  25. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND BANK

EBRRESE BALANCES AND CASH
ZIREIB TR Restricted bank balances

R2023%12 8318 @ BRHIRIT
EHRETEDRABEME”LLHE
AR D WEY W) B R UCELT iH R
BIETYESRNRTER - HE
EEEREAHMEMNZETRRY
EBERWHK - (i) ARE® 43,552,000
JC (20224 + AR¥29,744,0007T)
(ETFHFLANEEFZSERERE
8) AER AR FAR AR RS -
LASZBR HISRITAEBR AR ©

SZRHBITEBEERECNESTF
0.25% (20224 : 0.25%) 5T 8. °

RITERRAE

RITHEBRENTSNENTEF
0.04%%E2.00% (20224 : 0.04%
Z£1.50%) &8 °

AEENHEASEERNETEE I
SN B ETE R KRB D R BIERTT
BEBRARIRITER IR SHINWT ¢

As at 31 December 2023, the restricted bank balances mainly
represented (i) the receipts of bank balances from property
buyers in respect of the real estate brokerage network services
segment which had not yet been transferred to property sellers.
A corresponding liability is recorded as receipts on behalf of
property sellers in other payables, (i) RMB43,552,000 (2022:
RMB29,744,000), which is the full dispute amount and maximum
damages of certain law suits, was frozen by the courts for law
suits related and accounted for as restricted bank balances.

The restricted bank balances carried fixed interest rate at 0.25%
(2022: 0.25%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carried interest at prevailing market interest rates
ranged from 0.04 — 2.00% (2022: 0.04 — 1.50%) per annum.

The majority of the Group’s restricted bank balances and bank
balances and cash that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

20234 20224

ARET R ARET T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

LA ([Ex]) 5HE Denominated in US Dollar (“US$") 18,029 38,528
LA TTEHE Denominated in HK$ 13,951 21,242
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26. EARAKREMEMNKIE  26. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
REFBRK ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS
2023F 20224
ARBT AREFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AT BR R Accounts payables 888,862 994,120
BFRABEFPER (fita) Advances from E-commerce customers
(note a) 166,856 270,269
Hip B FEER Advances from other customers 230,385 301,707
397,241 571,976
FERTRIE Interest payable 547,197 299,322
FERTIBET Value added tax payables 280,686 267,133
H b A Other tax payables 61,536 69,493
RMEBERYK (Hfatb) Receipts on behalf of property sellers
(note b) 125,598 163,190
B R EL LSz e Deposits received from real estate
(Kfatc) brokerage stores (note c) 80,032 69,424
W B 1) 35 % 3R s B FE SRR IE Payables for acquisition of property and
equipment 18,669 30,928
X ¥R 84 Expenses reimbursement 17,840 1,511
R ZEFEEYK (MfaEd) Receipts on behalf of a property developer
(note d) 5,918 3,058
Hith Others 77,932 97,268
1,215,408 1,001,327
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26. ENERA R HAMEMSKIE
REEBF (&)

FEE -

(a)

ETRBEPBENEERBYFE=
TN FREEAREET NS Z(E
ABPRYE - EFF (AR
ERR) BRFTHSEE  ETAEK
BEPRBRBHERABEA - HEFPE
SR - ANEE R EWEHI TRIA
TEP -

RYEBERWHIE B BERLRLH
4% AR5 0 BEEY P 5 B S UM R
HIRTMEBRRORITAR - %F
BUWERITEBR D B RME25F M
SR BIIRITAEER

B 55 B A A2 PSS OB HO AT AR SR 3R
SIEAERBEAFEMRAEES
NORES - RESBNAERH
RILRBIR TRIMERRME

R Z R B WGRIE B 8T & IR
590 B B 0 36 B S UM 1 K B B
TUEHAERONRITESR - ZEFD
WIRTTHSBR D BRIRHIRITE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

26. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES
AND ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Advance from E-commerce customers represent receipts from
individual customers who buy the Group's discount coupons
through independent third party payment platform. The advances
from E-commerce customers will be recognised as revenue
when the customer (individual property buyer) uses the discount
coupons. If the customer requests for refund, the Group will
return the amount received to the customer.

Receipts on behalf of property sellers represent the receipts of
bank balances from property buyers in respect of the real estate
brokerage network services segment which had not yet been
transferred to property sellers. Such bank balances received are
classified as restricted bank balances in note 25.

Refundable deposits received from real estate brokerage stores
represent earnest deposits paid to the Group enabling the
cooperation with each other. The earnest deposits will be released
to the real estate brokerage stores upon termination of the
cooperation arrangement.

Receipts on behalf of a property developer represent the receipts
of bank balances from property buyers in respect of the Digital
Marketing services segment which had not yet been transferred to
the property developer. Such bank balances received are classified
as restricted bank balances.



26. YRR H At FE 4 KR
REFBHR(E)

EREREZEAENALEE—FN
SEMWEREREIEEENZE A
B —RIRTEESR -pEHME
KoBERBEms  BNEREE
BIRLREERNE - N2022F K
2023F 12 A31 HMNEHR M BERAR
EEMKREEEESE  BETFEER
BERLEEERER - A&HE
ERE BT ERBIEEER
NG &BREIRIA - L TAERSE
ERESmERRIZESRBEABRE
5| B e SRIABR R AT -

26. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES
AND ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

Accounts payables mainly represent consultancy fee payables
to suppliers of the Group's real estate agency services in the
primary market whereby no general credit terms are granted. For
real estate brokerage network services, account payables mainly
represent brokerage network intermediary fees. The balance as
at 31 December 2022 and 2023 also included those outstanding
payables for advertising fee, E-commerce service fee, and
cultural media related expenses. The Group is obliged to settle
the amounts due upon the completion of or pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the relevant agreements. The following
is an aged analysis of accounts payables presented based on
the date of receipts of services by the Group at the end of each
reporting period:

20234 2022

AR®F T AREFIT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

—FE LR Within 1 year 447,835 558,508
1226 1 -2 years 441,027 435,612
888,862 994,120

NEEEEER ZYEER A
ERSAEZASERRLEMER
BRARARTERREINT

The Group’s account and other payables and advance from
customers that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out

below:
2023 F 20224
ARET T ARET T
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
LAZETTETE Denominated in US$ 218,034 51,880
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

27. G EE 27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2023 F 20224
ARET T ARETIT
2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000
AT B IBTEW A FKIE Amount received in advance in respect of

— B E HUE RIS BA — real estate data service income

(KizF6(a)) (note 6(a)) 84,281 100,349
— BFEERELA — E-commerce service income

(Kiax6(b)) (note 6(b)) 115,920 29,907
200,201 130,256

REZE2022%F K%2023%F12 A31
BIEFE: BT —FmEEHER
BRI  BEECERIANEE LT
EEKHNBEORBHORA - REZE
20234 12A31BLtEE - —F™m
LEMWEREREEREBLFE
ERNBHARSHAIEHEARE
29,663,0007T (20224F : AR¥E
55,864,0007T) ° B Z£20234 12
A31BIEFE @ FTiER AT
AEHBBEEHRIBKASEAARE
130,256,0007T (20224 : AR®
181,394,0007T) °

268 SE(TE)LEZRERAT —T=FEHS

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, except for
the real estate agency services in the primary market, there were
no revenue recognised that related to performance obligations
that were satisfied in prior year. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the real estate agency services in the primary
market recognised variable consideration of RMB29,663,000
(2022: RMB55,864,000) that related to performance obligations
that were satisfied in prior year. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the amount of revenue recognised that was
included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the
year amounted to RMB130,256,000 (2022: RMB181,394,000).



28A. SR1T R H AR 28A. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2023 20224
ARET T ARBT T
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000

RITHER Bank borrowings
WA ER (M) Secured and guaranteed (note i) 268,000 307,000
HIRIREER (ML) Secured and unguaranteed (note ii) 511,811 546,516
EAR R Unsecured and unguaranteed - 5,000
779,811 858,516
BERE  BEBBER Senior notes, unsecured and guaranteed 4,235,807 4,156,665
5,015,618 5,015,181
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28A. $R 1T R H AL &R (&) 28.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)
2023F 20224
AR¥ET T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEEE LSRR IREE ™ - The carrying amounts of the above
borrowings are repayable*:
—FNUA Within one year 4,518,672 4,529,234
HiE—FETEBMRNF Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 62,901 95,490
FRRF AT EBRTF Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 431,068 386,403
AFLLE Within a period of more than five years 2,977 4,054
5,015,618 5,015,181
W NREBBESIRE—ERA  Less: Amounts due within one year shown
B HAzR I8 under current liabilities
—RITEXR — Bank borrowings 282,865 372,569
— HMER — Other borrowings 4,235,807 4,156,665
4,518,672 4,529,234
RIEME B ETIREFKIE Amounts shown under non-current liabilities
— RITERX - Bank borrowings 496,946 485,947
& ZERBREDERERBZET R & The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out
ERGTEIEHAE - in the loan agreements.
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TREABER (&

28A.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)

REERITERNERN E&HE 0 The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group's bank
™ borrowings are as follows:
2023 F 20224
2023 2022
BERA=X Effective interest rate 3.7% -55% 3.7% -5.5%
Mt & Notes:

(i)

ZERITERF(AOARE
200,000,0007T (2022%F : AR
#232,000,0007T) A LSBT
¥ERAAREER  WH LS
SEHEUEHEHEEBRARIRE
HIER - (b)) AR 68,000,0007T
(20224 + AR#75,000,0007T)
HMESEEREAELE (BRA
Z)IRERE - W BB EFN
FEHEHEGRA RREER -

ZERITERBELER  EP(a)
AR #236,000,0007T (20224 =
AE#252,875,0007T) IR £
5B EAEE R S
BXARATNE LS ERIF -
(b) AFR# 268,000,000 (2022
£ AR#¥285,000,0007T) HAL
RESBHERNS2EHREFE
U(TEBEEWE] EER - &
()AR#7,811,0007T (20224 -
AR#8 640,0007T) HZEWE
YRR o

HMERHFBAT

(i)

(if)

These bank borrowings of which (a) RMB200,000,000 (2022:
RMB232,000,000) is secured by Shanghai Juanpeng Enterprise
Co., Ltd. and guaranteed by Shanghai E-House Xiangyue Real
Marketing Estate Sales Co., Ltd. (b) RMB68,000,000 (2022:
RMB75,000,000) is secured by Shanghai Wanju Investment
Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) and guaranteed by
Shanghai E-House Xiangyue Real Marketing Estate Sales Co., Ltd.

These bank borrowings are unguaranteed and of which (a)
RMB236,000,000 (2022: RMB252,875,000) is secured by
Tangchao Grand Hotel (BFAXAE) located in Jiading District in
Shanghai, and the entire interest of Shanghai Juanpeng Enterprise
Co., Ltd. (b) RMB268,000,000 (2022: RMB285,000,000) is secured
by 52 office building units located in Yangpu District in Shanghai
(“Shanghai Wanju Property”), and (c) RMB7,811,000 (2022:
RMB8,640,000) is secured by the properties.

Details of the other borrowings are as follows:

20234 20224

AREF T ARET T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

BRI (HaE) Senior Note | (note i) 2,111,323 2,075,405
BERER (HfEii) Senior Note Il (note ii) 2,124,484 2,081,260
4,235,807 4,156,665
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28A. SRAT R H AL AR (&)

BER

(i)

S (PE)EEERERDA

MR2019F10H18H » A7
MBLE=FETREERATE
M2 R2022%44 418 H AR
200 BET(HERARE
1,395,106,0007%) 2 7.625%
BEEBRE(TREEEI]) -
20208 148 - A"RQA#E—
FEIB R = BT AT
2 2022F4 A18 8 5| H
MI1I00BEBET(HERAR
#.694,400,0007T) 2 B EHE
([N - BREEITHEAR
BATERIN - BINERINE T
MEE 2019410 18 H 1T
HIRBEEIEHIWHEKBE—
Ryl o ABEHN2022F300E 8
En(RBEEBIMBEINER -
HENARK2,089,506,000
T0) 2B EERNEEF AR
B7.625% - RBEEEIKLEE
INERINEERFENED BB
9.2% K7.9% - BARERIE
R20234F 12 A31 BB FR
FHREAEBEETNAABES
AE#¥121,539,0007T (2022
F: AR%300,077,0007T)
(B—MAREBEER) -

e T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

28A.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Senior Notes

(i)

On 18 October 2019, the Company issued US$200
million (equivalent to RMB1,395,106,000) 7.625% senior
notes (“Original Notes |”) which were listed on the Stock
Exchange to independent third parties due on 18 April
2022. On 14 August 2020, the Company further issued
US$100 million (equivalent to RMB694,400,000) senior
notes (“Additional Notes ") which were also listed on the
Stock Exchange to independent third parties due on 18
April 2022. In all respects, except for the issue date and
issue price, the Additional Notes | were consolidated and
formed a single series with the Original Notes | issued
on 18 October 2019. The consolidated 2022 US$300
million (the Original Notes | and Additional Notes | which
are equivalent to RMB2,089,506,000) senior notes bear
coupon at 7.625% per annum. The effective interest
rates on the Original Notes | and Additional Notes | are
9.2% and 7.9% per annum, respectively. The fair value
of Senior Note | are determined based on the quoted bid
price in the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2023 is
RMB121,539,000 (2022: RMB300,077,000) (Level 1 fair
value hierarchy).



A BITREMMER (E)

BERE (&)

(i)

NHBEEEEE ZYE

M2020F 128108 » AR
BIABY E = BITRER
FrEm2mM2023F6 A10H
EIEAM2008 BT (HER
ANER#1,342,520,0007T) 2
7.60%EBEER([FREREE
1) - B2021%F6 8108 » &
NEE—FRBILE =T
R R PT E 2202356 A
108 B8 100BE =T (1
TR AR®639,720,0007T)
ZEBEER ([BEHNEEN]) -
BREEITHH R BEITERI
BEINEBENN ST EER 2020
F12H10BBTHNERE £EE
NEGFI 4R BB — K5 - &
$1H2023F300E B E T (R
BEERINREINZRIN - BHE
M AR#¥1,982,240,0007T)
CEBAEEENEEFNEXA
7.6% - REZREIREIINEE
I EREFES R A8.6% K&
8.3% o BAERIEIIER2023
F12A3VHBRBRTATHRE
ABEFTNAABEAARE
111,553,0007T (20224 = A
R#318,881,0007T) (F—#&
NABERER) -

I3 3YIN: )

BE
EMGTTEZAERBBRITEREEM

28A.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Senior Notes (Continued)

(i)

On 10 December 2020, the Company issued US$200
million (equivalent to RMB1,342,520,000) 7.60% senior
notes (“Original Note II”) which were listed on the Stock
Exchange to independent third parties due on 10 June
2023. On 10 June 2021, the Company further issued
US$100 million (equivalent to RMB639,720,000) senior
notes (“Additional Notes II”) which were also listed on the
Stock Exchange to independent third parties due on 10
June 2023. In all respects, except for the issue date and
issue price, the Additional Notes Il were consolidated and
formed a single series with the Original Notes Il issued
on 10 December 2020. The consolidated 2023 US$300
million (the Original Notes Il and Additional Notes Il which
are equivalent to RMB1,982,240,000) senior notes bear
coupon at 7.6% per annum. The effective interest rates
on the Original Notes Il and Additional Notes Il are 8.6%
and 8.3% per annum, respectively. The fair value of
Senior Note Il are determined based on the quoted bid
price in the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2023 is
RMB111,553,000 (2022: RMB318,881,000) (Level 1 fair
value hierarchy).

The Group’s bank borrowings and other borrowings that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of

BREINNT the relevant group entities are set out below:
2023F 20224
ARET ARETT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AZETTEHE Denominated in US$ 4,235,807 4,156,665
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28B. AT AR E 45 28B. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

R2020F 11 A4H @ XRQFAM
FMERERBERAR ([MEER
BEZEEFBEABOTASEA
1,031,900,000%8 T/ A] #0 A% Z &
([ATRRE TR ) - AT R EE N
2023F 11 A4BHEIH - BEREA
R ER BT o WA R R IE
REE AR s AR ER - 8
BB EER - TR EEF R X
B2%  UHEBEFEEXN—K-

AHBREBREBT SN ERERNE
#9.09% BHEBIA S AREEAR
BEAARERAELRERZES
202312 A31 B FE R =i
F 0 BDAR#®104,156,0007T (2022
F12H318 : AR®105,344,000
) (BZRAREEER) -

ARRRETERD IS ERLE
B EREEN BT X EEMITA
HITEELEAREETE  HA
EREERIHEEBUSRT AR
BN EIHER -
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On 4 November 2020, the Company issued a convertible note
to Alibaba.com Hong Kong Limited (”Alibaba Noteholder”)
in the principal amount of HK$1,031,900,000 (“Convertible
Note”). The Convertible Note matured on 4 November 2023,
and no Shares were issued pursuant to the Convertible Note.
If the Convertible Note has not been converted or redeemed
before the settlement date, it will be redeemed at par. The
Convertible Note carries interest of 2% per annum and will be
paid quarterly.

The effective interest rate of the debt component of the
Convertible Note is 9.09% per annum and the fair value of
the debt component is determined based on the average
yield of the Company’s and comparable entities’ bonds as at
31 December 2023 is RMB104,156,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB105,344,000) (Level 2 fair value hierarchy).

The derivative component of the Convertible Note was measured
at fair value with reference to a valuation carried out by a
firm of independent professional valuers not connected with
the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of similar financial instrument.



288. I AR EE (/) 28B. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

BEHL TERD st
Debt component Derivative component Total

TEr AR®TR TEr AR®TR TET ARBTR
HKD'000 ~ RMB'000  HKD'000  RMB'000  HKD'000  RMB'000

202261818 Asat 1 January 2022 908,929 743,139 16,846 13,773 925,775 756,912
fERHE Exchange adjustment - 71,282 - 693 = 71,975
HMEER Interest charge 84,819 72,502 - = 84,819 72,502
BEEMFE Transfer to interest payable  (20,638) (17,641) = = (20,638) (17,641)
AREBEEHKE  Gain on changes in fair

value - - (15,109) (12,915) (15,109) (12,915)
72022612 8318 As at 31 December 2022 973,110 869,282 1,737 1,551 974,847 870,833
PE R E Exchange adjustment - 12,936 - 12 - 12,948
MEER Interest charge 76,205 68,562 = = 76,205 68,562
HEREMAFE Transfer to interest payable (17,415) (15,668) = = (17,415) (15,668)
ARBEEZEHKZE  Gain on changes in fair

value = = (1,737) (1,563) (1,737) (1,563)
A2023612 318 As at 31 December 2023 1,031,900 935,112 - - 1,031,900 935,112
HEMBATETES S A REE The detailed key inputs the valuer uses to calculate the fair value
MEZMABBFBEBL2H80 = of the derivative component refer to note 34(c).
34(c) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

29. HEEE 29. LEASE LIABILITIES
2023F 20224
AR¥T T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ENzHEAE: Lease liabilities payable:
—F A Within one year 45,804 77,223
HRR—FETBBME Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 1,622 5,295
B FETERAF Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 69,819 47,404
AELE Within a period of more than five years 23,026 124,251
140,271 254,173
B RREBENRI12ME A Less: Amounts due for settlement within
N E S HRFIR 12 months shown under current
liabilities (45,804) (77,223)
RIERSEEVIRMI12ME A%  Amounts due for settlement after 12 months
EE T EAFRIE shown under non-current liabilities 94,467 176,950

HE2023F12A31BItFE - HE
B (EFEA 2 T 1E S EREF
E56.06% (20224 : 3.95%) ©

UHBEEER ZINEEEIAINDG
BRFHEZHERBEHIIMT

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to
lease liabilities is 6.06% (2022: 3.95%) per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Lease obligations that are denominated in currency other than
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set

out below:
20235 20224
AR¥ T ARETFIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AT E Denominated in HK$ 6,737 834

276 SE(FE)LEZRERAT —T=FERS



30.

ELEBHERE &fE 30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
HEEUBRAKHEINME @ & For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
TELEHEEERAGBDLHE - financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
TRARMBRE TS AIELERIE been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
BRI DA - balance for the financial reporting purposes:
2023F 2022%F
AR¥T T AREFT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
BRETRIBEE Deferred tax assets 387,664 392,911
BRLETRIBRE Deferred tax liabilities (108,035) (138,520)
279,629 254,391
NTREFANFTEZRTEHIEZS : The following are the major deferred tax movements thereon

during the year:

EitER  RARE
BAREE  BXEH
ARBTR AR®TR

Accrued staff
welfare and ECL
commission  provision
RMB'000  RMB’000

ERAHH
DMABERE HEAFR Htt At
ARBTR ARMTT AR®TR ARMTR

Fair value

adjustments
on business Tax
combination losses Others Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2022F1R1H At 1 January 2022 108,710 30,078
HEMBAF (#1:£37)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) = (9,471)
(fI%8)/ s AB%  (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (42,278) 6,082

(162,225) 247,984 16,230 240,777
(23,763) = - (33,234
47,606 31,087 4,351 46,848

2022612 A31H% At 31 December 2022 and

20231418 1 January 2023 66,432 26,689 (138,382) 279,071 20,581 254,391
(#1BE) /T AEBHE  (Chargelcredit to profit or loss (20,804) (5,033) 21,262 30,793 (980) 25,238
#2023512A318 At 31 December 2023 45,628 21,656 (117,120) 309,864 19,601 279,629
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

30. EEBIBEEE &fE 30.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(&) (Continued)

2023F 128310 - "AEE#EAA At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of
R #3,948,961,0007T (20224 : A RMB3,948,961,000 (2022: RMB3,849,314,000) available to
R%3,849,314,0007T) BARENBHL offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been
HEGHE - AJHARER R GH - recognised in respect of tax losses of RMB1,809,996,000 (2022:
B3t AR 1,809,996,0007T (2022 RMB1,534,471,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
F: AR¥1,534,471,0007T) K%L for the remaining tax losses of RMB2,138,965,000 (2022:
BEEBRREEREBEEE - BRK RMB2,314,843,000), due to the unpredictability of future profit
B Sk ) IR EE LATEOR) - BN R BE g4 streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following
THRIBEEHEEBARK2,138,965,000 years:

JC (20224 + AR#¥2,314,843,000
T0) RIELFIBEE - AHERHIE
E a8 N A T FEEIE -

20234 20224

AR¥T R ARETT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

20234 2023 - 182,265
20244 2024 283,052 283,052
20254 2025 336,913 336,913
20264 2026 1,413,575 1,413,575
20274 2027 3,418 3,418
20284 2028 1,551 1,551
20294 2029 15,220 15,220
20304 2030 30,813 30,813
20314 2031 28,936 28,936
20324 2032 19,100 19,100
20334 2033 6,387 =
2,138,965 2,314,843
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30.

EERBREE B fF

(%)

MR2023%F 128318 KEEHEA
AHARM2,700,234,0007T (2022
F: AR#¥2,333,469,0007T) &9 7]
MREREEE E2EEAE
EERBAERESALRTEREERL
Bl JAREINRIES - B 5t
AR¥287,738,0007T (20224 -
AR#301,778,0007T) &) Al 3056
THEEZBERECHBEE - A
AR RN K F] B2 8 AT HR E B 14
A BV ERFUE R - Btk
RAETAMREREEE ARK
2,412,496,0007T (20224 : AR¥E
2,031,691,0007T) RIEERAE
@ °

RIBCRRABEMSHE) - 82008
F1ATER  ARFPENEBRRHK
NERZERMSAETRAKE
HUTEITL o W2023F % 20224F12
A318 @ M&EP BB R Rk r] &
BEEBRDRENFEBNARAF
BHA -

REREHR  UEEFMEMER
REERER = -

30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had deductible temporary
differences, mainly arising from accrued staff welfare and
commission and ECL provision, totaling RMB2,700,234,000
(2022: RMB2,333,469,000) available to offset against future
profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of
deductible temporary differences of RMB287,738,000 (2022:
RMB301,778,000). No deferred tax assets have been recognised
in relation to the remaining deductible temporary differences
of RMB2,412,496,000 (2022: RMB2,031,691,000) as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries or VIEs from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, no undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries or VIEs was attributable to owners of the Company.

There were no other significant unrecognised temporary
differences at the end of each reporting period.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

31. iR 31. SHARE CAPITAL
AR
SrEd= [ Z 5 AR
FET ARETIT
Share capital
Number of Share presented
shares capital in RMB
Us$'000 RMB’'000
HM%0.000013 2 Ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each
EE Authorised:
R2022F1H18 -~ As at 1 January 2022, 31 December
202212 A318% 2022 and 31 December 2023
202312 A31H 5,000,000,000 50 350
ERITRAR Issued and fully paid
20221818 - As at 1 January 2022, 31 December
202212 A318 % 2022 and 31 December 2023
202312 A31H 1,749,059,530 17 116
MiaE Note:
BMEARNAHBARNRAWMERNEE « B None of the Company'’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
BRERARRFE ETREF - the Company'’s listed securities during both years.
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32. AR AEBRMWAIRRXS  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
KRB RGBS Share Incentive Plan of The Company
BRAMRBENERET S Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
M20184%F4 208 » AR FH AR On 20 April 2018, the Company approved the Company’s pre-
NAEIMBERAFRAEEBIRES S IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme")
(TEXRAREEABRESTE) - for the primary purpose of providing incentives to eligible
FEEENBEERES  BEE directors, management and employees, and will expire on 20
MES - WiEH202844 2083 April 2028.

B o
BEEXAREENERERTEIR Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must
B S AR R S B P PR HE B ERRE 10 1E be taken up within 10 business days of the date of grant.
B REER -
FEARBAAGINERAREEA Details of specific categories of options granted under the Pre-
ﬁ%ﬂx%%‘l‘iﬂ IR R EN AR IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company are as follows:
DEFHBWT
[RE: e iy d =R
R AH AEA BREZE HBELHB T TEE WAREE
Number of Fair value
share options Exercise  at grant
Date of grant  Grantee granted Vesting period Exercise period price date
2018F4 218 EZENERE 23,784,000 2018F4A21HZE 2019F4A22HE 103787 5485
2019F4A21H 2028F4F20H
21 April 2018 Directors and management 23,784,000 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2019 to ~ HK$10.37  HK$5.48
21 April 2019 20 April 2028
2018F4A21H EZENERE 23,784,000 2018F4A21HZE 2020F4A228Z 1037#7 5488
2020F4H21H 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Directors and management 23,784,000 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2020 to ~ HK$10.37  HK$5.48
21 April 2020 20 April 2028
2018F4A218 EZEREEE 23,784,000 2018F4A21HZE 2021F4A228%F 1037#7m 5.48%7T
2021F4H21H 2028%F4H20H
21 April 2018 Directors and management 23,784,000 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2021 to  HK$10.37  HK$5.48
21 April 2021 20 April 2028
2018F4H218 (&B 6,737,200 2018F4H21BZE 2019F4H22BZ 103787 492587
2019F4A21H 2028F4F20H
21 April 2018 Employees 6,737,200 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2019 to  HK$10.37  HK$4.92
21 April 2019 20 April 2028
2018F4H218 B8 6,737,200 2018F4H21BZE 2020F4A22BZ 103787 492587
2020F4H21H 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Employees 6,737,200 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2020 to  HK$10.37  HK$4.92
21 April 2020 20 April 2028
2018%4A218 (BB 6,737,200 2018%4A21HE 2021F4A228% 1037871 49281
2021F4H21H 2028F4H20H
21 April 2018 Employees 6,737,200 21 April 2018 to 22 April 2021 to  HK$10.37  HK$4.92
21 April 2021 20 April 2028
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(&) (Continued)
ARTEHIRADRBEEE (&) Share Incentive Plan of The Company (Continued)
BRAHBENBRES () Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
TEREBRFANASERERES The following table discloses movements of the number of share
BB ERAREEAERES SR options held by employees and directors of the Group under the
BHEREHBENES - Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year.
#2023% 2023%
1818 124318
HATE  ERRE  FRTE FRARR EREE M RATE
TR TR TR TR TR FHR

Outstanding ~ Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1January during the during the during the during the at 31 December

2023 year year year year 2023

‘000 '000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

BRESE Number of share options 77,072 - - (4,674) - 72,398
ERATHE Exercisable at the end of the year 72,398
103787 - - 1037%7n - 103787

NEFHEE Weighted average exercise price HK$10.37 - - HK$10.37 - HK$10.37
1®2022% R2022%

1R1R 12A318

HATR  FARE  FAIE FARK  FAIE RARTTHE

T ik ik ik TFik Tk

Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired Outstanding
at 1January  during the  during the  during the  during the  at 31 December

2022 year year year year 2022
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
BliEHE Number of share options 81,528 - = (4,456) = 77,072
FRATHE Exercisable at the end of the year 77,072
103747 - - 1037%T - 10.37%7T
MEFHTHEE Weighted average exercise price HK$10.37 - - HK$10.37 - HK$10.37
HE2022F %2023F12A318 1k No share options were granted during the years ended 31
FEBER A - December 2022 and 2023.

282 ZE(FE)GCEZRERAT —T_=FERE



32. LR AERNN RS

(&)
A D FANRG LM 8 ()
R E R R

MR2018F7 48 » ARRHER
RAMBE RN ARBEEZBRETS
(TBEX A AFAEERBERETS]) -
FTEEEHBEERES  TEE
FEE » Wi20284F7 84B8E|
H - BEBEBRN MBS REBRET
g ARFESENTRNEEREER
(BREARARENBARIES)
BRHBRENREARRARD © 1t
SN RAR A TREREEARNRQRE
RENERIREMAINITE=

R -

W RARE AR AR ERBRER
A EERENBEREN RN BT
SHRABRNDNERXMAKESAH
ARABEETRNEOI10% @ MEFR
RRBBIREF LA - B RAEM
—FRERTRBE T EAEADN
BRENDHETRSTETHORN
2 H T E B AR B A &
BEEITRME1% @ MEFRARR
ROELME BTETERRAS
MIERTESNBERENBREAR
AIRAE01 %N EBEEBSAS
BT - BIZRRARRIRER B AR -

RIRE IR AR SRR 3R
HEBRELARKL A AL
202X AAER - ITHRERLAR
AEFET  BT2ERUTES
(VAR ABM R L B e
B (iR EER L BHAT5E
LEBOFHRHE : (i) AR A
B EE

MR2022F % 202312 H318 ©
EERERBEEAAREEEER
RERTEIR T -

32.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of The Company (Continued)
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 4 July 2018, the Company approved the Company’s post-IPO
share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme") for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to eligible directors,
management and employees, and will expire on 4 July 2028.
Under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the board of directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company
may, from time to time, grant share options to outside third
parties for settlement in respect of goods or services provided to
the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue on the date of the shares commence trading on the
Stock Exchange, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share
capital or with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme must
be taken up within 20 business days of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, there were no share options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(%)
SRR S T B

MEOBROARAHILFRIZ L
e ZFEMARMZEEFEIRE2013
F1N2A1EBBNRERERN 5
TRMEEREGEREERHBZIEAMN
R BEMRNAE (REBRERST
FRAFIR%) - WER20234F11 830
HEIH] -

BEBEEENRGZEETE - ATETT
NEEBRHBEEAEETEER
BHI®RITERNDBENS% (B2
BN NBRHBEREETE) I
EEEROEZEFEAEKBENE
= BARAERFENEBRFBIREREW
ROTEROHEENS% (IHEEH
MEBEHBERAESE) aFIEN -
R2016%F 12818 » £FEHKH
RTS8 T RSB AR (0 B Bh1E N
7,553,422 IR Ei@A% o 72019412
A18 - #EFEBETNEERG A
FiEAN7,833,224 L BAK -

BRE

R2013F12 A1 B ERAELE2020
FIMH4B TR WBLER - A&
BEETEEREEREETIRIE
() ZERAERA R (EREERER
LHBLDAZEGAR)ER  WE
R AR 24 /5 /9 A% 15 82 B 5T S & 3% B A%
o R2020F 1 A1 EREEIEES
EEE BRYFAEEEERESH
402,00017 B AR #E 1R R 1T o
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(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Leju

Leju’s shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Leju's
Share Incentive Plan was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 1 December 2013 for the purpose of providing a
variety of share-based incentives, including share options and
restricted shares to directors and eligible employees, and has
expired on 30 November 2023.

Under the Leju’s Share Incentive Plan, the maximum number of
shares that may be issued shall be 8% of the total outstanding
shares on an as-converted and fully diluted basis as of the
effective date of the plan, and shall be increased automatically
by 5% of the then total outstanding shares on an as-converted
fully diluted basis on each of the third, sixth and ninth
anniversaries of the effective date of the Leju’s Share Incentive
Plan. On 1 December 2016, the award pool under Leju’s Share
Incentive Plan was automatically increased by 7,553,422 ordinary
shares. On 1 December 2019, the award pool under Leju plan
was automatically increased by 7,833,224 ordinary shares.

Share Options

On 1 December 2013 and prior to the completion of the Group'’s
acquisition of Leju on 4 November 2020, certain directors and
eligible employees of the Group employed by E-House (China)
Holdings Limited, which was the parent company of Leju as at
the date of option grant, were granted share option under the
Share Incentive Plan of Leju. As at 1 January 2020 and up to the
date of the acquisition of Leju, 402,000 share options granted
to employees and directors of the Group were outstanding.



32. LR AERNN RS

(%)
SN RO R 8 ()

B AR A (D)

KT AR BT - IR IR R
PEBHBETFAEEEERAE

BEENFTEMNBRENFEDR
T

32.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)

Share Options (Continued)

Details of specific categories of options granted to directors and
eligible employees of the Group under the Share Incentive Plan

of Leju prior to the acquisition of Leju was completed are as
follows:

R B EIRY

BB 5 B R € E 1T{E A E MEFHITEE  IEFHRIREE

Weighted average

Weighted average fair value at

Date of grant Range of vesting period  Range of exercise period exercise price grant date

2013512 H1H 20131218 E 2014512418 & 4.60% 7T 2.15% 7T
20165 12H18 2023411 H30H

1 December 2013 1 December 2013 - 1 1 December 2014 - 30 UsS$4.60 US$2.15

December 2016 November 2023

RWBEEBS  RBRELENRK
MEBMTE  LEEEERTES
LEAKEBHRITHEERRE
11,462,0001p + WAREIRBARE
BN ABERONR - RIKER
H - BEROEEFEIR TEES
BEEENaEREENSECERNE
REMFBOT :

At the date of acquisition of Leju, there are 11,462,000
outstanding share options of Leju granted to directors and
eligible employees of Leju Group under the Share Incentive Plan
of Leju, which are not exchanged by the Group for its share-
based payment. Details of specific categories of options granted
to directors and eligible employees of Leju Group under the
Share Incentive Plan as at the date of acquisition are as follows:
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32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(%)

KEHNRGEBE (F)

(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)

AR (&) Share Options (Continued)
s qunl=R: G0
R HE HERRSE T R E E MEFHTEE  NREEHAAEE
Weighted average
Weighted average fair value at
Date of grant Range of vesting period  Range of exercise period exercise price grant date
201312 A1H 2013F 12 A1BE 2014F 12 A1BE 4.60% T 2.15%7T
2016%F12R1H 2023411 A30H
1 December 2013 1 December 2013 — 1 December 2014 — Us$4.60 US$2.15
1 December 2016 30 November 2023
2015F 4 A28H 20154 A28 % 2016F4 A28 % 9.683% T 3.42% T
2018%F4 A28H 202594 F27H
28 April 2015 28 April 2015 - 28 April 2016 - US$9.68 US$3.42
28 April 2018 27 April 2025
20158 A7H 20158 A7HE 20165F8 A7HE 7.00% 7L 3.42%T
20188 H7H 202548 A6H
7 August 2015 7 August 2015 - 7 August 2016 — Us$7.00 US$3.42
7 August 2018 6 August 2025
2015612 A 14H 2015912 14H= 2016F12R14H= 5.54% 7T 3.08% T
2018F 12 A 14H 2025912 R 13H
14 December 2015 14 December 2015 — 14 December 2016 — US$5.54 US$3.08
14 December 2018 13 December 2025
201793 A30H 201793 A30H% 20183 A30H % 3.24% 7T 1.75%7T
202043 A30H 202743 A29H
30 March 2017 30 March 2017 - 30 March 2018 — US$3.24 US$1.75
30 March 2020 29 March 2027
2018%F3H21H 20183 A21H% 2018F6 A13H % 1.55% 7T 0.83% T
202143 A21H 202843 A20H
21 March 2018 21 March 2018 - 13 June 2018 - US$1.55 US$0.83
21 March 2021 20 March 2028
2018F 6 H27H 2018F6 A27H % 20196 A27H % 1.413%7T 0.73%7T
2021%6 A27H 2028%6 A26H
27 June 2018 27 June 2018 — 27 June 2019 - US$1.41 US$0.73

27 June 2021

26 June 2028
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(%)
SR B AR 1D SR MYt ) (4)
A AR (A0

R2020F 11 848 » RIBLE®R
MEEEFE  AEBRLRERE
EREEREENEERITERER
BEHET11,864,00010 ([4FERTTE
g  ZRWER N mEE
WETEHERTE -

ZEMN2020F 11 B4HMAREBE
TERA—EAEAGTE - ZEAD
BAEMT

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
Share Options (Continued)

As at 4 November 2020, the total 11,864,000 outstanding share
options of Leju granted to directors and eligible employees
of the Group and Leju under the Share Incentive Plan of Leju
("Outstanding Share Options of Leju”) are measured at their
market-based measure at the acquisition date.

These fair values on 4 November 2020 were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

ENTEEHRBES
Remeasurement of
vested portion

EFHEREBEID
Remeasurement of
unvested portion

Gtd
A
HER R
BAE

RN R

Exercise price
Expected life
Expected volatility
Dividend yield

Risk-free interest rate

1.413570- 9.68% T
US$1.41 - US$9.68
0.02 - 7.38%F

0.02 - 7.38 years
73.70% - 144.12%
73.70% - 144.12%
0.00%

0.00%

0.08% - 0.67%

1.41%7T-1.55% 7T
US$1.41 — US$1.55
0.38 - 7.654

0.38 — 7.65 years
73.70% - 101.93%
73.70% - 101.93%
0.00%

0.00%

0.09% - 0.69%

MN2020F11 BARMBEARER

Total fair value on 4 November 2020

0.08% - 0.67% 0.09% - 0.69%
AE#64,743,0007T AR#14,134,0007T
RMB64,743,000 RMB14,134,000

TEHRRIEAN2020F11 A4
HNEEEBBEREFLEEE
o BAMBPRACERFHERE
AAREEMNREMT BT r e
B (TEREIRITRRERFTER
2T AR - BHRBEERNG
FINEREENRELSRMEL -

“HARDE ARG BRENR
nEE- FEEREAREERMA
MEBEFMBREREFNRER
it WHB T BXEMGEERET

Expected volatility was determined by using the annualised
historical stock price volatilities of Leju Group as at 4 November
2020. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the directors of the Company’s best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations. The estimations on expected
dividend yield are based on the historical experience of Leju.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’
best estimate as assisted by an independent professional valuer.
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32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(%)
SR B AR 1D SR MYt ) (4)
A AR (A0

R2020F11 848 BEREBLHSH
NREBEAARK64,743,0007T
Wat NS EFEZERET 2 — B -
EMBERTENEZTENREB
EBo AR¥ 11,343,000 L I ERE
THEBREERELAREBHNR
SFBEH(URKRERE) ZEHLLH
IRELENIELERERS - BEXR
FBEIX NEHARE2,791,0007T
1R AE HE RO AR -

R2021F4F238 » BELER
RDEEFSE  LERTAEEE
ERAEREBEENRITEBRRES
4,267,00017 o HRIER D SEEY T B $%
FTAEBEERAEREENET
FERBRENFBOT ¢

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
Share Options (Continued)

As at 4 November 2020, the fair value of vested portion
amounting to RMB64,743,000 are included as part of the non-
controlling interest in Leju. The market-based measure of the
unvested portion of RMB11,343,000 is allocated to the non-
controlling interest in Leju based on the ratio of the portion of
the vesting period completed to the greater of the total vesting
period or the original vesting period of those share options. The
balance of RMB2,791,000 in respect of the unvested portion
will be recognised as remuneration cost for post-combination
service.

On 23 April 2021, there are 4,267,000 outstanding share
options of Leju granted to directors and eligible employees of
the Group under the Share Incentive Plan of Leju. Details of
specific categories of options granted to directors and eligible
employees of the Group under the Share Incentive Plan are as
follows:

RE L B H

eeell=h-t 5B A E TEHESE MEFI91TEE MEFARREE
Weighted average Weighted average fair

Date of grant Range of vesting period Range of exercise period exercise price value at grant date

2021F4H23B% 202264H23B%
20214 A23H 202493 H31H 20314 A228 0.87%7T 1.74% 7T
23 April 2021 23 April 2021 - 23 April 2022 - Us$0.87 Us$1.74
31 March 2024 22 April 2031
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32. MR AEBNTRRS
(%)
SKENRGEBTE (&)
BIRE (&)
ZENR2021F4A23AMAREE

TERA - EXEREE - ZERH
BAENT :

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)

Share Options (Continued)

These fair values on 23 April 2021 were calculated using the

Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

ENEERBIES
Remeasurement of
vested portion

1TfEE
BEHFEH
TEHAR IR

IR B

¥

42 3 B I =
R2021F4 A23 B AR BE

1.66%7T - 2.05%& 7T
US$1.66 — US$2.05

Exercise price

Expected life 104F
10 years

Expected volatility 72.06%
72.06%

Dividend yield 0.00%
0.00%

Risk-free interest rate 1.56%
1.56%

Fair value on 23 April 2021 AR#47,397,0007C

RMB47,397,000

TRRBAWARBEAREFRN
FRFEEOBRENE 2D
G

The following tables disclose movements of the number of Leju’s

share options held by employees and directors of the Group,
during the year:

Ro3E  REEEA 20235
1810 NEE 128318
WATE ATEBRE  FARY  FROE FRRK FAIE GESHL
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
Outstanding
Outstanding options of  Granted Exercised  Forfeited  Expired Outstanding
at1January  Lejuondate during the during the during the during the at 31 December
2023  of acquisition year year year year 2023
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
SEMERE Leju's share option 14,890 - - (400) (4,768) - 9,722
EXAE Exercisable at the end of the year 6,358
MEFSTEE Weighted average exercise price WNER - - 117ER 403ER - 21557
Us$2.72 - - USS117 US$4.03 - Us$2.15
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(&) (Continued)
LENRGRBEE (&) Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
B (& Share Options (Continued)
RA2E  RNRERH R2022E
1A1R HEE 12A31R
WATE  AOEERE FARL  FAAE FRRK  FRIE WALTHE
TH TH T T TH T TH
Outstanding

QOutstanding optionsof ~ Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Expired QOutstanding
at1January  lejuondate  duringthe duringthe duringthe  during the  at 31 December

2022 of acquisition year year year year 2022

'000 '000 ‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 '000
ENERE Leju's share option 15,728 - - - (838) - 14,890
EXAIR Exercisable at the end of the year 10,744
ETAHEE Weighted average exercise price YNVET - - - 29%6%Fn - LET

Us§2.72 - - - US$2.96 - Us§2.72

RRFIR Restricted shares
BERBWEARTOHREEAR - Leju’s restricted shares are restricted from voting or receiving
LEIREKRMDOFEARRKRGDE dividends until the shares are vested based on the stipulated
BB A TNERENMERE - service periods as set out in the award agreements.
RTHEEEREEREENER There are total 967,000 outstanding restricted shares of Leju
RATEZR G ([RERTEX ("Outstanding Restricted Shares of Leju”) granted to directors
PR IR 1) 80 967,000/% © %% and eligible employees of Leju, which are not exchanged by
RO REBRBREBURGD RBE the Group for its share-based payment transactions, which are
RENRRZS - WERIKE R e measured at their market-based measure at the acquisition date.
Tin R 8 AFE -
M2020F 11 A48 - 252 AEE These fair values on 4 November 2020 were calculated with
T2RERNKER B KRB reference to the closing stock price of Leju at the acquisition
"o date.
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32. LR AERNN RS

(&)

412 09 IR 43 SE M T A ()
B8 RS (40
FRHBH (F)

R2020F 11 BABRESRBEIXDH
NABELEAEARE15,749,000
TCe WM EBAEFEFENR
BESS ARE3,072,000T 5 E
REZKEBHEZREHRGEHE
EHSERES (UEREAE)
2 Ll 9 BL 2= 44 TE 1 FE 4R AR A
Ho BRARBIONEBARE
12,677,000 LR BE 1B IR
E0E=21 )7 N

TR BT SR 4 PR R A B
B R -

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Leju (Continued)
Share Options (Continued)

Restricted shares (Continued)

The total amount of fair value of unvested portion on 4
November 2020 is RMB15,749,000. The market-based measure
of the unvested portion of RMB3,072,000 is allocated to the
non-controlling interest in Leju based on the ratio of the portion
of the vesting period completed to the greater of the total
vesting period or the original vesting period of those restricted
shares. The balance of RMB12,677,000 in respect of the
unvested portion will be recognised as remuneration cost for
post-combination service.

The following tables disclose movements of the number of Leju’s
restricted share during the year:

R023F  RKERH R2023%
1818 WEERTHE 12A31R
HATE  ERERG  EREE  ERBE ERRK EREE WA
T h T R T i T
Outstanding
restricted

Outstanding shares of ~ Granted Vested  Forfeited  Expired Outstanding
at1January  Lejuondate duringthe duringthe duringthe during the at 31 December

2023  of acquisition year year year year 2023
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
RHRNHHE Number of restricted share 267 - - (267) - - -
RELAMAME  Weighted average grant-date 150%7 - - 150571 - - -
THRLEE fair value US$1.50 - - USs1.50 - - -
n2022%  NKERH #2025
1818 WREATE 124318
WATE  RRERG  FRRL  FREE FARK  FRIH RAITHE
T T T T T T T

Outstanding

restricted
Qutstanding sharesof  Granted Vested  Forfeited Expired QOutstanding
at1January  Lejuondate duringthe duringthe duringthe during the  at 31 December
2022 of acquisition year year year year 2022
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000 ‘000 '000
RBHRASA Number of restricted share 617 - - (350) - - 267
WETAMAME  Weighted average grant-date (NAE S - - 161ET - - 150%7T
TERREE fair value US$1.71 - - US§161 - - US$1.50
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32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(%)
Omnigold ¥ % {7 58 B =+ &1

R2015% - EENWE R A
Omnigold Holdings Limited
(TOmnigoldl) £k 4 — T8 A% ) 22 &
&l ([Omnigold&t&l]) - HiZeE
(VE Z=O0mnigoldE E it /& KRN
Omnigold&tZI# B H - Omnigold
RIEOmMnigoldat 813E T 1 H 52 E)
AHETHOROESEE I ER
5,000,0008% * K (ii) Omnigold&t
BN ERBHNE= FARE
NERF BIZEROmMnigoldE K E
BIT R ARITERD LEE 5% (1%
PEBRESEEEEAE) B
- BRESRL B BETFE
o WHEE=FHEA - REEB
MR EERF IR OIHE

AR EERBEE BT R B
Omnigoldit BI&) K15 (LA HE * M
R R B R TS
WeEH B REE -

ZEN2020511 B4EMAREE
TERA—EAEATE - ZEAD
BAENT

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold

In 2015, Leju's subsidiary, Omnigold Holdings Limited
("Omnigold”), adopted a share incentive plan (“Omnigold
Plan”), which proposed that (i) the maximum number of shares
of Omnigold available for issuance pursuant to all awards under
the Omnigold Plan shall initially be 5,000,000 as of the date
of the Omnigold Plan was approved and adopted by the Board
of Omnigold, and (ii) the Omnigold Plan shall be increased
automatically by 5% of the then total issued and outstanding
shares of Omnigold on an as-converted fully diluted basis on
each of the third, sixth and ninth anniversary of the Effective
Date. The options expire ten years from the date of grant and
vest ratably at each grant date anniversary over a period of three
years.

The outstanding share options of Omnigold Plan are not
exchanged by the Group during the acquisition of Leju and are
measured at their market-based measure at the acquisition date.

These fair values on 4 November 2020 were calculated using the
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

EIEERBHS
Remeasurement of
vested portion

I8
HHFH
JEHRR 1R

R =

¥

8 [ B )

M2020F 11 B4BME R REBE

Total fair value on 4 November 2020

Exercise price 1.503% 7T
US$1.50

Expected life 4.78%F
4.78 years

Expected volatility 60.56%
60.56%

Dividend yield 0.00%
0.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.36%
0.36%

AR#4,978,0007T
RMB4,978,000
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32. LR AERNN RS

(%)
Omnigold 3 B 17 88 Byt &1 ()

TEERR BT AN 2020511 H4H
WITERAREFRENFHH
EE o EBAMEACEBFHER
BARARESZMHEME - BtAA
EEN - TERSIRITAREZME
FRE S ETAAE - KRB RH
EEFTIE R Omnigold I E 5 A& 58 M
fEH °

“HARDE ARG BRENR
nEE- FEEREAREERMN
MEBLBRENRESHNRER
At WHB T BEMEERIET

R2020511 B4AHE BB OHA
REERARMEA,978,0007T » W5t
AR IR IR a2 — 2B

32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the average of
industry annualised historical stock price volatilities as at 4
November 2020. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on the directors of the Company’'s
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, ex-ercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations. The estimations on
expected dividend yield are based on the historical experience of
Omnigold.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’
best estimate as assisted by an independent professional valuer.

The fair value of vested portion on 4 November 2020 amounting

to RMB4,978,000 are included as part of the non-controlling
interest in Leju.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

32. URMAEBNMNFHELSE  32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(&) (Continued)
Omnigold iR 17 S B =+ &l (&) Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold (Continued)
TREFEOmMnigoldaHEITE T4 E &) The following tables disclose movements of the number of Leju’s
BRESANFRNEEFE share options under the Omnigold Plan during the year:
R03E  UWREERH 20235
1A18  Omnigold 128318
HATE AOEBRE  BAEL  BABE BRRK BRIE BT
TH TH Th TH TH TH TH
Outstanding
share options
of Omnigold

Outstanding ondate of  Granted Vested  Forfeited  Expired Outstanding
at1January  acquisition during the during the during the during the at 31 December

2023 of Leju period period period period 2023
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000 ‘000
Omnigold Number of Omnigold's

BREZE share options 780 - - - - - 780
MEFHHEE Weighted average exercise price 150%% - - - - - 150£%
US$1.50 - - - - - US$1.50
r0nE  WEXERH R200E
1A Omnigold#) 128318
WATE  AOEERE BRRL  BREE BRRK HrIH HATE
T T T T T TR T

QOutstanding

share options

of Omnigold
Qutstanding ondateof  Granted Vested  Forfeited Expired QOutstanding
at 1 January acquisition ~ during the ~ during the ~ during the ~ during the  at 31 December
2022 of Leju period period period period 2022
'000 '000 '000 ‘000 '000 ‘000 '000

Omnigold&] Number of Omnigold's

BiREs A share options 825 = = = (45) = 780
MEFHRE Weighted average exercise price 150%TT - - - 150%T - 150%TT
US§1.50 = = - US§1.50 = US§1.50
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33.

URGBHERNTRRS
(%)

Omnigold 89 i 17 R B =+ & (&)

REFER  AEESETHEHE
HEKBERB I BREREF
st e BRI AR E (A ) JIRE
P RERR - M AS B R R R B 1R
MHREREE o

AEBHERAEE2023F12831H
IFFEEBARR REEFMTEN
BRERIBEHBROHEBAZAR
#11,957,0007T (20224 : AR
12,211,0007T) ° #EAR 5t Omnigold
R R B EREREMFY -

EXEE

AREEREES  BREBEN
EGRERAI 0T - ERAEE
T & £ EAFAEAREBREA
1 95 10 1 5 7 8 B4 AR o 186
Fie - AEENEBEREHTE .

AEENEARBHESFE (B
Mf5E28A « 28B ~ 29 22 Fr iR BB Y
BITREMMER  JBREEE A
EaENREMERAEESEEAR
B IBRREKASEEY) AL
E#EE ARGRESAERK -

AEEEREE PRI EARRE -
ERZBHN—MD  AEEEE
BERSBREANEARA R
Rk REASEEEENHEESR
R AEEBEBRNRE - #1T
i BOUHEFABERRBER
FEHEEBENREE -

32.

33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Incentive Plan of Omnigold (Continued)

At the end of each year, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest ultimately. The
impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit and loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB11,957,000
(2022: RMB12,211,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023
in relation to share options and restricted shares granted by
the Company and Leju. No expense was recognised for share
options granted by Omnigold.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that group companies
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings, convertible note, lease
liabilities and amounts due to related parties of non-trade nature
disclosed in notes 28A, 28B, 29 and 22, net of cash and cash
equivalent, and equity attributable to owners of the Group.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the management of the Group
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management
of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new shares issues as well as
the issue of new debt or redemption of existing debt.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. £ T H 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. TRIASE a. Categories of financial instruments
20235 20224
ARET T ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
TREE Financial assets
BESHR AR Amortised cost 966,575 1,746,755
BARBEREWETA FVTOCI
HEi 2wk 289,582 696,368
BARBEFEWETAIBEZE FVTPL 50,556 79,833
1,306,713 2,522,956
tREE Financial liabilities
B SHA AR Amortised cost 7,952,286 7,904,550
HEERE Lease liabilities 140,271 254,173
AR HTAE T A S5 Derivative component of Convertible Note - 1,551
8,092,557 8,160,274
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b.

cREABEEEERBE

AEENTIZSMTABRER
WRRR - BEE - Hi R
A - BARBEFELA
Ht2mammERGIR - B
NyEFEENZS  WED
ERREHENZE  HEXE
T XRHRITESSR  EEH
RITER - |RITEHRNAS
DERBANEBEFELE
ABmWNEREE EBHE
R HEARIE - Bk (E
) AR T 3R SRIT R E A
BR - HEREARARRERE
B ZETMIANFRERE
MIEEPKE - BRFEMTA
BREMEREED SRR (B
TR N R E R N H A (E AR
Rk ) - 15 & R B &Of 2 R
B o RIRRZF R A BRER
X -AEBEEEEENE
BZERR - ARREEA R
WEIEE S o

BE¥ER

AEEETRITEHBNIAS
FE W (FEAS) BAEE O IR ) H
ffERAS R EE R IMNEE
8 - FtERINE R -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include accounts
receivables, bills receivables, other receivables, receivables
at FVTOCI, deposits paid to property developers, deposits
paid for acquisition of property and equipment, rental
deposits, restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, financial assets classified as FVTPL,
accounts payables, other payables, amounts due from (to)
related parties, bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities
and convertible note. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances and cash, amounts due from (to)
related parties, and other borrowings are denominated in
foreign currency of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk.
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

34. SR T H (&)
b. ¢REAKEEAERKE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and

(#&) policies (Continued)
Ermp (&) Currency risk (Continued)
REEREREMRUEEE The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
EROHNEEB LI E KT monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than
BENEBEEEREXYAENEK the respective group entities’ functional currencies at the
EESHII0T end of each reporting period are as follows:
BE BfE
Assets Liabilities
20234 20224 20234 20224
ARBTRE ARETRT AR%¥TR AR%TnR
2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ETT Us$ 19,423 76,893 5,170,919 5,025,946
BT HK$ 1,499,667 1,170,975 155 138

HRAEREEEERRANEE
Fff T B RO S0 BE LB AR AR - BUAR
5 5 B Fi 30 A NS B R R
AREEKE BN T Z R Y

HERIMNERK
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The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy as the management of the Group considers
that the foreign exchange risk exposure of the Group
is minimal. The Group will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.



34. £ T A (&)

b. TREREEEEREE
(%)

E¥ER (&)
BRI

TRAMHBAEEERENEE
e ONIS BT (H10 % S AN 2 B A
BRKE ° 10% BE 1R BRI IE
KA BT AN BRE
L - BEEE D ITERIEM AR
EENIINETEERIER - I
12 10% HY N BB = 4 Bl B 3R
EHARMBRE - TREH (&
F)RTHEBEEBEERINEE
e 5 AE R NS B (B B BR Y
‘EB ORD) - &R
BEBEREMNEEEAE
10% + & H R EFBEK R
EREMNERTE -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10%
decrease in the functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the foreign currency. 10% is the sensitivity
rate used in management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 10% change in
foreign currency rates. A positive (negative) number below
indicates a (decrease)/increase in post-tax loss for the year
where the functional currency of relevant group entities
weakening against the relevant foreign currencies. For a
10% strengthen of the functional currency of relevant
group entities, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit after taxation.

20234 20224
AR¥F T AREFT
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000

SN Foreign currency
E3 (479,590) (468,492)
HBIT 149,951 117,084
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HE2023F 128310 ILEE

34. SR T H (&)
b. ¢RMERESEEERKE

(%)

MEmR

AEEEBRETESETREAM
B HEABERATBRREE
EENAABENERRAR (5
EELXB 328 K% 29) « A&
B B I £ 1 ] F K ¥ 5 K
R AEBEEESH
REBHRR  TREEH=

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B X ER

R ER B TR B BUF B A R F R
HERTTAERR - EEMBITHER
FRITHEBARNE S REN

A -

A B E RS B A B R E
G % AN TS B 1 L

B e

HRES T

G

AT 8URE DT TIRIE N & 3
& HHIMRITAERN XA R E
E c MEIMETDRRNER
SEHHAREENSRTANE
EFERERE - RBITHEHEK

PN EFrak TR 10 EEE

REEEEBHMN XS EA
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities and convertible note (see notes 28 and 29 for
details). The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. The management of the Group
monitors the Group’s exposure on an on-going basis and
will consider hedging interest rate risk should the need
arises.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floated-rate restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for bank balances at
the respective reporting date. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
respective reporting date was outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 basis point increase or decrease in interest rate
on bank balances is used which represent management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible changes in interest
rates.



34. ¢RI T A (&)

b.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

cHEREEEEREEK b. Financial risk management objectives and
(#&) policies (Continued)
FIZ=m b () Interest rate risk (Continued)
BB T () Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
HIRITHRBFELF TR0 If interest rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower for
TAES - mATA E b2 8IRS bank balances and all other variables were held constant,
g REEFARBIZER the Group's post-tax loss for the year would have
& g, WA AT &% : (increased)/decreased by the following magnitude:
2023 20224
ARET T AREFT
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FABERD Decrease in loss for the year 260 406
HiERR Other price risk

REBFBRAAEBEFER
HEB T ABRENES LKA
BEBLEAZRAEBERR -
BRI EMBRAESM
TOMERAEFELFNER L
Ft,/ TH5% - BlEE=20234
12 A31 B IEFEMREEEER
w1 AR 479,000
g0 (20224 : AR® 972,000
JT) °

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in debt and equity securities measured at
FVTPL. For listed equity securities in the Stock Exchange,
if the price of the respective equity securities had been
5% higher/lower, the loss after tax for the year ended
31 December 2023 would have decreased/increased by
RMB479,000 (2022: RMB972,000).
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34. £RI T H (&)

b.

THEREEREERBE
(%)

FERR

EERRBREXZIHFRETH
BHEREMERANKEELM
BEKMER -

AEEEEYRIRR - BKRE
B RAARBEAESTAR
i 2 T Y O FB IR~ Bt
FEWHKIR - IR EE
FEUS BE B 77 R ~ R BISRTT
MR BERITERARR
TRHEZEERR - HER
AEERERMEEAIHNERS
=ERE -

AR B TEH R R B SR 17 45 B4
EEMBTEAMRRITEREEF
REFREXEERR  BR
HEZEHREARTREAM
RHPEEMRTT - AREERE
EEFATERZERZHF T
BROELEFAERER -

REHREHR - TEr RAEMAR
FENERAmIEMIBER
it AREHENRAEER
BARZHFRERTEEIR
ARER B PR A RS PR R T B B
AEBEELNTHEK -

rEBEEFEESETRERE - HE
7R2023F12A318 - ERER
o EWEE - RSB
SMHERIE - EWERR (BE
B#EN A RIEA A EBER
sV AEME2EKIZAR
IH) MR+ - 951H34.69%
(2022% :15.10%) &
48.49% (20224 : 33.63%)
REAEBRZERAEFERAAK
BFE -

SE(TE)C¥ERERAT —E--FERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
accounts receivables, bills receivables, receivables at
FVTOCI, other receivables, other non-current assets,
amounts due from related parties, restricted bank balances,
pledged bank deposit, and bank balances, representing
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at state-owned banks and other
medium or large-sized listed banks. The management of
the Group does not expect that there will be any significant
losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 34.69%
(2022: 15.10%) and 48.49% (2022: 33.63%) of the total
accounts receivables, bills receivables, amounts due from
related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) was
due from the Group’'s largest customer and five largest
customers as at 31 December 2023, respectively.
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b.

THEREEREERBE
(%)

FERE (%)
B S 15674 5

M20234F12H318 5t A
N5 E pE IR B - JE U B
FESHEERIE - BRER
(BRZEHEKNENRIZARE
B ETst AEMma2mE ki
MRE) 2BSHEAEARE
48,456,0007T (20224 : AR
#53,146,0007T) + AEE R
ZERBEERERESR -
TZHEERE N MIFE21 & 23 ©

YA R R T
YRR B 5 E RO —
M B (045 T 8
AR BET BLHARMEE
WS ROB) - AR B E
CEBE BT 75 £ ) S 957
B %Ak B2 MBI EE
KREEIREE - RS REHIE
RN SRR
BF (BRERS) %A
EEAEEARSNHES (—
BRERBES - EEHELS
AMERF ) (B E (E
HERBTE (—REARER
F — S EEAE) —bHE B
IR R A - IR
ABOE 45 B S « B IRAD
B8 « IS A RRN
REDENLAME « EB
NEE AT R 0B B TR
5 R B AR R
B 1600 5 45 R B AR M A
Bt -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances

Included in the Group’s accounts receivables, amounts due
from related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI)
as at 31 December 2023 with aggregate amounts of
RMB48,456,000 (2022: RMB53,146,000), the Group has
collateral of real estate properties over these balances.
Details of the arrangement is set out in notes 21 and 23.

For accounts receivables, bills receivables, amounts due
from related parties of trade nature — accounts receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI),
the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The ECL
on these balances are assessed on an individual basis
for customers with good credit rating (strategic type
customers) or individually assessed customers or with high
credit risk (normal risk type customers — credit-impaired or
high risk type customers) and the remaining (normal risk
type customers — not credit-impaired) is collectively using
provision matrix, estimated based on historical settlement
pattern, past default experience of the debtor, fair values
of real estate properties obtained as collateral, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.
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b.

304 SE(FE)LEZRERAT

THEREEREERBE
(%)

FERE (#)
E S5k = (B)

EREMBTEBARBAERE
BRI - B30 E R E A
ARz R (FINEBABRE
KHEAWERFF) - AKEMHE
FEU AR - RUR & - EUKEE
B3R — RWRR (BHRER
BEK AR AREBEMEL
AR EEKREAFKIE)

TRAFMANEBEN B HERE
2 1t /9 FE UK AR 3 K B R R
(BIEREERAMIE AR EE
FrEIET A KA 2 s B R
H) MERAEE - 12023412
RA31HEHSED A AARKE
1,864,252,0007C (2022 % :
AER#1,796,348,0007T)
AFE#299,883,0007T (2022
F: AR¥ 304,268,000
T)  AR#3,771,851,000
7T (2022%F + AR ¥
3,865,539,0007t) * AR
1,204,873,0007C (2022 % :
AE#1,184,128,0007T) B 1E
TRREEERE  aRkRE
BEPREBEERP KER
BFEMES AERI#EI TR ©

e —fEas

For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances (Continued)

The Group writes off an accounts receivables, bills
receivables, amounts due from related parties — accounts
receivables (including those carried at amortised cost
and FVTOCI) when there is information indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

The following table details the risk profile of the Group’s
accounts receivables and bills receivables (including
those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) which are
assessed based on provision matrix. Debtors with normal
risk type — credit-impaired, high risk type customers,
strategic type customers and, individual assessed
customers with contract amounts of RMB1,864,252,000
(2022: RMB1,796,348,000), RMB299,883,000
(2022: RMB304,268,000), RMB3,771,851,000 (2022:
RMB3,865,539,000), RMB1,204,873,000 (2022:
RMB1,184,128,000) as at 31 December 2023 were
assessed individually, respectively.
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THEREEREERBE b.

(%)
FERE (#)
E S5k = (B)

72023%F12H31H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

FEWBR SR R PR R 1% (BRI S A AN I
BARBEFELF AHMEEWENIE)
— BEIRE
Accounts receivables and bills receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and
FVTOCI) - days aged

—REREETF GHEERE) —FHUR —EWF #Et
Normal risk type customers — Within
not credit-impaired 1 year 1-2 years Total

IEFHIEEEEBLE  Weighted average expected

credit loss rate 21.97% 76.80% 50.15%
BREEASE (ARETIL) Total gross carrying amount
(RMB’000) 110,715 117,068 227,783
>HEHEERX Lifetime ECL (RMB’000)
(AR%FT) (24,319) (89,914) (114,233)
86,396 27,154 113,550
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34. TR T A (&) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. EREAKMEEAERBEE b. Financial risk management objectives and
(#&) policies (Continued)
FER B (&) Credit risk (Continued)
B () Trade-related balances (Continued)
7"2022512A31H8 As at 31 December 2022

FEWBR SR R IR R 1% (B R IR A AN I
BARBEFELF AR EEWENRIE)
— BEIRE
Accounts receivables and bills receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and
FVTOCI) - days aged

—REREEP GHEERIE) —F AR —ZMF et
Normal risk type customers — Within
not credit-impaired 1 year 1-2 years Total

IEFHIEEEEBLE  Weighted average expected

credit loss rate 17.50% 45.64% 28.92%
BREEASE (ARETIL) Total gross carrying amount
(RMB'000) 388,176 265,014 653,190
>HEHEERX Lifetime ECL (RMB’000)
(AR¥ETTT) (67,949) (120,958) (188,907)
320,227 144,056 464,283
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(%)

THEREEREERBE
(%)

FERE (%)
B S5k = (8)

RAFEE  AEEREBEE
R L FE U BR B N PR U ZE R (B2
FBIRBHENARIZ QA EBR
sV AEMEEKFIAR
H)BERBERLDFEARE
80,992,0007T (20224 : &
B[O F % A R# 89,380,000
JC) ¢ MR {E B E ERFEH R B
(MEEREN—RARESR
FrQQeRBRERE  (3)8
BREEF M) ERNFHEF
R FEUERZX - B =B X &
Ik BB 5 3R0E — EURERER (B
FIREEKARBZARER
T2 ET A E b 2 W ek A 3R
H)  BRABEREFEARE
93,795,0007T (20224 : AR
#810,913,0007T) °

FEE S 1A

AR K R B 1K L At FE W R IR
&ﬁ@#ﬁ@ﬁ?%ﬁf

CARBEZEHEEER
é%ﬁﬂ KGR EERRE

A UIRBEERORR SR
R QT DB o SERT
MEM BB RRE (1B)

R B FEEEZES
6 AR LA A B R A R 5 A R

EARBAAENR ZLEHHE
RPEFETHR - AEEF
BEREARMOLERZYH
FHEEFR - LAFATERE
RPBEERZERHE TR
EITED -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade-related balances (Continued)

During the current year, the Group recognised net reversal
of provision of RMB80,992,000 (2022: net reversal of
provision of RMB89,380,000) based on the provision
matrix for accounts receivables and bill receivables
(including those carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI)
and recognised net loss allowance of RMB93,795,000
(2022: RMB810,913,000) assessed on an individual basis
on accounts receivables, bills receivables and amounts due
from related parties — accounts receivables (including those
carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI) from (1) normal
risk type customers — credit-impaired, (2) high risk type
customers, (3) strategic type customers and (4) individually
assessed customers.

Non-trade related balances

In order to minimise credit risk on other receivables and
other non-current assets, the Group has tasked its credit
management committee to develop and maintain the credit
risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their
degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where available
and, if not available, the credit management committee
uses other publicly available financial information and the
Group’s own trading records to rate its counterparties.
The Group's exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.
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34. BT A () 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. EREAKMEEAERBEE b. Financial risk management objectives and
(48) policies (Continued)
FER B (&) Credit risk (Continued)
FE SRR (4E) Non-trade related balances (Continued)
N6 B IR R G B A R W R IE The Group's current credit risk grading framework in
REAMIERBEENEERR respect of other receivables and other non-current assets
ERIERBEATER comprises the following categories:
a7 i BEREHEEBEANEE
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
R RHEFRLHBRRIE - W@ ERIESNRRT —F A o 2@ AMTESREEBXL

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any 12m ECL
past-due amounts or aged within 1 year.

A & B YRR - EERARKENE R —ZEMEF) - ZHRHAGEERL
- BEERE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL —
recognition (aged within 1 year but less than 2 years). not credit-impaired
e BERREPEELREERE REMFIAL) - 2 HFRBAGEERL
— EERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
(aged over 2 years). credit-impaired
% 3H EPRRABBEABARENTHERE - A ASEWLIFRIEY  FIACD KZH

R o
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial ~ Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
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THEREEREERBE
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IEE B (1)
BETRERTE - EMER
FERHEMIERDEERR
BAEREEERR  BEA
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B == E R T (I E KR
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BFEmME - EBEBEHIIR
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318 - HabEWERIE R H A
R EE (BRESREE
BRX)MBEEEAARE
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AT TE H At Wk R I EL 4t 3F
MBEENTAMERERAE
AEEEEEC MBEED

ERRITERKAE R/ XE
BERRBAKEEHNER
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FEEABEBBEFEREEE
NEENBEE - UREDHIEKX
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Non-trade related balances (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment assessment, other
receivables and other non-current assets are considered to
have low credit risk as the counterparties to these financial
assets have a high credit rating except receivables that are
considered as doubtful. Accordingly, for the purpose of
impairment assessment, the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to 12m ECL. As at 31 December
2023, the gross carrying amount of other receivables and
other non-current assets subjected to ECL amounted to
RMB4,266,502,000 (2022: RMB4,445,100,000).

In determining the ECL for other receivables and other
non-current assets, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience and
the future prospects of the industries and/or considering
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information, as appropriate, in estimating the probability
of default of each of the other receivables and other
non-current assets occurring within their respective loss
assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default
in each case.
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EERERDERARE  NEE
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AEEEEEEZERITREM
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TR AKEFTESREA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the
Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group
monitors the utilisation of bank and other borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity dates for financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. EREAMEEAEERBEE b. Financial risk management objectives and
(#&) policies (Continued)
TEN MR R () Liquidity risk (Continued)
TERBEBENEERASRER The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
2.
LBV BT 3 f Liquidity and interest risk table
mETY  REXY RER
ERAE  OMER 1B3ER MEAEIF  1E5F  SENML REREAE  KEE
% ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR®TR AR®Tx
Weighted
average Ondemand  Within  Within Total
effective or less than 1to3 3 months Over undiscounted ~ Carrying
interestrate ~ 1month  months to1year 1-5years  Syears  cashflows  amount
% RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
2023%12A31R 31 December 2023
EREFREMERNE Accounts and other payables - 1,886,326 - - - - 1,886,326 1,886,326
ERBEATE Amounts due to related parties - 115230 - - - - 115230 115,230
BERIERTEN Fixec-rate bank borrowings 475 36 145270 175939 543,713 3,203 868,161 779,811
EEfIZEfiE Fixed-rate other borrowings 760 4,963,098 - - - - 4,963,008 4235807
TARZBRNERHS Liability component of Convertible
Note 8.3 921,438 - - - - 921,438 935112
HEaE Lease liabllties 3.95 7668 6797 47,004 98863 30910 191,242 140,271
7.893,796 152,067 222,943 642,576 34,113 8,945,495 8,092,557
2002512318 31 December 2022
R R AR 5E Accounts and other payables - 1,708,089 - - - - 1,708,089 1,708,089
ERERAE Amounts due to related parties - 259,147 - = - - 259,147 259,147
EEMERITER Fixed-rate bank borrowings 467 103 144,178 257505 533566 4,485 939837 858,516
EEFIZEfiEE Fixed-rate other borrowings 864 2,360,828 - 2168776 - - 4529604 4,156,665
TARZENEETH Liability component of Convertible
Note 9.09 4,070 - 891571 = = 895,641 809,282
HERE Lease liabilities 3.95 6,113 11,083 67,554 75588 143,728 304,000 254,173
4338350 155261 3,385,406 609,154 148213 8,636,384 8,105,872
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. SR T H (&)
¢ SBMIENAABEIE

AEEEEERE  A5BREE
BF 5 SRR PR B SR AR DI BR Y € b
EERCHEBEEAEEEQARE
BER%E  BEELZERATBRER
WEKDBD (EARBESAIEER
MIsE28A KM 7E28B) BRI o

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

¢. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amount of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities, except for Senior Notes and debt component of
Convertible Note of which their fair values are disclosed
in notes 28A and 28B, respectively, recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

AREE HERITR
R12A31BRAAEE ER BREARE
Fair value as at Fair value  Valuation technique
31 December hierarchy  and key input

20235 20224
AR®TT ARETR
2023 2022
RMB'000  RMB'000

LHEE/SRERE Financial assets/financial liabilities

PEBBWIERAAEME  Equity securities listed in the Stock 9,575 19,436 E—H NEBTHEAR
FTEWE ABER Exchange classified as financial assets Level 1 Quoted bid prices
SREENBR mandatorily measured at FVTPL in the active
LEikRAES market

HEARGIEALERE  Investment in limited partnership 40,981 60,397 E=4 M
FTEWE ABER classified as financial assets mandatorily Level 3 notei

SREENEREZRE  measured at FVTPL

AREZEETET AL Derivative component of Convertible Note - (1,551) E=m Kt
Level 3 note i
BRAAEEFTEWEA  Receivables at FVTOC| 289,582 696,368 E=R i
Hitr 2 EkaEmEKEIE
Level 3 note jii
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2022 %2023 12 A31HHA
ABERELEREESHEEE
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Fr b AR AR AR B E — E A5
BEYAEREESHNAAEBE
M RZINA o WBERFT £
MARIHERENRELEFA5%
ABEREESNERMESENAR
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20224 %2023 12 A31HHA
AREEBRENR — FRlTHEE
BENETE - A0x — & M
REEBEEANERNTABRE AR
BAREHREE REEBR
BRI KA - WEHRMKE
EBREEDIEES  FTHREREN
AREERES - BIREEE - 7]
BERRENAABERES -

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

Note i:

The fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 was determined
based on the fair value of the underlying assets of private equity
fund. The significant unobservable input is the fair value of the
underlying assets. The higher the fair value of the underlying
assets, the higher the fair value of the investment will be.

An increase in the stock price of the equity shares of a company
listed on the Stock Exchange which is the underlying investment
of the private equity fund, used in isolation would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the private equity fund,
and vice versa. A 5% increase in the stock price of the underlying
equity shares of a company listed on the Stock Exchange would
increase the carrying amount of the private equity fund by
RMB2,049,000 (2022: RMB3,020,000).

Note ii:

The fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 was determined
by Black-Scholes option pricing model. The significant
unobservable input to the Black-Scholes option pricing model
being the volatility of the share price of the investee, stock price
and discount rate. The higher the volatility of the investee and
stock price, the higher the fair value of the convertible note will
be. The lower the discount rate, the higher the fair value of the
convertible note will be.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. £RI T H (&) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

TRMIAENAIABETE

(#&)
Bk - ()

AT GURED M IIRBAEE BT
H AR B AR E S RAE
BREBRERBERNKERE
E o mEOMEIRKRNES|mER
HAREENSHMITANEEEER
BE - JRBRERNREH RO
B BREER MR RN L
MR 5% KR E) I ERR - 5
ARARKRFAEEEREHSIEA
BEEAEDRORT(A -

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Note ii: (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to the volatility of the share price of the investee, stock
price and discount rate for the convertible note issued by the
Group. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the respective reporting date was outstanding
for the whole year. A 5% increase or decrease in the volatility of
the share price of the investee, stock price and discount rate for
the convertible note is used which represent the management
of the Group’s assessment of the reasonably possible changes
respectively.

REHRH
R AB #0 R B 1t IR Z B BAER &
ARBTT ARBETT ARBFT

The volatility of

the share price of
the investee Stock price Discount rate

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
20234 2023
5% Higher by 5% TEA FEA TiE A
n/a n/a n/a
WA 5% Lower by 5% TiEA TEA TEA
n/a n/a n/a
20224 2022
5% Higher by 5% 742 582 (79)
WA 5% Lower by 5% (713) (439) 177
M s Note iii:

R2022F K%2023F12 A31HHA
AEBEBREWBRBESREAETE
ZHEARBRGEKFBEENR
PRERE  FARMEETER
AHREEERBRAEIEE - BiIRE X
W BREENAREELE -

314 SE(FE)LEZRERAT —T-=FEHS

The fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 was determined
by discounted cash flow method which was used to capture the
present value of the cash flows to be derived from the receivables
using the discount rate that reflected the credit risk of the
corresponding customers which are unobservable. The higher the
discount rate, the lower the fair value of the receivables.



34. 2R T A (&)

THMITANAAEENE

(&)
F-ZERAAEBEFEHK

TR2FE=EREBAER
£ EHED -

A2023F12H31H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table represents the changes in Level 3
financial assets and liability.

As at 31 December 2023

financial asset

measured at

Receivables at

BE 2

Assets Liability
PERRANEE

FTERAFABEH BARBENE

SHEEN Wit ARt 2 H TRRE

BEREBRE 55 Y PE W 0B BITETESS

ARETR ARETR AR®TR
Investment in
limited
partnership
classified as

Derivative
component of

FVTPL FVTOCI Convertible Note

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

20231 A18 At 1 January 2023 60,397 696,368 (1,551)

HE/#E Disposal/Settlement (16,330) (365,497) -

A% Exchange adjustment - - (12)
RN ERRME / Total gain/(loss) recognised in

(BiE)@m -85 - profit or loss (3,086) (41,289) 1,563

R2023%12H31H At 31 December 2023 40,981 289,582 -
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. £RI T H (&) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

¢ STWMIENAAREESE c¢. Fair value measurements of financial
(#&) instruments (Continued)
EZBRAABEETEYHR Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
(&) (Continued)

7202212 H831H As at 31 December 2022

BE =V
Assets Liability
NERR
ANEETHE BRRANEE
Wt ABzH) FFEWEA
SREER Hi2EK=m AREE
BREBEE FEM IR TETESS
ARETT AREFT ARETT
Investment in
limited
partnership
classified as
financial asset Derivative

measured at

Receivables at

component of

FVTPL FVTOCI  Convertible Note

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

M2022%1 818 At 1 January 2022 74,090 2,251,496 (13,773)

RNE Addition - = =

HE/#8 Disposal/Settlement (8,113) (919,547) =

ERHE Exchange adjustment = = (693)
R THERRIE /(F18)  Total gain/(loss) recognised in

@ - B - profit or loss (5,580) (635,581) 12,915

®2022%12 8318 At 31 December 2022 60,397 696,368 (1,551)

HZE2023F12A31BILFE
R S B IR R RS FEARE
BARBESETTAEBRN
SHMEEEBENAREREBEA
R#3,086,0007T (20224 :
FEREEARE7,335,000
JT) °

Of the total gain for the year ended 31 December 2023
included an unrealised loss of RMB3,086,000 (2022:
unrealised loss of RMB7,335,000) relating to financial
assets at FVTPL at the end of the reporting year.
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35.

METHELENEBHR

TRAMELASEREZDES
MBENES  BRASMIERSD
2y mEIBELNAGSE
ERNEIRKBECRESEARAKE
MERRERERTHIERBER

BELNREREMNEE -

R

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

HApfEft
B - &
B
MERE
FEVEA
ERERS EpEE  EEAT
FR B bestalie FER
A HEBE  EEME  BHNE) AHRIE  TENEE  Em0RS @t
ARETL  ARETn  ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Amounts Other
due to payable-  Dividends
related loss on payables
Bank parties derecognition to non-
and other Lease Interest ~ (non-trade  Convertible ~of receivables  controlling
borrowings Liabilities payable nature) Note  atFvTOCI interest Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R02E1A1R At 1 January 2022 6,105,332 293,411 46,522 143,833 756,912 - - 7,346,010
HARERE Financing cash flow (1462,949)  (105,103) (64,441) (96,499) = (38) (20,634)  (1,749,664)
EERRE Dividend declared - - - - - - 20,634 20,634
EXAZ Exchange adjustment 284,851 = = - 71,975 = - 356,826
BERNBERE Finance costs recognised 87,947 1703 317,41 - 54,861 = - AR
HIEA New leases entered = 102,965 = = = = = 102,965
HEBIRAL Lease modifications and
termination - (48,803) - - - - - (48,803)
EARBEHEY Fair value gain on financial
SABENEBAR  liabilties at FVTPRL
HAARENS - - - - (12,915) - - (12,915)
PIFERRAAEE  Loss on derecognition of
HETHALL receivables at FVTOCI
Elenlid
FENER - - - - - 38 - 38
R202%12A318 At 31 December 2022 5,015,181 254173 299,322 47,334 870,833 - - 6,486,843
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

35. MEEEELNEEYE 35.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

(%) ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Continued)
AforEfy
HE -
Bkl
NhEE
HETHA
EREES Afh2E  EEHT
HITR B Wl El)
Aty HEBE  EMAS BAME)  TARRE GENEE  EaOkS @t
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Amounts Other
due to payable-  Dividends
related loss on payables
Bank parties derecognition to non-
and other Lease Interest  (non-trade ~ Convertible ~ of receivables  controlling
borrowings Liabilities payable nature) Note  at FvTOCI interest Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HERERE Financing cash flows (78,705) (40,997) (69,366) 2,349 = = 22,273 (208,992)
EERRE Dividend declared S - S = = = 22713 2273
EXAZ Exchange adjustment 13,89 = = = 12,948 = = 26,344
ERRBERAL Finance costs recognised 65,246 7,673 317,241 = 52,804 5 . 443,054
AuMARE New leases entered = 36,678 = = = = = 36,678
BAAEBEEWEIA  Fair value gain on financial
BRNERARED liabiites at FVTPL
MEEYE - - - - (1,563) - = (1,563)
REBTRAL Lease modifications and
termination - (117.256) - - - - - (117,256)
R2023E12A31H At 31 December 2023 5,015,618 140,271 547,197 49,683 935,112 - - 6,687,881
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36.

37.

BAREE

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023F 20224
AR¥T T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ERTAVB AR - Contracted but not provided for:
L& Property and equipment - 1,534
B B 2 F 37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

BI£2023F12A31BLFE

ANEEP2023F4A24HEREE
FEBARBELEEEER AL
R2023F 12 A29H =L ETES
SNERAR  BREREAARE
10,0007T °

For the year ended 31 December 2023

The Group completed the disposal of Shanghai Taimi Business
Management Co., Ltd. on 24 April 2023 and Status Overseas
Limited on 29 December 2023, at a total cash consideration of

RMB10,000.

REERARFEEMT ¢ Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:
Het
ARET T
Total
RMB’000
RERIBEEED Cash and cash equivalents 251
E = EWGIR Receivables from third parties 3,355
E=FENRIR Payables to third parties (36)
IEVE R RE Non-controlling interests (1,210)
2,360
HEMBARMERE : Loss on disposal of subsidiaries:
BURE Consideration received 10
HEFEE Net assets disposed of (2,360)
(2,350)
HEEARRSREFE : Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
IR & ZRARE Consideration satisfied by cash 10
HERE MRS EED Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (251)
(241)
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

37. HEME AR ()

B£2022F12A31BLFE

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

AREEMNR2022F3 298 R EE
FERREHMEZBNERARF KR
20228 A1MBEREELESE
REABETFEBERADR

The Group completed the disposal of Shanghai Weijia Real
Estate Consulting Co., Ltd. on 29 March 2022 and Shanghai
Yifang Youshang E-Commerce Co., Ltd. on 11 August 2022.

REEBHFEERAT : Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:
#Et
AREFTT
Total
RMB'000
RERBLEFED Cash and cash equivalents 104,845
W - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 970
EmIZEE Intangible assets 7,083
E= EWIR Receivables from third parties 98,252
BEEFTE IR EE Deferred tax assets 33,234
FE=FHEMNFIE Payables to third parties (191,103)
eI R Non-controlling interests (37,221)
16,060
HEHB AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
R E Consideration received 30,620
HEFEE Net assets disposed of (16,060)
14,560
HEEANRS ML FE - Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
NBREZNRE Consideration satisfied by cash 30,620
HEREMIREEED Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (104,845)
(74,225)
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38. M {EE 8
SRR

MEREETHRENATME @ M T
16 ~ 17 RIIFTEM W REE - &
AEEENETNEECYREEZLE
MRSELET - DRELENY
(¥RkEE - FRAREEREFREE
(0 2FHRERE) MEREmEDT -

38.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS
Impairment of Leju

For the purposes of impairment testing on Leju, property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets set out in
notes 16, 17 and 19 have been allocated to the CGU of Leju.
The carrying amounts of property and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (net of accumulated impairment
losses) allocated to Leju are as follows:

2023 20224

ARBT AREFTT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

EmI.EE Intangible assets 191,835 273,686
LE IS BT Property and equipment 41,034 64,360
EREEE Right-of-use assets 32,479 86,754
265,348 424,800

ZETHAIKEDSECDREFERE
B2t EERE c Lt EERNUR
SEEEEMAENYBKEE (AH
54  FATELIRE 520.28% (2022
F:2437%)) BERNRESRETE
BIFT#HET - MBS FHIR M EEEIR
ERETNIEIBTEMN2.2% (2022 4F -
2.0%) ERRETHE - ZERE
TIRBAEBITERNIERIBAETE -
I B HBAERTERNREFITE
X -HEFABENEMBARR
BMEBSREA AL (BEEEH
ENAZ) MEETER - ZEMET
NETHBARREAEEEEE
HMBHREZEPAERE - ERNA
FEGBFEEBHETERDALS
BmEBEMFERS T (2
REFREKNEERERRE) - A2
RIE %2022 % 2023412 A31H
MRS RERD - BWRERARE
EITEIS ©

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering a 5-year period, and pre-
tax discount rate of 20.28% (2022: 24.37%). Leju’s cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.2%
(2022: 2.0%) growth rate. This growth rate is based on the
relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and expenses, such estimation is based on the unit’s past
performance and the management of the Group’s expectations
for the market development. The cash flow projections, growth
rates and discount rate have been reassessed as at 31 December
2022 and 2023 taking into consideration higher degree of
estimation uncertainties in the current year due to fluctuations
in the real estate industry and volatility in financial markets,
including potential disruptions of the Leju business.
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HE2023F 128310 ILEE

38.

39.

S (PE)EEERERDA

HEER (&)
SERE ()

REZ2022%F %20234F12 A31
HIEFE  ZEMNATKESFEIR
BERRSELETINFTHAEEE
T EReREBASFH EFER
EEEEEERAETHHEMEE
BRENAEES - BFAWENIE
mERELEEEARE -

TM HomelR &

FLTM Home 2022 F# 1T HYRIE

s RETAR2021F9 41 BAg%E
BEIEWD  BEAERERTT

WEERIL ARAREEETETM
HomeEH#Z HBMEFR &L EREEIE
BARM1,034,791,0007T ° BIEE
BEFABEFRNIERBEEEH
WRAREETE - HTM Home B
MRS E AR 1,034,791,0007T
BAREURE -

RIKBRIFE

AEENTEESHEMASEK
FEENBERERRKENE -
ARABWPEMBAR AR TERK
AR TE B 9 H AR R AR B ET 814
R AREHENES - NEELZ
ZRABAFENME BB RIEL

FEEHK

REZE2023F128318IEFE - K
SERFEIEENEFEATEREIE
BRI A & A S BIZ 3158 8
B RSB EIAHR -
HE2023F12A831BILFE » K&
EEHMERAREFNGFEERABAR
#5210,734,0007C (20224 : AR
287,867,0007T) °

e T

38.

39.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

IMPAIRMENT LOSS (Continued)

Impairment of Leju (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the
recoverable amount of Leju has been determined based on a
value in use of the CGU of Leju subject to cash flows beyond the
5-year period, The Directors and management have considered
and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key
assumptions and no impairment related to Leju was recognised
in profit or loss during the year.

Impairment of TM Home

For the purposes of impairment testing on TM Home in
2022, the original business cooperation agreement, strategic
cooperation agreement and licensing agreement dated
1 September 2021 had been terminated, the directors
of the Company have determined impairment loss of
RMB1,034,791,000 on intangible assets, directly related to
TM Home. The impairment loss has been included in profit or
loss in the impairment losses recognised on non-current assets
line item. Intangible assets related to TM Home amounting to
RMB1,034,791,000 has been fully impaired.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The Company’s subsidiaries situated in the PRC are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to these retirement
benefits schemes is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the schemes and costs charged
to the profit or loss represents contributions paid or payable
to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the schemes. The retirement benefits scheme contributions
made by the Group amounted to RMB210,734,000 (2022:
RMB287,867,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.



40. B LI E

(a)

(b)

AR T &5 B

EEL R 77 B0 iR R B R A RRAE 1B
FREA MR RG22
RBL RS

RER - BB BHREREM
MWHRBEEN  AREGEE

RABE RIS T B 5 ©

(i) EHER%E REBRAR

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Related party balance
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
set out in the consolidated statement of financial position
and in note 22.

(b) Related party transactions
During the year, saved as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into

the following transactions with its related parties.

(i) Advertising service, agency revenue,

BHARBRE consulting service earned
BEER% Advertising service
20235 20224
AREET T ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ati Note i 31,225 11,445
CEIPA Agency revenue
20234 20224
ARBET T ARETIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Btati Note i 733,806 356,871
RS Consulting service
20234 20224
ARET T AR¥ET T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Btati Note i 10,290 12,098
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40. BAEE iR T (4R) 40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)
(b) EAHLRE (E) (b) Related party transactions (Continued)
(i) EERBERE (= (ii) Service cost incurred (including mainly staff
BREEIZIRBEREK training and development cost)
)
20234 20224
ARBT ARBT T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Kt Note i 12,807 332,578
(iii) FTEEHESHEX (iii) Rental expenses incurred
2023F 2022
ARBT T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
Ktazi Note i 30,456 45,421
(iv) EEHEERA (iv) Operating rental lease income
20234 2022
ARBT T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
et Note i 8,660 1,376
Mt Note:
RARBRRZEFNER - H Entities controlled by shareholders of the Company which
HARRBEHERNZEN - exercises significant influence over the Company.
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40. BEEE S I R (1)

(b) BEHARZ (&)

(v) ZEREERILEZHE
B E R B

REBERTRE - HE

BE MRS EEIART

B —FEREAORE

AEBETERREA -
() FEEEANEHE

RERTEEBAS (BEAR

40.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(b) Related party transactions (Continued)

(v) Collection agency arrangement with E-House
Management and Beijing EJU

Subsequent to the completion of the Business
Transfer, E-House Management and Beijing EJU, had
acted as a collection agent on behalf of the Group
in respect of those incomplete primary real estate
agency contracts.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel which

RIBEERASEEZHTA represents the directors of the Company and key executives
8)WMEFMAT of the Group during the year was as follows:
20235 20224
ARBT AREFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
e - TEAL R EfbiEEL Salaries, bonus and other allowances 3,083 6,352
RIRBAIGHEI R Retirement benefit scheme contributions 444 592
ARR A B B IR D TR X Equity-settled share-based
payment expenses 2,915 1,242
6,442 8,186

EEREZATABNFHFHIR
BEARBNTS BT

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.
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41. KR TN BRI R EFE  41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

& AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
20234 20224
AR®T T ARET T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEE Non-current assets
NN Lo Interests in subsidiaries 49,770 49,770
HiIEREEE Other non-current assets 34,000 34,000
R —EE S A RIS Interest in an associate 18,079 19,031
JiE Ui BE B 75 SRR Amounts due from related parties 500,591 1,367,610
602,440 1,470,411
REBEE Current assets
H fth fE Y FRIE Other receivables 29,848 22,720
ARARBEFETABIREN Financial assets at FVTPL
TRIEE 30,004 59,852
RITEHR MRS Bank balances and cash 2,338 34,471
62,190 117,043
REBEE Current liabilities
HAtb fET 5B Other payables 753,591 374,349
FEA BA S 5 ROR Amounts due to related parties 111,048 109,501
BIE &S Convertible note 935,112 870,833
HAvfE R Other borrowings 4,235,807 4,156,665
6,035,558 5,511,348
REEEFE Net current liabilities (5,973,368) (5,394,305)
EEHABERARBERS Total assets less current liabilities (5,370,928) (3,923,894)
EEFH Net liabilities (5,370,928) (3,923,894)
EAR#E Capital and reserves
(N Share capital 116 116
B 1D B Share premium 6,148,273 6,148,273
1 Reserves (11,519,317)  (10,072,283)
mrEs Total equity (5,370,928) (3,923,894)
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

& (4&) AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
ERRRENEE Movements of the Company’s reserves
R RE Hittf# e ZitEE it
ARETT ARETR AR®TT AR¥Tn
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserves losses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W2022%F1 /18 At 1 January 2022 6,148,273 8,710,846 (13,555,834) 1,303,285
FRZERYRE Total comprehensive expense for the year - = (5,227,295)  (5,227,295)
M2022F12A318 At 31 December 2022 6,148,273 8,710,846 (18,783,129)  (3,924,010)
FREARSEHE Total comprehensive expense for the year = = (1,447,034)  (1,447,034)
M2023F12A8318 At 31 December 2023 6,148,273 8,710,846 (20,230,163) (5,371,044)
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

42. T EME QTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES
RAREER  ARAAIEEKHEE Details of the principal subsidiaries directly and indirectly held
BENEZMBRRFBEHINAT - by the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out
below.
e/ A/ BEIRERRE/ W2A318
HEARZR SERMRE BE% AR REERRE I2EY
Date and place of Issued and fully Equity interest
incorporation/establishment/  Place of paid share capital/  attributable to the Group
Name of subsidiaries operation business registered capital s at 31 December  Principal activity
WBE 00F
2023 2022
ERHE
Directly held
T™ Home (F7z2b) FEHE 0NF1A0E  fE 11,682,019%L  89.21%  70.23% MEM =HRRS
?L\
™ Home (note b) Cayman Islands, the PRC HKD11,682,019 Online real estate marketing
29 January 2021 and transaction platform
operation
BEEE
Indirectly held

HESERGBHERERRAA (BERH) (Fib)

Shanghai E-House Xiangyue Real Marketing Estate
Sales Co., Lid* (LR EHNRHEHERRAR)
(Yijuxiangyue) (note b)

FELE (PE) KB (HiHa)
PRC Holdco (note a)

LERREHEGIEERAA (With)
Shanghai Dacheng Real Estate Marketing Brokerage Co.,
PERREHELLERAA) (note b)

Ltd* (

HESERBERSRERRAA (Hitb)
Shanghai E-House Real Estate Trading Service Co., Ltd*
(HESEEHERSRBARLT) (note b)

hEHE 201061 518R hE ARH50,000,000  100.00%  100.00% EHERE
Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC RMB50,000,000 Real estate agents
18 January 2010

hE HE 200657 A38 ME  AE660,000,000  100.00% 100.00% iR
Shanghai, the PRC, 3 July 2006 the PRC RMB660,000,000 Technology development

BEE§ 20158115168 +F ARES0,000,000C  100.00%  100.00%  EHERE
Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC RMB50,000,000 Real estate agents
16 November 2015

B LG 20158108308 mE  ARE900,000,0007  100.00%  100.00% EHESLHERE
Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC RIMB900,000,000 Real estate brokerage
30 October 2015 network services

LSt ERRAARAR (Hib) RELE 201959A258 B AR1,000000007 100.00%  100.00%  HfEFEE
Shanghai Ziyong Information Technology Co., Ltd.*  Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC RMB1,200,000,000 Technology development
(LBIGKE ERIARAR) (note b) 25 September 2019
LEnmhE e RmERAR (Hitb) RELE 2016511A98 A ARE10000,000  100.00%  100.00%  HEFEE
Shanghai CRIC Information Technology Co., Ltd.* Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC RMB10,000,000 Technology development
(LBRMHESRABRAT) (note b 9 November 2016
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42. TEME QA EFE (&

42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

e/ A/ BETRARRE/ M2A318
HEARER SEAD IS BN AMER AERGRE EEYE)
Date and place of Issued and fully Equity interest
incorporation/establishment/  Place of paid share capital/  attributable to the Group
Name of subsidiaries operation business registered capital s at 31 December  Principal activity
WBE 00EF
2023 2022
£ (Witc) HEEES 013F11ANR  HE 10000005  5570%  5570% RARRK
Leju (note ¢) Cayman Islands, the PRC UsD1,000,000 Investment holding
20 November 2013
HEREHEERREARLA (Hib) RELE-201ENRASE B AREI5000000m  55.70%  55.70%  EERE
Shanghai Leju Haofang Information Service Co., Ltd*  Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC RMB15,000,000 Commercial Services
(LB2EHRESRBEERAT) (note b) 5 December 2011
ENFRERESLERAA (Hib) REEM 201353R168  HE ARES00000m  55.70%  55.70% EHELR
Guangzhou Xinchen Real Estate Agency Co., Ltd* Guangzhou, the PRC, the PRC RMB500,000 Real estate brokerage
(BMHERHELLERAR) (note b) 16 March 2013
HERBHEETERARLA (Hib) TELE 001538188 HE 150000057  89.21%  7023% MIEMEERRZATA

Shanghai Tmall Haofang E-Commerce Co., Ltd.*
(LERERREEFBBARAR) (hote b)

o

Online real estate marketing
and transaction platform
operation

Shanghai, the PRC, the PRC

18 March 2021

UsD1,500,000

a) BARRIEBEDRZE-
b) “EABR/BRAA -
0 AR ARAHES

P ET

Notes:
a) The company is a wholly owned foreign enterprise.
b) The companies are limited liability companies.

9] The company is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

ERIHTEERREAEEXE
HEEEETBYENTARMNE
NE - BERR - REEMHEL
AMFBRHEBREEN TR

BEMNE QRN FRETEMER

Ag °

d) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the

year.

* English name is for identification purpose only.
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HZE2023F12A318IEEFE

43. ERERFERESHIE
2EMBLAFE

TRERASERBERNIFFEBE
SHIFFREMBRRMFE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

AR ER FREERERRRY AREHFRRERN
TREEY AR RRREL fR/(B8) ZiFaRER
Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting Profit/(loss) Accumulated
and principal rights held by allocated to non-controlling
HBLARAR Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests interests
2023% WNE 2023% WNE 2023% ANE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
hERBRANELA Thongfangyanie and its subsidiary Sl
the PRC 49.00%  49.00% (24,084) 5,158 33,996 68,257
M Home ~ ZHBATE M Home, its subsidiaries and VIEs ~ HEES « =&
RERER Cayman Islands
the PRC 1079%  29.77% (98,798) (800,005  (26,993)  (24.233)
2% AHBAFR Leju, its subsidiaries and VIEs B
RERER the PRC 4430%  4430%  (134,561)  (258,698) 56,277 197333
£t Others (78,745)  (50,049)
(15,465) 191,308

hEHREME AR (RARARIE
2EMBARNEZMAKE D) KR
BERBRMT o TREPE O
W ERIE U AN Pk R 0E A

I8 o

330 BE(FE)CEZRRERAF

e —fEas

Summarised financial information of Zhongfangyanxie and
its subsidiary, being a significant component of a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. The summarised financial
information below presented amounts before intra-group
eliminations.



43. ERERFERESHIE

2EMBLAFE (&)

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)
w5 Tt I EL B T 2 ) 2023 20224
Zhongfangyanxie and its subsidiary AR¥ETF T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
mBEE Current assets 75,719 149,171
ERBEE Non-current assets 5,459 4,365
Uik JN=NE Current liabilities (11,471) (12,837)
RRRHEB ANEEEZ Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 35,711 72,442
o 55 it 197 B SR AR A 2 Non-controlling interests of
Zhongfangyanxie 33,996 68,257
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. MEEKRFIEREZMNIE 43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

2EMB L EFE (8) SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

FERBREKRE AT 20235 20224

Zhongfangyanxie and its subsidiary AR®T ARBTT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

WA Revenue 25,415 57,913
Fx Expenses (74,566) (47,331)

AEERHE(ER) WSEE Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (49,151) 10,582

KABEEAELETE (BE),  Total comprehensive (loss)/income

Iz 18R attributable to owners of the Company (25,067) 5,424
o T 178 FE A R b 25 PR A Total comprehensive (loss)/income
2| (B18),/ WaesE attributable to the non-controlling
interests of Zhongfangyanxie (24,084) 5,158
(49,151) 10,582

AT HR B B 17 FE AR A 2 Dividends paid to non-controlling

Az & interests of Zhongfangyanxie (12,156) (20,645)
LETEBEEMNRSREFEE Net cash outflow from operating activities (70,276) (269,257)
REESHEENIRE R FEE Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,787) (4,001)
MEEBELEMNIRERAFE Net cash inflow from financing activities 19,858 238,758
BE M FR Net cash outflow (53,205) (34,500)
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43. MEEKRFIEREZEMNIE 43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

2EMBAAFE (E) SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)
2R HNBRAR R SES TR Summarised financial information of Leju, its subsidiaries
(BARFIEEZENBEARINERZA and VIEs, being a significant component of a non-wholly
EE ) MBS E R T » TR owned subsidiary of the Company. The summarised financial
BB EER 25 S B AR AME information below presented amounts before intra-group
R EHAT Y FRIE o eliminations.
SE HWEARRUSEZER 2023%F 20224
Leju, its subsidiaries and VIEs AR®T T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
mEBEE Current assets 620,367 973,838
IETBNEE Non-current assets 673,384 831,107
mENRE Current liabilities (1,034,171) (1,160,741)
EREBEE Non-current liabilities (131,723) (213,848)
RRABIHEB AELER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 71,580 233,023
LI IR A Non-controlling interests of Leju 56,277 197,333
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. ERERFERESHIIE
2EMBLEFE (&)

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)
“E HBARARUEEZER 20234 20224
Leju, its subsidiaries and VIEs AR®T T ARBTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
WA Revenue 2,190,028 2,286,190
Fx Expenses (2,493,778) (2,869,970)
REEEIE Loss for the year (303,750) (583,780)
KAREE AEILHERER Loss attributable to owners of
the Company (169,189) (325,082)
YRR R (L E R Loss attributable to the
non-controlling interests of Leju (134,561) (258,698)
FREMEEKRE (HER) Other comprehensive income/(loss) for
the year 1,251 (6,124)
RABIHBARLMEZERAX Total comprehensive expense
1E%E attributable to owners of the Company (167,938) (328,493)
HEIFERESEEEEMAS Total comprehensive expense attributable
1A to the non-controlling interests of Leju (134,561) (261,411)
FRNEHEMAZEBRE Total comprehensive expense for the year (302,499) (589,904)
KETEBEEMNRSRLFEE Net cash outflow from operating activities (510,081) (645,745)
REETHEENRESRA Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
(fti) F 58 investing activities 23,841 (52,294)
MEEEBELEMIRE /LT Net cash outflow from financing activities (31,625) (38,492)
W& m L Net cash outflow (517,865) (736,531)
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43. ERERFERESHIE
2EMBLAFE (&)

T™M Home (BARRIFFEEH B A A
MEBEZARI D) WIS ER BN
T e TRBAMMBERZYEE
WA AR SE ATAY R ©

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

Summarised financial information of TM Home, being a
significant component of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. The summarised financial information below
presented amounts before intra-group eliminations.

TM Home - HffB AR R TE#EREHE 20234 20224

TM Home, its subsidiaries and VIEs AREF T ARET T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

MENEE Current assets 618,915 1,908,966

ERBEE Non-current assets 1,105,662 1,265,610

MENAE Current liabilities (1,499,059) (3,498,003)

EREBEE Non-current liabilities (165,701) (270,366)
RRABIHEE AELER Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 86,810 (569,560)

TM Home3E#E R i 2= Non-controlling interests of TM Home (26,993) (24,233)
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. ERERFERESHIIE
2EMBLEFE (&)

43. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)
TM Home - Eff B AR R T # R EH 20235 20224
TM Home, its subsidiaries and VIEs AR T ARETIT
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
A Revenue 3,318,913 3,892,968
X Expenses (3,649,995) (6,841,248)
FRAEEAY BT Total comprehensive expense for the year (331,082) (2,948,280)
RAEIHE AEN Total comprehensive expense
el attributable to owners of the Company (232,284) (2,148,275)
TM Home3F{E Rz 1Y Total comprehensive expense attributable
FEVEAR AR R FE 4G to the non-controlling attributable to
el the non-controlling interests of
TM Home (98,798) (800,005)
FRNEEMASZ L Total comprehensive expense for the year (331,082) (2,948,280)
LEEEEEMIRE RLFR Net cash outflow from operating activities (369,251) (1,257,774)
WEEHEENE S Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
(i), mA 5 investing activities (111,262) 9,714
BEEBELENRSRLFE Net cash outflow from financing activities (29,616) (127,822)
Rent 8 Net cash outflow (510,129) (1,375,882)
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44 T EFBHERF
MZEsAaMEmREtt T HE

MIFRERHIHI  NEEHREEM
TEHRERSH -

45. EEEH

AEBNEBERUARNEENEEL M
TEEA - MEEEMNREELDT

44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Other than those non-cash transactions disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group does not
have other major non-cash transactions.

45. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the
Group's assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets
are as follows:

2023F 20224

AR¥T R ARETT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

LEYSE Y] Property and equipment 294,759 391,464
REYHE Investment properties 504,000 578,860
798,759 970,324

46. {REHEREE

BR2023F6 19 » AEBEREZEE
MR - A ABEANEBRER (B
2022F M2023F R HELEEZEER
2023F 11 AREIAT R R ) /IR
SREREES - #RARF (HPe
BT ABELELRRE - ITTA
ERNHBIRINEEEREL
RERBRESFRAE L ER - 5
AIEE o

MN2023F128118 " A&EES
o EEREREARBERESER
TM HomeH) & 5H65%x AMELE S
(THEEHE]) - HEFHETHE -
BEEABERESRME  £LER
EZANMB ARG -

MR2024%3A18  "EBEH - &F
RAEBREEE —KPBIRITEN
WEER LR minE BRI ER
RAMETHEREMT  BHEHETE
E R AR I E AR -

46. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 19 June 2023, the Group proposed to implement Rights
Issue to fund the cash consideration for restructuring the
Group’s debt obligations, including senior notes due 2022 and
2023 and convertible notes due November 2023. The Rights
Issue is conditional on, among other things, the granting of
the Whitewash Waiver by the Executive, the granting of the
Executive’s consent to the Special Deal and the approval by the
Independent Shareholders at the EGM.

On 11 December 2023, the Group announced that it intends to
give the creditors a combination of cash and an aggregate 65%
equity interest in the share capital of TM Home (the “Disposal”).
Upon completion of the Disposal, the creditors will be entitled
to the shares of CRIC, Leju and their respective subsidiaries.

On 1 March 2024, the Group announced that the underwriter
exercised his right to terminate the Rights Issue due to the
Group has failed to reach an agreement with a PRC bank to
release Shanghai CRIC Information Technology Co. Ltd. from
certain guarantee obligations.
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T FEHBEME

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AEERBEREVRFEZESE  BER

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the

BEBENT last five financial years is as follows:
HZANBIEE
For the year ended 31 December
2019% 20204 20214 20224 20236
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARBTT ARSI ARBTn ARBTnT AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
E RESULTS
WA Revenue 9,094,682 8,051,509 8865987 5033279 4,446,439
BREATFE (B18) Profit (loss) before tax 1,309,317 691,593  (11,903,757)  (5,007,513)  (1,542,915)
ER (R #% Income tax (expense) credit (338,604) (252,371) (360,902) 38,989 18,118
ENFE(BE) Profit (loss) for the year 970,713 439222 (12,264,659)  (4,968,524)  (1,524,797)
FRAMZAKZEE Total other comprehensive income
for the year - 19,465 3,780 (6,109) 1,251
FRZEWE (AR 88 Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year 970,713 458,687  (12,260,879)  (4,974,633)  (1,523,546)
THALEEFRFIE(EE) ©  Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to:
AUNCIE 7PN Owners of the Company 860,872 304,413 (11,642,687)  (3,896,299)  (1,239,749)
FERER Non-controlling interests 109,841 134,809 (621,972)  (1,072,225) (285,048)
970,713 439,222 (12,264,659)  (4,968,524)  (1,524,797)
MUTATEEERFE(FE)  Profit (loss) and total comprehensive
kEENE (R 88 income (expense) for the year
attributable to:
KAREBA Owners of the Company 860,872 315,255 (11,640,065  (3,900,590)  (1,238,633)
FiERER Non-controlling interests 109,841 143,432 (620,814)  (1,074,043) (284,913)
970,713 458,687  (12,260,879)  (4,974,633)  (1,523,546)
338 BE(TE)CERRERAT —ToSEEHE



BZ12R3181L5E

For the year ended 31 December

2019% 2020% 20214 20224 203%
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARBTR  ARETR ARETT AREBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

BERAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BERTE Total assets 17,165,516 25,772,942 12,129,316 5,850,953 4,082,464
BEEE Total liabilities (9,101,268)  (14,279,291)  (12,139,311)  (10,878,825)  (10,645,408)
Bn Total equity 8,064,248 11,493,651 (9,995)  (5,027,872)  (6,562,944)
THIALREL - Attributable to:
ADAIERA Owners of the Company 7875398 10,264,175  (1,164,529)  (5,219,180)  (6,547,479)
JEIER S Non-controlling interests 188,850 1,229,476 1,154,534 191,308 (15,465)
8,064,248 11,493,651 (9,995)  (5,027,872)  (6,562,944)
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[XEFERS ]
“ADS"

[FEEEERR ]

“Alibaba Holding”

(MEEEEE]
“Alibaba Group”

[BEA

“Associate(s)”

[EHEEE]

“Audit Committee”

[ERR%EH
"Beijing Jiajujiu”

[dbREE |

“Beijing Leju”

[db B |

"Beijing Maiteng”

[Exg]
“Board”
[EEEREES
IIBVIII

340 ZBE(FE)LEZRERAT

SR

&
s

e

XEFFERD (BRARIBRERE T B

American Depositary Shares (each representing 1 ordinary share of Leju)

MEEREEEZERABRAR  —KRASHESTEMKIHAR - AEHFE
Bfn (BRRERN\REBR) RENOZBSFR S L (EHHRE : BABA) - &
TR B AT P AR T (AR SR - 9988)

Alibaba Group Holding Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands, with its American Depositary shares, each representing eight
ordinary shares, listed on the New York Stock Exchange (Stock symbol:
BABA) and its ordinary shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock code: 9988)

HiEEEERREMBAREKZ R EIER
the group of companies comprising Alibaba Holding and its subsidiaries

BAECEMARUDE T ZARNEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ARRENERES

the audit committee of the Company

ERRBAEFEHARLIA
nERMIREEER

Beijing Jiajujiu E-Commerce Co., Ltd., a variable interest entity established
in China in 22 March 2012 and a Consolidated Affiliated Entity

—ZKN2012F3 A22 BESR BB 7 H) A &

B ELEERREERAR
EREBLHRMEER

Beijing Yisheng Leju Information Services Co., Ltd., a variable interest entity
established in China in 13 February 2008 and a Consolidated Affiliated
Entity

—ZRH2008F2 A 13 B EH B A A] &

IR EERIERRER AR
NCIESERI =N

Beijing Maiteng Fengshun Science and Technology Co., Ltd., a company
established in China on 4 January 2012 and a subsidiary of our Company

—RR2012F 1 4B EFRBEKI AT - AR

RABEEE

the board of directors of our Company

REEBRES
the British Virgin Islands



[{EEER<TAD]
“CG Code”

TR PRCY

“China”, "Mainland China” or “PRC”

(A2 ]

w u

"Company”, “our Company” or
“the Company”

[ 2R EH

"Companies Ordinance”

[tREEER ]
"Consolidated Affiliated Entity(ies)”

[ZRRAR R

"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

FRC(EMARRDMIERCT (IR ER+ ) 2 (ERERTRD
the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix
14) of the Listing Rules

REARKMNE  BRXEZEMREN  ERAREME - TRETEELSS
TR - RFIEFRITTERER R & &

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

ZE (PE) CEZERBRAR (AIBERELKMARAR) » —xK12010
F2A22ARBEHRERS EZETMR I ER2ER AR

E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited (5/&(FE)MEEBRBERE A
Al) (formerly known as Fangyou Information Technology Company Limited
(BEREEBREITERART])), an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 22 February 2010

CRAUEDI) (BABEDIFE622F) @ BARHER] ~ MR IAH M B
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

R - EEMF  ERRFEALKEZENBRARRBEER
Beijing Leju, Leju Hao Fang, Beijing Jiajujiu and their respective subsidiaries
and affiliate entities

BEREC(ETRADAETORE - RIENESAMIE - RRIEREL & REMRE
HIEEEE - BIOn Chance * Jun Heng * ZE1EME « S (R E) 5K - hEE
EEEHEEKRegal Ace " G RBZEERBIEBERARINELR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the
context otherwise requires, refers to Mr. Zhou and the entities controlled
by him through which he holds his interest in our Company, namely, On
Chance, Jun Heng, E-House Holdings, E-House (China) Holdings, CRE Corp
and Regal Ace
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DEFINITIONS

(FEFRERFESEH]

"CRE Corp”

[ CRICE# ]
"CRIC Systems”
[E%]
“Director(s)”

(% (FE)ZK]

"E-House (China) Holdings”

[5EER ]

"E-House Holdings”

[ZEEE ]

"E-House Management”

[ REER

"Equity Transfer Agreement I”

SE(PE)EEERERDA

SR

&
s

e

HEFEEESERE (AIMCRICIERERAGF) - —KMN2008F8H21 AERE
HEAMKIMNERAR  BARREERRE 2 —

China Real Estate Information Corporation (FFEIEEEEE£EE) (formerly
known as CRIC Holdings Limited (CRIC #ERRER A A])), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 21 August 2008
and one of our substantial shareholders

—RIBAERMEREERARBRMELEGNINELS
a series of proprietary real estate databases and analysis systems developed
and owned by our Company

ARREF

the director(s) of our Company

SE(RE)ERBRAT - —RKN2004F8 A27 HEMHEREFEME A
RAF  BARRIEERR 2 —

E-House (China) Holdings Limited (Z/E(FB)IZRABERAF]), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 27 August 2004
and one of our substantial shareholders

SEERBRART  —KMN2015F7A3MBEHSHEEMKINERA
Al RARAEBRRZ —

E-House Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 31 July 2015 and one of our substantial
shareholders

SE(FE)CXEREEBRAR (B LELEEEHESE (RE) BARAAF) » —
KM2000F8 RIS HEFRBK VKRR RAARFERRZ—FE (RE)
ERE 2 E B AR

E-House (China) Enterprise Management Group Limited (/& (FB)k2
EREBEABRAF]) (formerly known as Shanghai Real Estate Consultancy
and Sales (Group) Co., Ltd. (E/BEEHE(EE)BR2AE])), a company
established in the PRC on 15 August 2000, and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of E-House (China) Holdings, which is one of our substantial shareholders

RAFEFR T B LR TR EBRFERD RBETHERM MM 2020
F7A31 BRI EE E 5

the equity transfer agreement dated 31 July 2020 entered into between
the Company and the SINA Parties in respect of the acquisition of ordinary
shares and ADSs in Leju and the issuance of Consideration Shares



[ EHZN

"Equity Transfer Agreement II”

(RS

"Equity Transfer Agreements”

MEx]

"Evergrande”

[EX&]

"Fangyou”

ExLN

"Group”, “our Group”, or
“"the Group”

[RIRBE
"Global Offering”

[&#E]

"Hong Kong” or “HK"
M8l

IIHK$II or IIHKDII

[(EIRR A A5 3R 5 22 A1) |
"IFRS"

RARHEFER T RWBLE T RREERFRRD RBETHERM MM 2020
F7A31 BRI AR EEE 5

the equity transfer agreement dated 31 July 2020 entered into between
the Company and the Zhou Parties in respect of the acquisition of ordinary
shares and ADSs in Leju and the issuance of Consideration Shares

PR BE R h ke | I BB R SR 15 1|

Equity Transfer Agreement | and Equity Transfer Agreement I

FREXREEBRAR (AIBEAMESREBRAR)  —KRASHSEM
R AEEE R P E AR AR (RMMR5E23333) - RAREEE R E TR
China Evergrande Group (FBIEALEREBRAT]), (formerly known as
Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited (fE KibESEEAR R A])), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 3333, and our substantial shareholder
before completion of the Equity Transfer Agreements

BREBRMERER AT -
RARTNZENBRT]
Fangyou Information Technology Holdings Limited (B&1z B&iTiZlA
fR27]), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

—RXREBEBAREEEMAINBERAT

AR RETEE T E A A

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

ARBN2018F7 ANBERHABERBREE
the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering of the
Company in July 2018

hEBFBFRIITHR
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

BEREEERATT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
SRR EIREEG TR EMOCERT G REER)

International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued from time to time by
the International Accounting Standards Board
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(BYE=F

“Independent Third Party” or
“Independent Third Parties”

[Jun Heng

“Jun Heng”

[BEBBERATTAM]

“Latest Practicable Date

4% ]

"Leju"

[#EFE ]

“Leju Hao Fang”

(=
"Listing”

[(Em#RA]

“Listing Rules”

==
“Listing Date”

[ER]

“Main Board”

344 ZE(FE)LEZRERAT

"

SR

&
s

e

FARRAIEEATEMERIALT - EECETHRAD R THRE
any entity or person who is not a connected person of our Company within
the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

Jun Heng Investment Limited - —5 1 2002F6 A 13 B EBHM R ST
fBAXZEIAR] © FAON Chance2 & A

Jun Heng Investment Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 13 June 2002 and is wholly-owned by On Chance

20244230 EAFHRIBERATEE AFHRMEE TEHNNRRE
BRAI1T B &

23 April 2024, being the latest practicable date to ascertain certain
information set out in this annual report prior to its bulk printing

SEERERAE - —KR2013F11 A20BEREHSFMEINERA
CIRZ= % NG [ hy==FNC]

Leju Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 20 November 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company

EBEETEEERBBRAR (AIHE LELSREEFEBERAR) - —KR
20N F 12 ASHERBER NI SRR EBRHRBBER

Shanghai Leju Hao Fang Information Service Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Shanghai Yi Xin E-Commerce Co., Ltd.), a variable interest entity established
in China in 5 December 2011 and a Consolidated Affiliated Entity

PR A FERGE S P AR BT
the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

(BEMEXIMAERRABRES LR - BARER] - #RSIAEMTH
EB

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

201847 H20H - BN EEE AP L H) B A
20 July 2018, the date on which the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange

MR PTLENRE SRS (REMISHRIN) - BILREZANGEMZ I » I
ELH 5| &8

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the GEM
of the Stock Exchange



[ MemeStar]
“MemeStar”

[T5%6
“MIT"

[A%4%]
“Mr. Zhou”

[(EEE<FA]
“Model Code”
[#ETE R |
“NASDAQ"

[REZEEE

“Nomination Committee”

[ 432 P |
“NYSE”

[On Chance

“On Chance”

[BARERATIR
[RENEERER

“Onshore Holdco” or “consolidated
variable interest entities”

[BRLBABERBRESTS
"Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[ZRERE(FE) &5

“PRC Holdco”

MemeStar Limited - —HERBERMABHEST MK INAR] - RBEYE=H
MemeStar Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
an Independent Third Part

hEARKMBETEME LA (AEhEARKMBEEBERE)

Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (FRZE A R LF
Bl T %115 81EB) (formerly known as the Ministry of Information Industry
of the PRC (R ZE AR HAFEE B EZEE))

BTt - BEMNATESREIERR

Mr. Zhou Xin (JEI1T), our executive Director and a substantial shareholder

CEMARRDMERC3 (RIS ) FTEl 2 ( LT BEITTAE R HEITEF X IR
#sr R

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix C3 (formerly Appendix 10) of the Listing Rules

XBEEHEESRZABE BB RERS

National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations

ARRREERES®

the nomination committee of the Company

MOEHFZH P
the New York Stock Exchange

On Chance, Inc. » —FRKMK2002F 1 A2 AERBHBARFESTMR IO A
A HEARETERSR

On Chance, Inc., a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 21
January 2002 and is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou

b m e

CREEERIERR

Beijing Leju, Leju Hao Fang and Beijing Jiajujiu

RRARBFEIAERRANERAFEERBRETE
the post-IPO share option scheme conditionally approved and adopted by
our Company

SREGE (PR KSEERAR (FIESE (FE) REEBFRAGF) - —FKN
2006 F7 ABREFRBEKINARAR  AARFNEEEZEMNBERF
E-House Enterprise (China) Group Co., Ltd. (BERE(FTER)EEBRAFR)
(formerly known as Z/E(FE) % %EEBRAF]), a company established in
the PRC with limited liability on 3 July 2006, and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company
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DEFINITIONS

[BRNBEBRETS
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BRER]

“Prospectus”

[AR#¥]

“RMB" or “Renminbi”
[Regal Ace |
"Regal Ace”

[ZERE ]

"Registered Shareholders”

[FMESS

“Remuneration Committee”

[ ¥R EHME
"Reporting Period”

[ 32 R E R
“SFO"
[ Lig#R%E ]

“Shanghai SINA Leju”

[ L

“Shanghai Yi Yue”

346 BE(FE)CEZRERAR —T-=FF

&
s

e

AR BHLE R B R B R A B A BB RO A 2

the pre-IPO share option scheme approved and adopted by our Company

ARABHHR2018F7 A10BMBKRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 10 July 2018

REMNEZEEBARE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC

Regal Ace Holdings Limited * —R®2015F7 B 108 E R BHB RS
R RT] - AEAEEHEES51%

Regal Ace Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 10 July 2015 and is owned as to 51% by Mr. Zhou

KIBRESE BEFRERSFEHLLE
Mr. Xudong Zhu, Mr. Yinyu He and Mr. Weijie Ma

ARRFHMEES

the remuneration committee of the Company

BZE2023F12A31BIEFE
the year ended 31 December 2023

EBEDESTI EBHRPEEH (B IREET - Wz AT &)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EBFREEERREAERRAR » —FHKN200855 A8 HAERBMIZA A A KR
RRAREEHE AR

Shanghai SINA Leju Information Technology Co., Ltd., a company
established in China on 8 May 2008 and a wholly owned subsidiary of our
Company

EEMBEERRAERAR  —RKN2011F9IA 16 BEF B A R KA
NEINEEWE AR

Shanghai Yi Yue Information Technology Co., Ltd., a company established
in China on 16 September 2011 and a wholly owned subsidiary of our
Company



[B& ]
“Share(s)”

[BRER
“Shareholder(s)”
[$R ]

"SINA"

[FRA ]
“SINA Parties”

[ B3P |
"Stock Exchange”

(B2 =

"subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

[EERE]

“substantial shareholder”
[ A%

MTE Dn

B il

“Tencent”

KRR BRAH EFAREE0.00001 FTTH) L AR D
ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.00001 each

fEnEE A
holder(s) of the Share(s)

FORM  —XERSHESTMAINARIR  RATERZEETIS L
™ (AR 5% : SINA)

SINA Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with
limited liability and listed on the Nasdag Global Select Market (Stock
symbol: SINA)

¥R & MemeStar
SINA and MemeStar

ERMARHMARRNT]
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BB CRARHED) 1516 T 22 R0 K=
has the meaning ascribed to it thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance

BBECEMARADE T ZANEE

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

FEREERREBAERERNERAT - —KMN2007F2 A9BERBEK I
EEEP/NPERMEBZRAGEEN N - RHRITER837383

Shanghai TED Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (_E/& X{EEN#h B B AR %D
BBR/AF]), a company established in the PRC on 9 February 2007 and listed
on National Equities Exchange and Quotations with stock code 837383

BAZERAERLG  —XBEREHESLZFRABRFENAREELRF - H
AR AD PR S P =7 (ARt 5% - 700)

Tencent Holdings Limited, a limited liability company organised and existing
under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 700)
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[ AP

“Tianji Network”

(X% H ]

"Trading Day(s)”

[%E ]
“United States” or “US”

=]

“US dollars”, “U.S. dollars”,

"US$" or "USD"

[B8#]

“Vanke”

[SMEBERE]
"WFOE(s)"”

[AK%

“Zhou Parties”

[% ]

n%"

* RS

348 SE(FE)LEZRERAT

SR

&
s

e

EERARBERBERART - —KREPEVEREIMALHRR - AR
MEWBEENARAR - RARBERKBRETKA  AEERORED
PR ERIAEEEFBT0% K%30%

Shanghai Tianji Network Service Co., Ltd. (E/EREBERBAERA
A]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC and the target
of the Tianji Network Acquisition. Prior to the completion of the Tianji

Network Acquisition, the equity interests of Tianji Network is held by Tianji
Development and Tianji Management as to 70% and 30%, respectively

BMRMAATRS A IROSEMEFFAIEEE 2 B (M IR ATEE RN
EEWHEFEAKT 2 H)

a day when the Stock Exchange, is open for dealing business and on which
the Shares or other securities may be dealt in (other than a day on which
the Stock Exchange is scheduled to or closes prior to its regular closing
time)

ENREFRE - BIEEELT B ERIHIZEENEGHE
the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

XEMEEERET

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

SRREROERAR - —KAEPR BRI L RE T RRYBAFZ S L™
AT RIS EHRIES 5152202 &% 000002 7 A% AE 8 52 175 7 ST X
AARATEERRE

China Vanke Co., Ltd. (BRIEZERMABERAE]), a limited liability company
established in the PRC and listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange with stock codes 2202 and 000002, respectively, and
our substantial shareholder before completion of the Equity Transfer
Agreements

EEFORERE - EEMN Mt RER
Shanghai SINA Leju, Shanghai Yi Yue and Beijing Maiteng

Kanrich Holdings Limited * On Chance * Jun Heng * 5 /E 2 & E L4
Kanrich Holdings Limited, On Chance, Jun Heng, E-House Holdings and Mr.
Zhou

Bkt
per cent

*  For identification purposes only
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